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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report on Form 10-K containsviard-looking statements that involve substanti&ds and uncertainties. All statements, othel
than statements of historical facts, included ia #mnual report on Form 10-K regarding our stnatégture operations, future financial
position, future revenues, projected costs, praspetans and objectives of management are fonlaanking statements. The words
"anticipate,” "believe," "estimate," "expect,” "patial," "intend," "may," "plan," "predict,"” "prog," "will," "should," "would" and similar
expressions are intended to identify forward-logkétatements, although not all forward-lookingestants contain these identifying words.

The forward-looking statements in this aalmeport on Form 10-K include, among other thirgjatements about:

. the progress and results of our clinical trial®of drug candidates, including migalastat HCI,
. the continuation of our collaboration with Glaxo$imkiline PLC and GSK's achievement of milestone pewyts thereunder;
. the scope, progress, results and costs of preglid&velopment, laboratory testing and clinicalltrifor our product candidates

including those testing the use of pharmacologibaperones co-formulated and co-administered W Bnd for the treatment
of diseases of neurodegeneration;

. the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory @envof our product candidates;

. the number and development requirements of gitextuct candidates that we pursue;

. the costs of commercialization activities, inclugliproduct marketing, sales and distribution;

. the emergence of competing technologies and otherae market developments;

. the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting pasmplications and maintaining, enforcing and ddfieg intellectual property

related claims;
. the extent to which we acquire or invest in busiees products and technologies; and

. our ability to establish collaborations and dbtailestone, royalty or other payments from anghsoollaborators.

We may not actually achieve the plansnitit&is or expectations disclosed in our forwardklog statements, and you should not place
undue reliance on our forward-looking statementgudl results or events could differ materiallyrfréhe plans, intentions and expectations
disclosed in the forward-looking statements we m#ke have included important factors in the cawtigrstatements included in this annual
report on Form 10-K, particularly in Part I, IterA IRisk Factors" that we believe could cause aatesiilts or events to differ materially from
the forward-looking statements that we make. Ouwéod-looking statements do not reflect the potdritnpact of any future acquisitions,
mergers, dispositions, joint ventures, collaboregior investments we may make.

You should read this annual report on Faf¥K and the documents that we incorporate by eefe in this annual report on Form 10-K
completely and with the understanding that ouradtuture results may be materially different frerhat we expect. We do not assume any
obligation to update any forward-looking statements
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PART |
ltem 1. BUSINESS.
Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company focaseithe discovery, development and commercializatfosmall molecule drugs known as
pharmacological chaperones. We are developing paiogical chaperones as next-generation medifimesrange of rare and orphan
diseases, with a focus on improved therapies &wdgmal storage disorders. Our development progireshgle novel small molecules as
monotherapy treatments and in combination withctimeent standard of treatment for Fabry and oty@wdomal storage diseases, enzyme
replacement therapy (ERT). Our Chaperone-Advanagadgement Therapy, or CHART, programs include ehapes co-administered with
currently marketed ERTSs, as well as proprietaryapeutic enzymes co-formulated with our pharmadoldghaperones as next-generation
ERTs. We believe that our pharmacological chapeasieCHART platform technologies, our advanced pebgipeline, a strong balance st
and our strategic collaboration with GlaxoSmithi€liRLC (GSK) uniquely position us at the forefrohtleveloping therapies for rare and
orphan diseases.

In Fabry and other lysosomal storage disgasch as Pompe and Gaucher diseases, a mutatienspecific disease-causing gene can
lead to the production in the body of a mutant fafithe enzyme that is less stable than the nofonal, and that may be prematurely degra
before reaching the location in the cell whers inéeded. For patients with lysosomal storage sikseaho are receiving ERT, the infused
(exogenous) protein may unfold and lose activitgrat stage in the process—from the infusion bapedloodstream, to the eventual uptake
into cells and tissue. In both instances, the tésual loss of enzyme activity and disruption adger trafficking of the enzyme to lysosomes.
Our novel approach to the treatment of human gewéeases consists of using pharmacological chaperthat are designed to selectively
bind and stabilize either the endogenous or exagetarget proteins and facilitate trafficking te flocation in cells where these proteins are
needed.

We are developing our lead product cantidiamigalastat HCI for Fabry disease, in collaboratvith GSK as a monotherapy and in
combination with ERT. Current development withirr &abry program includes two monotherapy PhaseBajregistration studies for
patients with genetic mutations identified as an#o this pharmacological chaperone in a celedaassay (Study 011 and Study 012), a
recently completed Phase 2 study investigating iasgat HCI| co-administered with currently markeeRITs (Study 013), and the preclinical
development of migalastat HCI co-formulated witbraprietary investigational ERT.

In Study 011, we are comparing migalasiat té placebo to potentially support the submisgiba New Drug Application, or NDA, to
the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for tketing approval in the United States as well asther regulatory agencies. In December
2012, Amicus and GSK announced top-line six-moS8tiage 1) results from Study 011. While encouradingse results did not achieve
statistical significance (p=0.3) according to the-ppecified primary endpoint analysis. This resj@ranalysis compared the number of
patients in the migalastat HCI group to the nundigratients in the placebo group who showed a 50¢senter reduction in interstitial
capillary GL-3 in the kidney biopsies from baselinenonth 6. In the 6-month open-label follow upipe in Study 011 (Stage 2), all patients
received migalastat HCI. Data from Stage 2 arecgatied in the third quarter of 2013. A meetinghvitie FDA is anticipated in mid-2013 to
discuss a U.S. conditional approval pathway forataigtat HCI under subpart H.

In Study 012, we are comparing open-labigatastat HCI to current standard of care ERTs (&apme® and Replagal®) to support
global registration. In December 2012, this studyi@ved full enrollment of 60 patients, who weradamized 1.5:1 to switch from ERT to
migalastat HCI or remain
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on ERT. Data are anticipated in the second hat0d#4 on the primary outcome measure, which is remaition assessed by measured
Glomerular Filtration Rate (GFR) at 18 months.

Study 013 is an open-label Phase 2 drug-oiteraction study that evaluated the effects sihgle oral dose of migalastat HCI co-
administered with the currently marketed ERTSs fabfy disease (Fabrazyme® or Replagal®) in males Ratory disease. Results from this
study demonstrated consistent increase in levedstofea -Gal A activity, the enzyme deficient in Fabry jgatis, in plasma and increased
uptake ofa -Gal enzyme in skin compared to ERT alone.

We also continue to advance our pharmadacdbghaperone AT2220 (duvoglustat HCI) co-admenistl with the only approved ERTs
(Myozyme®/Lumizyme®) for Pompe disease. SimilaStady 013, the results from a completed Phasee?ysafhd PK study of AT2220 co-
administered with Myozyme®/Lumizymeg&howed an increase in GAA enzyme activity in plasmad muscle compared to ERT alone. GA,
the enzyme deficient in Pompe patients. Based esethesults, we expect to initiate a repeat-dasieal study of a novel intravenous
formulation of AT2220 (AT2220-1V) co-administeredtivMyozyme®/Lumizyme® in the third quarter of 2013

These clinical and preclinical co-admiration studies have laid the foundation for develgmur pharmacological chaperones co-
formulated with our own proprietary enzymes as fgetieration ERTs. We believe that these chaperabdizers have the potential to
enhance ERT activity and tissue uptake while algoificantly reducing the immunogenicity of the ERWith GSK, in collaboration with JC
Pharmaceutical Co Ltd, we are currently condugtireglinical formulation and IND-enabling studiesmigalastat HCI co-formulated with
JCR's proprietary investigational recombinant huma@Gal A enzyme (JR-051). We plan an IND submissmrtlfiis chaperone-ERT co-
formulated product by year-end 2013 for entry icitnic in early 2014. In addition, working with oaontract manufacturer Laureate
Pharmaceuticals, we have initiated developmenti#220 (duvoglustat HCI) co-formulated with our opwroprietary recombinant human (rh)
GAA enzyme as a next-generation ERT for Pompe desé&/e believe this approach has the potentiahpsave the properties of the rhGAA
enzyme itself while incorporating AT2220 as a smadllecule stabilizer to increase circulating expesand tissue uptake, and reduce
immunogenicity relative to currently marketed ER$accessful development of a more stable ERT nmsyeatable novel routes of delivery
such as subcutaneous administration.

We also plan to continue our commitmerthbroader application of the CHART technologwamtential next-generation treatment
approach for other lysosomal storage diseaseslii.ZDur preclinical studies include the pharmacicl@igchaperones AT3375 and afegostat
tartrate (AT2101) co-administered with ERT for Gaeicdisease, and new undisclosed pharmacologieglecbnes in combination with other
ERTSs. In addition, we continue our preclinical wookinvestigate AT3375, which targets the glucobessidase (GCase) enzyme in the brain,
as a potential treatment for Parkinson's disease

Although Fabry, Gaucher and Pompe areivelgtrare diseases, they represent substantialremgial markets due to the severity of the
symptoms and the chronic nature of the diseasespuiblicly+eported worldwide net product sales for the ealitently approved therapeut
to treat Fabry, Gaucher and Pompe disease werexapyately $2.7 billion in 2012.

Our Pharmacological Chaperone Technology

Amicus is leveraging its pharmacologicahgbrone technology to develop next-generationrtreats for human genetic diseases by
targeting mutated proteins that are unstable, defbbr misfolded. In the human body, proteins avelved in almost every aspect of cellular
function. Proteins are linear strings of amino adltht fold and twist into specific three-dimensibshapes in order to function properly.
Certain human diseases result from mutations #nade changes in the
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amino acid sequence of a protein, and these charfigesreduce protein stability and may preventrttieom folding properly.

Pharmacological chaperones are small miEsa@esigned to selectively bind to a target pnotieicrease its stability and help keep it
folded in the correct three-dimensional shape.ly8wsomal storage diseases, pharmacological chageare designed to bind to, and facilitat:
trafficking of, both endogenous and exogenous eesyto the location in cells where they are needlki. important feature has allowed
Amicus to develop pharmacological chaperones asotherapy agents (to be used without ERT) and ouARHplatform of pharmacological
chaperones in combination with ERT.

Pharmacological Chaperone Monotherapy

Many natural (endogenous) proteins are niattee endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and sent to opizets of the cell. Unstable, unfolded or
misfolded proteins are generally eliminated oriretd in the ER rather than being transported tarttended destination in the cell. The
accumulation of unfolded or misfolded proteinshie £ER and the interruption of trafficking of impamt proteins to their proper cellular
locations can cause several types of problemsdirgu

. complete or partial loss of appropriate proteinction,
. accumulation of lipids and other substances thatilshbe degraded, and
. disruption of cellular function and eventuall a#ath.

These defects may lead to various typédmiofan genetic diseases, including lysosomal statmgeders. As monotherapy agents for
lysosomal storage diseases, pharmacological chagerare designed to bind to and stabilize endogepiamiein (lysosomal enzyme) for proj
trafficking to the lysosome, which also alleviatks toxic build-up of mutant proteins in the ER.c®rin the lysosome, the pharmacological
chaperone disassociates and the enzyme is freed& down substrate. Based on this mechanism,ichdils with genetic mutations that result
in some residual biological activity are potentialigible for pharmacological chaperone monothgrap

CHART Technology Platform

ERT is the standard of care for severaldgsnal storage diseases, based on the intravemfoisgoin of recombinant or gene-activated
human enzyme. The enzyme is delivered into thecbiomrder to be taken up by cells and then trarisgdo the lysosome. Upon entering the
lysosome, this enzyme is intended to perform timetion of the absent or deficient endogenous enzjHowever, the pH in the infusion bag
and in blood is higher than the enzyme's naturidi@environment in the lysosome. As a result,ittiesed enzyme may rapidly unfold and |
activity and may be misdirected to non-target &ssar rapidly cleared from the body. Exposure ghtdoncentrations of infused enzymes can
impact efficacy or cause adverse effects.

Possible problems related to the unfoldihjpfused enzyme include:

. rapid clearance or modified biodistribution,

. immunogenicity,

. poor delivery and uptake of active enzyme into tkesues of disease, and
. reduced activity.

In our Chaperone Advanced Replacement Plye CHART, programs, each chaperone is desitméihd to and stabilize a specific
therapeutic enzyme. We believe this technology beagble to improve the stability, uptake and afstief the enzyme, and may lower
immunogenicity compared to
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currently marketed ERTs alone. This combinatiorraepph may benefit patients with lysosomal storageases, including patients with
inactive endogenous proteins who are not amenahikaperone monotherapy.

Migalastat HCI for Fabry Disease
Overview

Our most advanced product candidate, mstgti&lCl, is an investigational, small molecule pphacological chaperone for the treatmer
Fabry disease. Migalastat HCI is being developeazbltaboration with an affiliate of GSK pursuantan Amended and Restated License and
Expanded Collaboration Agreement (the "Expandeda@otation Agreement") entered into in July 2018.ak orally administered
monotherapy, migalastat HCl is designed to bindrnd stabilize, or "chaperone" a patient's own algdilactosidase A (alpha-Gal A) enzyme in
those patients with genetic mutations identifieua&nable to this chaperone in a cell-based aBsawll other Fabry patients, migalastat HCI
in combination with ERT may improve ERT outcomeskbgping infused -Gal A enzyme in its properly folded and activenfior

Under the terms of the Expanded Collaboredigreement, the Company and GSK are co-develadirigrmulations of migalastat HCI
for Fabry disease. The Company will commercialitenéggalastat HCI products for Fabry disease inltheted States while GSK will
commercialize all such products in the rest ofwloeld. For additional information regarding our ledloration with GSK, please see "Strategic
Alliances and Arrangements" below.

Clinical Studies of Migalastat HCI Monotherapy fembry Disease

Study 011 is a global Phase 3 study of fagjat HCI for Fabry disease to support marketipyjiaations for the FDA and other regulatory
agencies. Study 011 randomized 67 patients (24snaald 43 females) diagnosed with Fabry diseasehati@enetic mutations amenable to
chaperone monotherapy in a cell-based assay. Edi-thonth, double-blind primary treatment periohg® 1 patients were randomized to
migalastat HCI 150 mg or placebo on an every-ottasr{QOD) oral dosing schedule. During the periodif month 6 to month 12 of
Study 011 Stage 2, patients continued treatmeht migalastat HCI or switched from placebo to mig&aHCI.

The primary analysis compared the numbeegionders in the migalastat HCI versus placebopy, based on a 50% or greater reductio
in interstitial capillary globotriaosylceramide (&) during the 6-month, double-blind treatment periGL-3 is the lipid substrate that
accumulates in tissues of patients with Fabry diseand is measured in kidney biopsies. Seconaalyoints for Study 011 include safety and
tolerability, urine GL-3 and kidney function.

In the primary responder analysis, 13/324}%in the migalastat HCI group versus 9/32 (28%the placebo group demonstrated a 50% c
greater reduction in kidney interstitial capilla®y.-3 from baseline to month 6 which was not statagly significant (p=0.3). Taken alone a pre-
specified secondary analysis of the absolute peateange in kidney interstitial capillary GL-3 frdbaseline to month 6 showed a median
reduction of 41% in the migalastat HCI group verausedian reduction of 6% in the placebo group (@€8). Certain 6-month secondary
endpoints were presented in February 2013 anddedurine GL-3 and renal function as measured tijated glomerular filtration rate
(eGFR).

During Stage 1, no drug-related seriousesk events were observed. No subjects discontimigalastat HCI therapy due to a treatment
emergent adverse event and the majority of adwersets in both treatment groups were mild in nature
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In December 2012, the Stage 2 treatmembgein Study 011 were completed in a total of &fignts, who received an additional kidney
biopsy at month 12. The results from Stage 2 apeeed in the third quarter of 2013 and will in@utR-month data in the migalastat HCI
group and 6-month data in the placebo crossoverpgrbhe FDA has indicated that it will consider ft®2month efficacy and safety data from
Study 011 to support a potential U.S. conditiongdraval of migalastat HCl monotherapy.

Study 012 is our second Phase 3 studydetto support the worldwide registration of migédd HCI for Fabry disease. Study 012 is a
randomized, open-label 18-month Phase 3 study figegig the safety and efficacy of oral migalasiatl (150 mg, every-other-day)
compared to standard-of-care infused ERTs (Fabra®and Replagal®). The study enrolled a total opé&flents (males and females) with
Fabry disease and genetic mutations identifiedreenable to migalastat HC| monotherapy in a celedasssay. Subjects were randomized
1.5:1 to switch to migalastat HCI or remain on ERIl.subjects had been receiving ERT infusionsganinimum of 12 months (at least
3 months at the labeled dose) prior to enteringsthdy. The primary outcome measure is renal foncissessed by Glomerular Filtration Rate
(GFR) at 18 months, evaluated in the migalastat &@ ERT groups using descriptive statistics. Shigly achieved full enroliment in
December 2012 and top-line results are expectdttisecond half of 2014.

In February 2004, the FDA granted orpharmgdfesignation to migalastat HCI for the treatn@rifabry disease and in May 2006, the
EMA granted orphan medicinal product designatiamficgalastat HCI. In the United States, we intemdaek Accelerated Approval for
migalastat HCI according to Subpart H regulations.

Migalastat HCI-ERT Combination Programs for Fabry Bease

We have investigated the use of migala$@ltco-administered with currently marketed ERTal{ffazyme® and Replagal®) and are
currently developing migalastat HCI co-formulateidhva proprietary human recombinantGal A enzyme (JCR Pharmaceutical Co Ltd's JR-
051).

Phase 2 Chaperone-ERT Co-Administration Study gbMstat HCI for Fabry Disease

We and GSK recently completed an open-IBbelse 2 drug-drug interaction study in 23 malels ébry disease to evaluate the safety
and pharmacokinetic (PK) effects of two doses afatastat HCI (150 mg and 450 mg) co-administeret wirrently marketed ERTs infused
o -Gal A enzymes, Fabrazyme® (agalsidase beta) apth§d® (agalsidase alfa). Unlike Study 011 andi$@12, patients in Study 013 were
not required to have -Gal A mutations amenable to chaperone therapyusecavhen cadministered with ERT, migalastat HCI is designe
bind to and stabilize the recombinant enzyme inctrailation in any patient receiving ERT. Eachigatt received their current dose and
regimen of ERT at one infusion. A single oral dofenigalastat HCI (150 mg or 450 mg) was co-adnéméd two hours prior to the next
infusion of the same ERT at the same dose and eggiRreliminary results from Study 013 showed iased levels of active -Gal A enzyme
levels in plasma and increasedGal A enzyme in skin following co-administratioarapared to ERT alone. Based on the results from thi
study, the next chaperone-ERT combination study-&dory disease is being designed to investigataviehous treatment of migalastat HCI co-
formulated with JCR's proprietary recombinant humaal A enzyme (JR-051).

Preclinical Studies of Migalastat HCI Co-formulatedith ERT
We and GSK, in collaboration with JCR, emerently evaluating migalastat HCI co-formulateithaWJCR's proprietary investigational ERT
(JR-051, recombinant human-Gal A enzyme) in preclinical formulation and INDabling studies. This chaperone-ERT co-formulated

product has the potential to enter the clinic le42013 or early 2014. Preclinical studies complétedate suggest
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that this co-formulated chaperone-ERT product nrayigde greaten -Gal A enzyme uptake into tissue and markedly reddevels of GL3 in
Fabry disease-relevant tissues compared to JR10B&.a

Causes of Fabry Disease and Rationale for Use ofjdastat HCI

Fabry disease is a lysosomal storage disessilting from a deficiency im -GAL A. Symptoms can be severe and debilitatingluding
kidney failure and increased risk of heart attaott stroke. The deficiency of -Gal A in Fabry patients is caused by inheritedegien
mutations. Certain of these mutations cause changhs amino acid sequencewfGal A that may result in the productionafGal A with
reduced stability that does not fold into its cotriaree-dimensional shape. AlthoughGal A produced in patient cells often retains the
potential for some level of biological activity gleell's quality control mechanisms recognize atain misfoldedx -Gal A in the ER, until it is
ultimately moved to another part of the cell fogdedation and elimination. Consequently, littlenorx -Gal A moves to the lysosome, where it
normally breaks down GL-3. This leads to accumaiatf GL-3 in cells, which is believed to be thaisa of the symptoms of Fabry disease. |

addition, accumulation of the misfolded-Gal A enzyme in the ER may lead to stress on egltsinflammatory-like responses, which may
contribute to cellular dysfunction and disease.

Migalastat HCI monotherapy is designeddibas a pharmacological chaperonedofal A by selectively binding to the enzyme, which
increases its stability and helps the enzyme faid its correct three-dimensional shape. This Btaltion of a -Gal A allows the cell's quality
control mechanisms to recognize the enzyme as gyofodded so that trafficking of the enzyme to flgsosome is increased, enabling it to
carry out its intended biological function, the atsilism of GL-3.

Because migalastat HCI increases levetspatient's naturally produced-GAL, Fabry disease patients most likely to resptnd
treatment with migalastat HCI monotherapy are thoide a missense mutation or other genetic mutattbat result in production of -Gal A
that is less stable but with some residual enzyttigity. We estimate that approximately thirty ttiyf percent of patients with Fabry disease
may havex -Gal A mutations that are amenable to migalastdtd$G monotherapy. Patients with genetic mutatieading to a partially made
o -Gal A enzyme oo -Gal A enzyme with an irreversible loss of activae less likely to respond to treatment with magtdt HCI as a
monotherapy. However, we believe that all Fabryepds are potentially treatable with migalastat ifGCtombination with ERT.

The combination of migalastat HCl and ERHésigned to bind to and stabilize infused enziyno@rculation as patients receive ERT. We
believe migalastat HCI in combination with ERT nimyable to improve the stability, uptake and astiof the therapeutic enzyme, and may
lower immunogenicity compared to ERT alone. Thimbmation approach may benefit patients with inecgndogenous proteins who are not
amenable to chaperone monotherapy.

Fabry Disease Background

The clinical manifestations of Fabry diseapan a broad spectrum of severity and roughhelaie with a patient's residual-Gal A
levels. The majority of currently treated patieats referred to as classic Fabry disease patimoist, of whom are males. These patients
experience disease of various organs, includingitireeys, heart and brain, with disease symptorssdppearing in adolescence and typically
progressing in severity until death in the fourtHifth decade of life. A number of studies suggésit there are a large number of undiagnose
males and females that have a range of Fabry disyasptoms, such as impaired cardiac or renal immeind strokes, that usually first appear
in adulthood.

Individuals with this type of Fabry diseasferred to as later-onset Fabry disease, tehdyve higher residual -Gal A levels than classic
Fabry disease patients. Although the symptoms biiyFa
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disease span a spectrum of severity, it is usefdlassify patients as having classic or later-bRabry disease when discussing the disease a
the associated treatable population.

Classic Fabry Disease

Individuals with classic Fabry diseaseiarmost instances males. They have little or nedablea -Gal A levels and are the most
severely affected. These patients first experielieease symptoms in adolescence, including pairiiaglihg in the extremities, skin lesions, a
decreased ability to sweat and clouded eye lelfsii@se patients are not treated, their life exgecy is reduced and death usually occurs i
fourth or fifth decade of life from renal failureardiac dysfunction or stroke. Studies reportethénJournal of the American Medical
Association (January 1999) and The Metabolic andebldar Bases of Inherited Disease (8th edition12@diggest the annual incidence of
Fabry disease in newborn males is 1:40,000-1:60,00frent estimates from the University of lowa déimel National Kidney Foundation
suggest that there are a total of approximatel@G@assic Fabry disease patients worldwide.

Later-Onset Fabry Disease

Individuals with later-onset Fabry diseaaa be male or female. They typically first expecie disease symptoms in adulthood, and oftel
have disease symptoms focused on a single orgaexBmple, many males and females with later-oRabty disease have enlargement of thi
left ventricle of the heart. As the patients adwaimcage, the cardiac complications of the dispasgress and can lead to death. Studies
reported in Circulation and Journal of the Amerietaart Association (March 2002 and August 2004jesed that 6:2% of patients betwer
40 and 60 years of age with an unexplained enlaggéwnft the left ventricle of the heart, a conditieferred to as left ventricular hypertrophy,
have Fabry disease.

A number of males and females also hawz-lariset Fabry disease with disease symptoms fdarséhe kidney that progress to end stag
renal failure and eventually death. Studies replarieNephrology Dialysis Transplant (2003), Clidiead Experimental Nephrology (2005) ¢
Nephrology Clinical Practice (2005) estimate th&00%6 to 0.94% of patients on dialysis have Fabsgale

In addition, lateonset Fabry disease may also present in the fostraifes of unknown cause. A study reported in Ddrecet (Novembe
2005) found that approximately 4% of 721 male arddle patients in Germany between the ages of 4B with stroke of unknown cause
have Fabry disease.

It was previously believed to be rare femfle Fabry disease patients to develop overcalimanifestations of Fabry disease. Fabry
disease is known as an X-linked disease becausehbsteda -Gal A gene mutation is located only on the X chosome. Females inherit an
X chromosome from each parent and therefore caariirdn Fabry mutation from either parent. By cosifranales inherit an X chromosome (
potentially a Fabry mutation) only from their motkeFor this reason, there are expected to be hptgite as many females as males that
Fabry disease mutations. Several studies repartéteiJournal of Medical Genetics (2001), the maéMedicine Journal (2002) and the
Journal of Inherited Metabolic Disease (2001) repuat, while the majority of females with Fabrgease mutations have mild symptoms,
many have severe symptoms, including enlargemethiedift ventricle of the heart and/or renal feglu

Newborn screening studies in Italy, Taiveawl Austria, published in the American Journal afitdn Genetics (2006), Human Mutation
(2009) and the Lancet (2011) respectively, regat the incidence of Fabry mutations in newborre/ier ten times higher than previous
estimates for classic patients, Combined theseestisdreened over two-hundred and sixty-three traisewborns, and found the incidence o
Fabry mutations to be between 1:2,400 to 1: 385& figh incidence was attributed to a large nunaf@rewborn males with -Gal A
mutations often associated with later-
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onset Fabry disease, which may not have been fiehith previous screening studies that relied iagaosis based on development of
symptoms of classic Fabry disease.

Fabry Disease Market Opportunity

Fabry disease is a relatively rare disariibe current estimates of approximately 5,000epdsi worldwide are generally based on a small
number of studies in single ethnic populations ok people were screened for classic Fabry dis@dmeresults of these studies were
subsequently extrapolated to the broader world jadjpn assuming similar prevalence rates acrossilptipns. We believe these previously
reported studies did not account for the prevaleidater-onset Fabry disease and, as describeceabmumber of recent studies suggest that
the prevalence of Fabry disease could be many timgder than previously reported.

We expect that as awareness of later-dredaty disease grows, the number of patients diaghagth the disease will increase. Increased
awareness of all forms of Fabry disease, partigufar specialists not accustomed to treating Falisgase patients, may lead to increased
testing and diagnosis of patients with the disease

Based on published data from the Human Gautation Database and our experience in the figilpelieve the majority of the known
genetic mutations that cause Fabry disease aremsissnutations. There are few widelgeurring genetic mutations reported for Fabry ats
suggesting that the frequency of a specific gematitation reported in the Human Gene Mutation Dagelreflects the approximate frequency
of that mutation in the general Fabry patient papah. In addition, data from recent newborn sciggstudies published in the American
Journal of Human Genetics (2006), Human Mutatid@d®@ and the Lancet (2011) suggest that the vasirityaof newly diagnosed patients
with later-onset Fabry disease also have missensations. Because missense mutations often resldss stable, misfoldem-Gal A with
some residual enzyme activity, we believe patieritis these mutations may benefit from treatmenhwitonotherapy migalastat HCI. We also
believe that other types of genetic mutations nesylt in misfoldedr -Gal A and therefore may also respond to treatméthtmonotherapy
migalastat HCI. Based on this, we believe that exiprately thirty to fifty percent of the Fabry dise patient population may benefit from
treatment with migalastat HCI as a monotherapy. &l the entire Fabry disease patient populatianthe potential to benefit from
migalastat HCI in combination with ERT.

Existing Products for the Treatment of Fabry Disemsnd Potential Advantages of Migalastat HCI

Currently, two ERT products are approvedifie treatment of Fabry disease: Fabrazyme® (algals beta) and Replagal® (agalsidase
alfa). Fabrazyme® is approved globally (conditibpal the U.S.) and commercialized by sanofi avetiirough Genzyme Corporation, while
Replagal® is commercialized by Shire and approwettié EU and other countries but not in the U.han drug exclusivity for both
Fabrazyme® and Replagal® has expired in the EUf@anBabrazyme® , in the U.S. as well. The net pmdales of Fabrazyme® and
Replagal® for 2012 were approximately $375 millampublicly reported by sanofi aventis and $498ionilas publicly reported by Shire,
respectively.

Prior to the availability of ERT, treatmerfor Fabry disease were directed at amelioratyngpsoms without treating the underlying
disease. Some of these treatments include opatéspnvulsants, antipsychotics and antidepressamsntrol pain and other symptoms, and
beta-blockers, calcium channel blockers, ACE irtbitsi angiotensin receptor antagonists and othemtado treat blood pressure and vascular
disease.

For Fabry disease patients who respondgalastat HCI, we believe that the use of migatadtal may have advantages relative to the
use of Fabrazyme® and Replagal®. Published datpdients treated with Fabrazyme® and Replagal@®ésiods of up to five years
demonstrate that these drugs
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can lead to the reduction of GL-3 in multiple dgfpes in the skin, heart and kidney. However, bsedhey are large protein molecules,
Fabrazyme® and Replagal® are believed to havecdlffi penetrating some tissues and cell typesahtiqular, it is widely believed that
Fabrazyme® and Replagal® are unable to cross tweldbrain barrier and thus are unlikely to addteesneurological symptoms of Fabry
disease. As a small molecule therapy that has dsetmaded high oral bioavailability and good biodtstition properties in preclinical testing,
migalastat HCI has the potential to reach cellaliothe target tissues of Fabry disease. Furthezntoratment with Fabrazyme® and Replagal¢
requires intravenous infusions every other weaquently on-site at health care facilities, preisgran inconvenience to Fabry patients. Oral
treatment with migalastat HCI may be much more eoisnt for patients and may not have the safekg @ssociated with intravenous
infusions.

In addition, as discussed above, we belieaemigalastat HCI in combination with ERT maypimve key characteristics of the infused
enzymes used in ERT by allowing for increased partsof enzymes to the lysosomes and degradatisnladtrate, thereby potentially
increasing ERT's safety and efficacy. Importarigtients who may not have-Gal A mutations amendable to migalastat HCl| moahy
treatment may benefit from migalastat HCI in conaltion with ERT, making migalastat HCI potentiallyadlable to all Fabry patients.

CHART Programs for Pompe Disease
Phase 2 Chapero-ERT Co-Administration Study of AT2220 for PompseBse

We are also conducting clinical and precéihstudies examining our exclusively owned pharohagical chaperone AT2220 (duvoglustat
HCI) co-administered with currently marketed ERTigl &T2220 co-formulated with our own proprietary S&nzyme for Pompe disease. In
January 2013, we announced positive preliminanylit®@$rom all 4 dose cohorts in a Phase 2 openklamgti-center study (Study 010) that
evaluated the safety and pharmacokinetic (PK) &ffetthe pharmacological chaperone AT2220 (duvatghtHCI) co-administered with
Myozyme® or Lumizyme®4lglocosidase alfa. or recombinant human GAA enzytm8AA), the only approved treatments for Pomzedse
Male and female Pompe patients enrolled in Studywédre given a regularly scheduled ERT infusione @aur prior to the initiation of the
next ERT infusion, patients received a single doae of AT2220 (50 mg, 100 mg, 250 mg, or 600 mtgsma rhGAA activity and protein
levels were evaluated during each infusion. Eatlepaunderwent muscle biopsies three or seven dtigseach infusion to measure tissue
GAA enzyme activity with and without the chaperoag well as to measure the level of AT2220 in thiscte. The results from all 4 dose
cohorts established human proof-of-concept thadministration of AT2220 just prior to infusing ERTcreases GAA enzyme activity in
muscle tissue compared to ERT alone. Based on thesgks, we plan to initiate a repeat-dose clinstady to evaluate a novel intravenous
formulation of AT2220 (AT2220-1V) co-administeredtivMyozyme®/Lumizyme® in the third quarter of 2018T2220-1V when co-
administered with ERT will be designed to haveraproved pharmacokinetic (PK) profile compared tal éT2220 for all Pompe patients,
many of whom are unable to swallow an oral smalletle.

Preclinical Studies of AT2220 ~formulated with a Proprietary Amicus ERT

In February 2013, we presented data fromelprical studies of AT2220 co-formulated with rh@&&nzyme (Myozymc®/Lumizyme®fpr
the first time. These data showed that this chapeERT co-formulation resulted in up to 2.5-fol@ater enzyme uptake and glycogen
reduction in multiple disease-relevant tissues canegh to rhGAA alone in GAA knock-out mice. Collesy these data suggest that AT2220
directly binds to and stabilizes rhGAA, potentidiyading to a larger fraction of properly foldedtige enzyme that is more accessible for ti
uptake. AT2220 co-formulated with ERT may also gate Pompe ERT-related immunogenicity since prggeitied proteins are less prone
aggregation and less immunogenic.
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Following the completion of these preclalistudies, Amicus entered into a contract withrieate Pharmaceuticals for the contract
manufacture of AT2220 co-formulated with a prom@igtrhGAA enzyme as a next-generation ERT producPbmpe disease. Through this
approach Amicus believes it has the potential tprove the properties of the rhGAA enzyme itselflelimcorporating AT2220 as a small
molecule stabilizer to increase exposure and tispteke, and reduce immunogenicity relative toentty marketed ERTS.

Pompe Disease Background

Like Fabry disease, Pompe disease is adysal storage disease resulting from a deficien@nienzymeq -glucosidase (GAA). Signs
and symptoms of Pompe can be severe and debijjtatid include progressive muscle weakness throdgheuody, particularly the heart and
skeletal muscles. The enzyme deficiencies in Pgoagients are caused by inherited genetic mutati@edain of these mutations cause cha
in the amino acid sequence of the enzyme that msuitrin the production of an enzyme with redudedity that does not fold into its correct
three-dimensional shape. Although the enzymes pemtlin patient cells often retain the potentialdome level of biological activity, the cell's
guality control mechanisms recognize and retaimtisfolded enzyme in the ER until it is ultimatehpved to another part of the cell for
degradation and elimination. Consequently, litie@o GAA in Pompe patients moves to the lysosontererit normally breaks down its
substrate, a complex lipid called glycogen. Thileto accumulation of glycogen in cells, whichésieved to result in the clinical
manifestations of Pompe disease. Pompe diseasesfogn a rapidly fatal infantile form with sevarardiac involvement to a more slowly
progressive, later-onset form primarily affectikglgetal muscle. All forms are characterized by seveuscle weakness that worsens over time
In the rapid onset form, patients are usually diega shortly after birth and often experience gelarent of the heart and severe muscle
weakness. In later-onset Pompe disease, symptomaohappear until late childhood or adulthood patents often experience progressive
muscle weakness. According to reported estimatéiseoficid Maltase Deficiency Association, the Uditompe Foundation and the
Lysosomal Disease Program at Massachusetts Gethespltal, there are 5,000-10,000 patients with Poxlipease worldwide.

Strategic Alliances and Arrangements

On July 17, 2012, the Company enteredtimoExpanded Collaboration Agreement with an affliof GSK pursuant to which the
Company and GSK will continue to develop and conuiaéize migalastat HCI, currently in Phase 3 depaient for the treatment of Fabry
disease. The Expanded Collaboration Agreement asremdi replaces in its entirety the License andaBolation Agreement entered into
between the Company and GSK on October 28, 2080'Q@higinal Collaboration Agreement") for the desfainent and commercialization of
migalastat HCI. Under the terms of the Expandedabolation Agreement, the Company and GSK will esaldop all formulations of
migalastat HCI for Fabry disease, including theadepment of migalastat HCI co-formulated with JREQBe "Co-formulated Product”). The
Company will commercialize all migalastat HCI protiifor Fabry disease in the United States whil& @8l commercialize all such produc
in the rest of the world.

GSK is eligible to receive U.S. regulatapproval milestones totaling $20 million for migst HCI monotherapy and migalastat HCI for
co-administration with ERT, and additional regutsitapproval and product launch milestone paymenitdihg up to $35 million within seven
years following the launch of the -formulated Product. The Company will also be reslnle for certain pass-through milestone payments
and single-digit royalties on the net U.S. salethefCo-formulated Product that GSK must pay toira pparty. In addition, the Company is no
longer eligible to receive any milestones or raegalit would have been eligible to receive under@riginal Collaboration
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Agreement other than a $3.5 million clinical deyetent milestone achieved in the second quarte®0d2 2nd received in the third quarter of
2012,

The Company and GSK will continue to joyrfiind development costs for all formulations ofjalastat HCI in accordance with agreed
upon development plans pursuant to which the Compad GSK funded 25% and 75% of such costs, reispgtfor the monotherapy and
co-administration development of migalastat HClinyi2012 and will fund 40% and 60%, respectivaly2013 and beyond. Effective upon
entry into the Expanded Collaboration Agreemensicfor the development of the Co-formulated Prodoe also split 40% and 60% between
Amicus and GSK, respectively.

Additionally, simultaneous with entry inttee Expanded Collaboration Agreement, the Compandy@&SK entered into a Stock Purchase
Agreement pursuant to which GSK purchased appraeiyad.9 million shares of Amicus common stock arige of $6.30 per share. The total
value of this equity investment to the Companypigraximately $18.6 million. GSK purchased approxiaha6.9 million shares for an
aggregate investment of approximately $31 millioerwonnection with entry into the Original Collabtioa Agreement in 2010. As of
December 31, 2012, GSK's ownership position inGbmpany is 19.8%.

We will continue to evaluate other busindsgelopment opportunities as appropriate thatlshiareholder value and provide us with
access to the financial, technical, clinical anchowercial resources necessary to develop and mahleemacological chaperone therapeutics
and other technologies or products. We are exgqguitential collaborations, alliances and otheiinmss development opportunities on a
regular basis. These opportunities may includeatitpiisition of preclinical-stage, clinical-stagenearketed products so long as such
transactions are consistent with our strategic matevelop and provide therapies to patients djwiith rare and orphan diseases and support
our continued transformation from a developmergestzompany into a commercial biotechnology company.

Intellectual Property
Patents and Trade Secrets

Our success depends in part on our aldityaintain proprietary protection surrounding puduct candidates, technology and know-
how, to operate without infringing the proprietaights of others, and to prevent others from irfing our proprietary rights. Our policy is to
seek to protect our proprietary position by filidgS. and foreign patent applications related toppoprietary technology, including both new
inventions and improvements of existing technoldbgt are important to the development of our bessnunless this proprietary position
would be better protected using trade secrets patant strategy includes obtaining patent protactidhere possible, on compositions of
matter, methods of manufacture, methods of usebawtion therapies, dosing and administration regis) formulations, therapeutic
monitoring, screening methods and assays. We alg®n trade secrets, know-how, continuing techgicll innovation, in-licensing and
partnership opportunities to develop and maintainpsoprietary position. Lastly, we monitor thirdrties for activities that may infringe our
proprietary rights, as well as the progressiorhofitparty patent applications that may have themtal to create blocks to our products or
otherwise interfere with the development of ouribesss. We are aware, for example, of U.S. patantscorresponding international
counterparts, owned by third parties that contdimts related to treating protein misfolding. lfyaof these patents were to be asserted again:
us we do not believe that our proposed productddvoe found to infringe any valid claim of thesdgqrds. There is no assurance that a court
would find in our favor or that, if we choose oeaequired to seek a license, a license to anlyesiet patents would be available to us on
acceptable terms or at all.
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We own or license rights to several issp&iénts in the U.S., current member states of thefean Patent Convention and numerous
pending foreign applications, which are foreignmeuparts of many of our U.S. patents. We also onlicense rights to several pending U.S.
applications. Our patent portfolio includes pateartd patent applications with claims relating tadhmes of increasing deficient enzyme acti
to treat genetic diseases. The patent positionsfgalastat HCI, pharmacological chaperone and E&tfbination therapy, diseases of
neurodegeneration, afegostat tartrate and itsatesvincluding AT3375 for Gaucher disease and ADZaRvoglustat HCI) for Pompe disease
are described below and include both patents athpapplications we own or exclusively license:

. We have an exclusive license to six issued U.&mpathat cover use of migalastat HCI to treat disease, as well as
corresponding European, Japanese and Canadiangdtease exclusively licensed U.S. patents rejadtimigalastat HCI
expire in 2018 (not including the Hatch-Waxmangtatty extension, which is described below), while European, Japanese
and Canadian patents will expire in 2019 (not idiig the Supplemental Protection Certificates o€ @Rtensions, which are
described below). The patents include claims cogemethods of increasing the activity of and préwenthe degradation af -
GAL, and methods for the treatment of Fabry disesseg migalastat HCI. In addition, we own pendin. applications
directed to dosing regimens with migalastat HCliolhif granted, may result in patents that expir@027. Further, we own an
issued U.S. patent directed to synthetic stepsectk® the commercial process for preparing migatadsCl, which may result in
a patent that expires in 2026. We jointly own cssued U.S. patent covering a method of determiwimgther male Fabry
patients are likely to respond to treatment witlgaastat HCI which expires in 2027. Lastly, we hawe pending U.S.
application covering a method of determining whaciGal A mutations are likely to be amendable toapgrwith migalastat
HCI which, if granted, will expire in 2029. We hafiked, or plan to file, U.S. and foreign countenseof these applications,
where appropriate, by the applicable deadlines.

. We have an exclusive license to pending patenicgifuins covering the co-administration of migada$1Cl with ERT
(recombinantr -galactosidase A), afegostat tartrate with ERTdnalginant glucocerebrosidase) and AT2220 (duvodit$td)
with ERT(recombinant acid -glucosidase). These applications are pendingertfs., Europe, Canada, Brazil, China, Israel,
Japan and Mexico while the application in India isasied. If patents issue from these applicatiexgiration will be in 2024.
We also own a U.S. provisional patent applicatioveting specific doses and dosing regimens of ragat hydrochloride to
treat Fabry disease in combination with ERT (recimiaufit o -galactosidase A). Similarly, we own a U.S. prowsil patent
application that covers specific doses and dosggens of duvoglustat HCI to treat Pompe diseasembination with ERT
(recombinant acidt -glucosidase). If a patents issue from these agdics, expiration will be in 2032.

. As part of our License and Collaboration Agreemweitth GSK, we have licensed or sub-licensed to GBkifaour ex-US rights
in our patents and applications to the extentdhat patents and applications claim the use of lasgat HCIl as a monotherapy
co-administered with ERT.

. We own several US and foreign pending patenliegtppns which cover the use of pharmacologicapgrones to treat diseases
of neurodegeneration. In particular we own two ésspatents and two U.S. patent applications thatrciine use of afegostat
tartrate and/or its derivatives to treat Parkinsalisease as well as one patent application cayaomel compounds, including
AT3375, for the treatment of Parkinson's disease.0Wn another patent application covering the fiskeosame novel
compounds, including AT3375, for the treatment auGher disease as a monotherapy as well as in natign with ERT. If
patents issue from these applications expiratidgesdange from 2026 to 2030.
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. We have an exclusive license to several U.S. patantering the use of afegostat tartrate to treatoBer disease. These patents
expire in 2018 (not including the Hatch-Waxmangiaty extension, which is described below). Theeer ex-U.S.
counterparts to the exclusively licensed U.S. patemhich expire in 2018 in the U.S., covering afggt tartrate to treat Gaucl
disease. We also have an exclusive license to t8o patents claiming afegostat tartrate, the acfivamical moiety in afegostat
tartrate, which expire in 2015 and 2016 (not inolgdhe Hatch-Waxman statutory extension, whictléscribed below); and
corresponding patents in the UK, France, Swedemé@my, Switzerland and Japan all of which expirg0d5 (not including th
SPC extensions, which are described below). WeaWrS. patent and its corresponding foreign patemtsring afegostat
tartrate, which is the specific salt form or théivaepharmaceutical ingredient in afegostat tagtrathich expires in 2027. We
own several other pending U.S. applications dicttbethe synthesis of afegostat tartrate, as veedipeecific treatment and
monitoring regimens with afegostat tartrate whi€lgranted, will expire in 2028. We have filed,@an to file, foreign
counterparts of these applications, where appriapriey the applicable deadlines.

. We have an exclusive license to several U.S. patbat cover the use of AT2220 to treat Pompe diseBhese U.S. patents v
expire in 2018 (not including the Hatch-Waxmaniaty extension, which is described below). Theeero ex-U.S.
counterparts to the exclusively licensed U.S. patemhich expire in 2018 in the U.S., covering APR2o treat Pompe disease.

Individual patents extend for varying peisalepending on the effective date of filing of tfatent application or the date of patent
issuance, and the legal term of the patents icdh@atries in which they are obtained. Generallyepts issued in the U.S. are effective for:

. the longer of 17 years from the issue date or 20s/fom the earliest effective filing date, if thatent application was filed pr
to June 8, 1995; and

. 20 years from the earliest effective filing dafahe patent application was filed on or after J8n&995.

The term of foreign patents varies in adaoce with provisions of applicable local law, tygically is 20 years from the earliest effective
filing date.

The U.S. Drug Price Competition and Palesrm Restoration Act of 1984, more commonly knowrhe Hatch-Waxman Act, provides
for an extension of one patent, known as a Hatchwiéa statutory extension, for each NCE to comperfeaita portion of the time spent in
clinical development and regulatory review. Howetkee maximum extension is five years and the esxéencannot extend the patent beyond
14 years from New Drug Application (NDA) approvaimilar extensions are available in European céemitknown as SPC extensions, Japar
and other countries. However, we will not know wligany, extensions are available until a drugpgroved. In addition, in the U.S., under
provisions of the Best Pharmaceuticals for Chiltdréct, we may be entitled to an additional six thoperiod of patent protection Market
Exclusivity and Orphan Drug Exclusivity, for compiey pediatric clinical studies in response to adFABsued Pediatric Written Request before
said exclusivities expire.

The patent positions of companies like @resgenerally uncertain and involve complex letgadhnical, scientific and factual questions.
Our ability to maintain and solidify our propriegguosition for our technology will depend on oucsess in promptly filing patent applications
on new discoveries, and in obtaining effectiverakiand enforcing those claims once granted. Wesfepacial attention on filing patent
applications for formulations and delivery regimémsour products in development to further enhamaepatent exclusivity for those produr
We seek to protect our proprietary technology amdgsses, in part, by contracting with our emplsyeellaborators, scientific advisors
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and our commercial consultants to ensure thatmgnitions resulting from the relationship are dised promptly, maintained in confidence
until a patent application is filed and preferabiil publication of the patent application, andigaed to us or subject to a right to obtain a
license. We do not know whether any of our own piségplications or those patent applications thatiaensed to us will result in the issua
of any patents. Our issued patents and those témaisaue in the future, or those licensed to uy, beachallenged, narrowed, invalidated or
circumvented or be found to be invalid or unenfaide, which could limit our ability to stop comgetis from marketing related products and
reduce the term of patent protection that we maje fiar our products. Neither we nor our licensas be certain that we were the first to
invent the inventions claimed in our owned or liseth patents or patent applications. In addition,competitors may independently develop
similar technologies or duplicate any technologyaleped by us and the rights granted under angdpatents may not provide us with any
meaningful competitive advantages against theseetitars. Furthermore, because of the extensive teaquired for development, testing and
regulatory review of a potential product, it is pirée that any related patent may expire priorrtehmrtly after commencing commercializati
thereby reducing the advantage of the patent tdoosiness and products.

We may rely, in some circumstances, onetisetrets to protect our technology. However, temdeets are difficult to protect. We seek to
protect our trade secret technology and processesyt, by entering into confidentiality agreemewith commercial partners, collaborators,
employees, consultants, scientific advisors andrathntractors, and by contracting with our empésyand some of our commercial
consultants to ensure that any trade secrets irggsfldm such employment or consulting are ownedi®yWe also seek to preserve the inte
and confidentiality of our data and trade secrgtmhintaining physical security of our premises phgsical and electronic security of our
information technology systems. While we have atgtfice in these individuals, organizations and systagreements or security measures
may be breached, and we may not have adequate irsriedany breach. In addition, our trade searety otherwise become known or be
discovered independently by others. To the extaitdur consultants, contractors or collaboratsesintellectual property owned by others in
their work for us, disputes may arise as to thbtsign related or resulting know-how and inventions

License Agreements

We have acquired rights to develop and cemialize our product candidates through licensastgd by various parties. For information
regarding our migalastat HCI collaboration with GR#ease see "Strategic Alliances and ArrangemetitsVe. For our other license
agreements, the following summarizes our mateigaks and obligations under those licenses:

. Mt. Sinai School of Medicine— We have acquired exclusive worldwide patenttdgh develop and commercialize migalastat
HCI, afegostat tartrate and AT2220 and other phaohagical chaperones for the prevention or treatroéhuman diseases or
clinical conditions by increasing the activity ofldvtype and mutant enzymes pursuant to a licegseesnent with Mt. Sinai
School of Medicine (MSSM) of New York Universityn tonnection with this agreement, we issued 232sP@Bes of our
common stock to MSSM in April 2002. In October 200 issued MSSM an additional 133,333 shares wihcon stock and
made a payment of $1.0 million in consideratiomofexpanded field of use under that license. Utideragreement, to date we
have paid no upfront or annual license fees antiave no milestone or future payments other thaaltieg on net sales.
However, on October 31, 2008, we amended and eglsthis license agreement to, among other itenasjge us with the sole
right to control the prosecution of patent rightsler such agreement and to clarify the portiorogéities and milestone
payments we received from Shire that were payabld3SM. In connection therewith, we agreed to p&83W $2.6 million in
connection with the $50 million
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upfront payment that we received in November 200mfShire, our former collaborator, which was adiyeaccrued for at year-
end 2007, and an additional $2.6 million for thkes@ht to and control over the prosecution ofgpaitrights. In addition, we pe

MSSM $3 million of the $30 million upfront paymergceived from GSK in the fourth quarter of 2010isTégreement expires

upon expiration of the last of the licensed patagitts, which will be in 2019, subject to any paterm extension that may be

granted, or 2024 if we develop a product for coratiom therapy (pharmacological chaperone plus ERitl)a patent issues fr

the pending application covering the combinaticeraipy, subject to any patent term extension thatlmeegranted.

. University of Maryland, Baltimore County— We have acquired exclusive U.S. patent rightdeteelop and commercialize
afegostat tartrate for the treatment of Gaucheadis from the University of Maryland, Baltimore @ou Under this agreement,
to date we have paid aggregate upfront and anivealde fees of $45 thousand. We are required t@raakilestone payment
upon the demonstration of safety and efficacy efjaétat tartrate for the treatment of Gaucher dsé@aa Phase 2 study, and
another payment upon receiving FDA approval foga$tat tartrate for the treatment of Gaucher deséa& are also required to
pay royalties on net sales. Upon satisfaction ¢ lnailestones, we could be required to make ugta illion in aggregate
payments. This agreement expires upon expiratidheofast of the licensed patent rights in 2015.

. Novo Nordisk A/S— We have acquired exclusive patent rights to ligyand commercialize afegostat tartrate for athhin
indications. Under this agreement, to date we Ipave an aggregate of $0.4 million in license fés.are also required to make
milestone payments based on clinical progressegfastat tartrate, with a payment due after indgratif a Phase 3 clinical trial
for afegostat tartrate for the treatment of Gauclisgase and a payment due upon each filing fadatayy approval of afegostat
tartrate for the treatment of Gaucher diseaseymofithe U.S., Europe or Japan. An additional payn®due upon approval of
afegostat tartrate for the treatment of Gaucheadis in the U.S. and a payment is also due updnaggroval of afegostat
tartrate for the treatment of Gaucher diseasetlieedf Europe or Japan. Assuming successful dpusdat of afegostat tartrate
for the treatment of Gaucher disease in the U.&gje and Japan, total milestone payments wouf¥t&million. We are also
required to pay royalties on net sales. This lieansl terminate in 2016.

Under our license agreements, if we owelt@s on net sales for one of our products to nilwai@ one of the above licensors, then we
have the right to reduce the royalties owed tolmesmsor for royalties paid to another. The amafrbyalties to be offset is generally limited
in each license and can vary under each agreefemnmigalastat HCl and AT2220, we will owe royadtienly to MSSM and will owe no
milestone payments. We would expect to pay royatteall three licensors with respect to afegdstatate.

Our rights with respect to these agreemientgievelop and commercialize migalastat HCI, af¢afatartrate and AT2220 may terminate, in
whole or in part, if we fail to meet certain deyateent or commercialization requirements or if wendb meet our obligations to make royalty
payments.

Trademarks

In addition to our patents and trade ssckee own certain trademarks in the U.S. and/ovadrincluding A AMICUS
THERAPEUTICS® & design and AMICUS THERAPEUTICS®. ptesent, all of the U.S. trademark applicationgtiese marks have been
either registered or approved by the U.S. Pateshffaademark Office. Although we previously obtairsggproval of the tradename "Amigal",
we will re-apply for registration of a new traderafor migalastat HCI based on feedback from FDA
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prohibiting the use of Amigal for migalastat HCIs part of our License and Collaboration Agreemeittt @SK, GSK will select and own the
tradename for migalastat HCI.

Manufacturing

We continue to rely on contract manufaatite supply the active pharmaceutical ingredients clinical supplies for migalastat HCI and
our other product candidates. The active pharmaaungredients for these products are manufadturaler current good manufacturing
practices (cGMP), at kilogram scale initiated witimmercially available starting materials. The comgnts in the final formulation for each
product are commonly used in other encapsulatediugts and are well characterized ingredients. We raplemented appropriate controls
assuring the quality of both active pharmaceufrmgitedients and capsules. Product specificatiofidoeiestablished in concurrence with
regulatory bodies at the time of product registrati

Competition
Overview

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical imiesiare characterized by rapidly advancing teabgiek, intense competition and a strong
emphasis on proprietary products. In addition, ssgvarge pharmaceutical companies are increasiioglysed on developing therapies for the
treatment of rare diseases, both through orgaowtrand acquisitions and partnerships. While wibe that our technologies, knowledge,
experience and scientific resources, along withcmllaboration with GSK, provide us with competi#imdvantages, we face potential
competition from many different sources, includo@mmercial enterprises, academic institutions, gowent agencies and private and public
research institutions. Any product candidates wWesuccessfully develop and commercialize will cetepvith both existing and new therag
that may become available in the future.

Many of our competitors may have signifibagreater financial resources and expertise assmtwith research and development,
regulatory approvals and marketing approved pradUudiese competitors also compete with us in réieguand retaining qualified scientific
and management personnel, as well as in acquitighblogies complementary to, or necessary forpoagrams. Smaller or early stage
companies may also prove to be significant commatitparticularly through collaborative arrangemesith large and established companies.

Our commercial opportunities could be redtlior eliminated if our competitors develop and swrtialize products that are safer, more
effective, have fewer side effects, are more comrgror are less expensive than products that wedaeaelop. In addition, our ability to
compete may be affected because in some casesiigsurother third party payors seek to encourageise of generic products. This may |
the effect of making branded products less attradt buyers.

Major Competitors

Our major competitors include pharmaceltca biotechnology companies in the U.S. and abtbat have approved therapies or
therapies in development for lysosomal storagerdéess within our core programs. Other competitoespharmaceutical and biotechnology
companies that have approved therapies or therapEs/elopment for genetic diseases for which pla@ological chaperone technology may
be applicable. Additionally, we are aware of selveaaly-stage, niche pharmaceutical and biotectgyobmmpanies whose core business
revolves around protein misfolding; however, wemweaware that any of these companies is currendlking to develop products that would
directly compete with ours. The key competitivetfas affecting the success of our product candidate likely to be their efficacy, safety,
convenience and price.
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Any product candidates that we successfiglyelop and commercialize will compete with exigttherapies and new therapies that may
become available in the future. The following talidés our principal competitors and publicly agdile information on the status of their
product offerings (U.S. dollars in millions):

Competitor Indication Product Class of Product Status 2012 Sale:

(in millions)

sanofi aventis Fabry Fabrazyme® Enzyme Replaceme Marketec $ 37¢
diseast Therapy

Gaucher Cerezyme® Enzyme Replaceme Marketec $ 814
diseast Therapy

Pompe Myozyme®/ Enzyme Replaceme Marketec $ 594
diseast Lumizyme® Therapy

Gaucher Eliglustat Substrate Reductio  Phase 2 N/A
diseast tartrate Therapy

Shire Fabry Replagal® Enzyme Replaceme Marketec $ 49¢
diseast Therapy

Gaucher VPRIV® Enzyme Replaceme Marketec $ 307
diseast Therapy

Actelion, Ltd. Gaucher Zavesca® Substrate Reductio Marketec $ 90
diseast Therapy

Protalix Gaucher Elelyso® Enzyme Replaceme FDA N/A

Biotherapeutics disease Therapy Approval
May
2012

Government Regulation
FDA Approval Process

In the U.S., pharmaceutical products algesii to extensive regulation by the FDA. The FatEood, Drug, and Cosmetic Act and other
federal and state statutes and regulations, goaeraong other things, the research, developmetingesnanufacture, storage, recordkeeping,
approval, labeling, promotion and marketing, digttion, post-approval monitoring and reporting, png, and import and export of
pharmaceutical products. Failure to comply withlegple U.S. requirements may subject a comparaymariety of administrative or judicial
sanctions, such as FDA refusal to approve pendéngdrug applications (NDASs), warning letters, prodwecalls, product seizures, total or
partial suspension of production or distributiarjunctions, fines, civil penalties, litigation, gemment investigation and criminal prosecution.

Pharmaceutical product development in tt. typically involves nonclinical laboratory andimal tests, the submission to the FDA o
investigational new drug application (IND), whiclust become effective before clinical testing masnoeence, and adequate and well-
controlled clinical trials to establish the safatyd effectiveness of the drug for each indicatmmwhich FDA approval is sought. Satisfactiol
FDA pre-market approval requirements typically takeany years and the actual time required may saogtantially based upon the type,
complexity and novelty of the product or diseagechnical tests include laboratory evaluation odguct chemistry, formulation and toxicity,
as well as animal trials to assess the charadtershd potential safety and efficacy of the pradlibe conduct of the preclinical tests must
comply with federal regulations and requirementduding good laboratory practices. The resultsretfinical testing are submitted to the F
as part of an IND along with other information inding information about product chemistry, manufaog and controls and a proposed
clinical trial protocol. Long-term preclinical tastsuch as animal tests of reproductive toxicity earcinogenicity, may continue after the IND
is submitted.

A 30-day waiting period after the submissa$ an IND is required prior to the commencemdrtlinical testing in humans. The IND
becomes effective 30 days after its receipt byRDA, and trials may begin at that point unlesskB& notifies the sponsor that the
investigations are subject to a clinical hold.
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Clinical trials involve the administratior the investigational new drug to healthy volumsear patients under the supervision of a
qualified investigator. Clinical trials must be clutted in compliance with applicable governmentitatipns, good clinical practices (GCP), as
well as under protocols detailing the objectivetheftrial, the parameters to be used in monitosefgty and the effectiveness criteria to be
evaluated. Each protocol involving testing on Wp&ients and subsequent protocol amendments mssitioeitted to the FDA as part of the
IND.

The FDA may order the temporary or permadé&tontinuation of a clinical trial at any timeimpose other sanctions if it believes that
the clinical trial is not being conducted in acarde with FDA requirements or presents an unacbkptesk to the clinical trial patients. The
study protocol and informed consent informationgatients in clinical trials must also be submitteén institutional review board (IRB), for
approval. An IRB may also require the clinical taathe site to be halted, either temporarily empanently, for failure to comply with the
IRB's requirements, or may impose other conditions.

Clinical trials to support a new drug apation (NDA) for marketing approval are typicallgradlucted in three sequential phases, but the
phases may overlap. In Phase 1, the initial intctida of the drug into healthy human subjects digpds, the drug is tested to assess
metabolism, pharmacokinetics, pharmacological astiside effects associated with increasing daseésifapossible, early evidence on
effectiveness. Phase 2 usually involves trialsliméed patient population, to determine the efifeeness of the drug for a particular indication
or indications, dosage tolerance and optimum dosagkidentify common adverse effects and safefsrilf a compound demonstrates
evidence of effectiveness and an acceptable spfefife in Phase 2 evaluations, Phase 3 trialsiadertaken to obtain the additional
information about clinical efficacy and safety itaager number of patients, typically at geograptycdispersed clinical trial sites, to permit
FDA to evaluate the overall benefit-risk relatioipsbf the drug and to provide adequate informaf@rthe labeling of the drug.

After completion of the required clinicakting, an NDA is prepared and submitted to the FIEBA approval of the NDA is required
before marketing of the product may begin in th8.0'he NDA must include the results of all predaij clinical and other testing and a
compilation of data relating to the product's phaeoiogy, chemistry, manufacture, and controls. ddst of preparing and submitting an NDA
is substantial. Under federal law, the submissiomast NDAs is additionally subject to a substdrdjaplication user fee, and the holder of an
approved NDA is also subject to annual productestdblishment user fees. These fees are typicalhgased annually.

The FDA has 60 days from its receipt of@A\to determine whether the application will be gqgied for filing based on the agency's
threshold determination that it is sufficiently colete to permit substantive review. Once the subimisis accepted for filing, the FDA begins
an in-depth review. The FDA has agreed to certaifiopmance goals in the review of new drug applicet Most such applications for non-
priority drug products are reviewed within ten nftmtHowever, the FDA attempts to review a drug @atd that is eligible for priority review
within six months, as discussed below. The revieve@ss may be extended by FDA for three additiomaiths to evaluate major amendments
to information already provided in the initial suission. The FDA may also refer applications for @ladrug products or drug products which
present difficult questions of safety or efficaoyan advisory committee, typically a panel thatudes clinicians and other experts, for review,
evaluation and a recommendation as to whethergplication should be approved. The FDA is not bobpdhe recommendation of an
advisory committee, but it generally follows suelcammendations. Before approving an NDA, the FDAtypically inspect one or more
clinical sites to assure compliance with GCP. Addtlly, the FDA will inspect the facility or thadilities at which the drug is manufactured.
FDA will not approve the product unless compliaméth current good manufacturing practices is satiiry and the NDA contains data that
provide substantial evidence that the drug is aateeffective in the indication studied and to terkated.
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After FDA evaluates the NDA and the mantfaaog facilities, it issues an approval letteraotomplete response letter. Complete resp
letters outline the deficiencies in the submissiod may require substantial additional testinghforimation in order for the FDA to reconsider
the application. If and when those deficienciesehiawen addressed to the FDA's satisfaction in @ndment submitted to the NDA, the FDA
will issue an approval letter. FDA has committeddeiewing such resubmissions in 2 or 6 months deipg on the type of information
included.

An approval letter authorizes commerciathating of the drug with specific prescribing infioation for specific indications. As a
condition of NDA approval, the FDA may require stalpdial post-approval testing and surveillance tmitor the drug's safety or efficacy and
may impose other conditions, including labelingnieBons which can materially affect the potentisrket and profitability of the drug. Once
granted, product approvals may be withdrawn if cliemge with regulatory standards is not maintaioegroblems are identified following
initial marketing.

The Hatch-Waxman Act

In seeking approval for a drug through @\ applicants are required to list with the FDAckgatent with claims that cover the
applicant's product. Upon approval of a drug, ezfdhe patents listed in the application for theglis then published in the FDA's Approved
Drug Products with Therapeutic Equivalence Evabretj commonly known as the Orange Book. Drugsdistehe Orange Book can, in turn,
be cited by potential competitors in support ofrappl of an abbreviated new drug application (ANDAh ANDA provides for marketing of
drug product that has the same route of adminisiraactive ingredients strength and dosage forthadisted drug and has been shown
through bioequivalence testing to be therapeusiaduivalent to the listed drug. ANDA applicants aot required to conduct or submit results
of preclinical or clinical tests to prove the sgfet effectiveness of their drug product, othemtktze requirement for bioequivalence testing.
Drugs approved in this way are commonly referredsdgeneric equivalents" to the listed drug, aamd @ften be substituted by pharmacists
under prescriptions written for the original listexig.

The ANDA applicant is required to certifythe FDA concerning any patents listed for therapgd product in the FDA's Orange Book.
Specifically, the applicant must certify that: tfie required patent information has not been fi{@dthe listed patent has expired; (iii) the &idt
patent has not expired, but will expire on a patticdate and approval is sought after patent aetipir; or (iv) the listed patent is invalid or will
not be infringed by the new product. A certificatithhat the new product will not infringe the alrgagbproved product's listed patents or that
such patents are invalid is called a Paragraphitification. If the applicant does not challenge tisted patents, the ANDA application will not
be approved until all the listed patents claiming teferenced product have expired.

If the ANDA applicant has provided a Paggdr 4 certification to the FDA, the applicant mailso send notice of the Paragraph 4
certification to the NDA and patent holders onae ANDA has been accepted for filing by the FDA. ™MIRA and patent holders may then
initiate a patent infringement lawsuit in respotséhe notice of the Paragraph 4 certification. Tilveg of a patent infringement lawsuit within
45 days of the receipt of a Paragraph 4 certificatiutomatically prevents the FDA from approving ANDA until the earlier of 30 months,
expiration of the patent, settlement of the lawsuia decision in the infringement case that i®falsle to the ANDA applicant.

The ANDA application also will not be appeal until any non-patent exclusivity, such as esislity for obtaining approval of a new
chemical entity, listed in the Orange Book for therenced product has expired (New Chemical EMiyket Exclusivity). Federal law
provides a period of five years following approweéla drug containing no previously approved actingredients, during which ANDAs for
generic versions of those drugs cannot be submittézks the submission contains a Paragraph 4edgalito a listed patent, in which case the
submission may be made four
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years following the original product approval. Fedéaw provides for a period of three years oflesivity following approval of a listed dru
that contains previously approved active ingredidmit is approved in a new dosage form, route ofimidtration or combination, or for a new
use, the approval of which was required to be stpddy new clinical trials conducted by or for $gonsor, during which FDA cannot grant
effective approval of an ANDA based on that listiedg for the same new dosage form, route of adinéttisn or combination, or new use.

Other Regulatory Requirements

Once an NDA is approved, a product willsobject to certain post-approval requirements.ifigiance, FDA closely regulates the post-
approval marketing and promotion of drugs, inclgdétandards and regulations for direct-to-consuadgertising, communications regarding
unindicated uses, industry-sponsored scientificehttational activities and promotional activitiegolving the internet.

Drugs may be marketed only for the appraméitations and in accordance with the provisiofihe approved labeling. Changes to som
of the conditions established in an approved agptio, including changes in indications, labeliogmanufacturing processes or facilities,
require submission and FDA approval of a new NDAIDA supplement before the change can be implerdeAte NDA supplement for a
new indication typically requires clinical data din to that in the original application, and thBA- uses the same procedures and actions in
reviewing NDA supplements as it does in reviewirigAs.

Adverse event reporting and submissionesigalic reports is required following FDA approwdlan NDA. The FDA also may require
post-marketing testing, known as Phase 4 testisigevaluation and mitigation strategies and sllarge to monitor the effects of an approvec
product, or place conditions on an approval thatdoestrict the distribution or use of the produntaddition, quality control as well as drug
manufacture, packaging, and labeling procedures omntinue to conform to current good manufactupnactices, or cGMPs, after approval.
Drug manufacturers and certainsubcontractors apgresl to register their establishments with FDA aertain state agencies, and are subject
to routine inspections by the FDA during which #ggency inspects manufacturing facilities to accesspliance with cGMPs. Accordingly,
manufacturers must continue to expend time, mondyeffort in the areas of production and qualityteol to maintain compliance with
cGMPs. Regulatory authorities may withdraw prodamprovals or request product recalls if a compaiilg fo comply with regulatory
standards, if it encounters problems followingi@itmarketing, or if previously unrecognized prahkeare subsequently discovered.

Orphan Drugs

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may giamphan drug designation to drugs intended td tieare disease or condition, which is
generally a disease or condition that affects fetwan 200,000 individuals in the U.S. Orphan dragighation must be requested before
submitting an NDA. After the FDA grants orphan ddagignation, the generic identity of the drug asgotential orphan use are disclosed
publicly by the FDA. Orphan drug designation doesaonvey any advantage in or shorten the duratighe regulatory review and approval
process. The first NDA applicant with FDA orphamiglidesignation for a particular active ingredientdceive FDA approval of the designatec
drug for the disease indication for which it hashsdesignation, is entitled to a seven-year exatusiarketing period (Orphan Drug
Exclusivity) in the U.S. for that product, for thatlication. During the seven-year period, the FRAy not finally approve any other
applications to market the same drug for the saiseade, except in limited circumstances, suchsh®wing of clinical superiority to the
product with orphan drug exclusivity or if the Iiee holder cannot supply sufficient quantitieshef product. Orphan drug exclusivity does nof
prevent FDA from approving a different drug for eme disease or condition, or the same drug diffexent disease or condition. Among
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the other benefits of orphan drug designation axectedits for certain research and a waiver oNB& application user fee for the orphan
indication.

Pediatric Information

Under the Pediatric Research Equity AQ@d7 (PREA), NDAs or supplements to NDAs must contiata to assess the safety and
effectiveness of the drug for the claimed indicasiin all relevant pediatric subpopulations andupport dosing and administration for each
pediatric subpopulation for which the drug is safid effective. The FDA may grant deferrals for sigsion of data or full or partial waivers.
Unless otherwise required by regulation, PREA dassapply to any drug for an indication for whictpban designation has been granted.

Fast Track Designation

Under the fast track program, the spon$andND may request FDA to designate the drug hatd as a fast track drug if it is intende:
treat a serious condition and fulfill an unmet noatineed. FDA must determine if the drug candidatgifies for fast track designation within
60 days of receipt of the sponsor's request. Ok dresignates a drug as a fast track candidaeréquired to facilitate the development and
expedite the review of that drug by providing mivezgiuent communication with and guidance to thenspa

In addition to other benefits such as thiditg to use surrogate endpoints and have greateractions with FDA, FDA may initiate review
of sections of a fast track drug's NDA before thpl@ation is complete. This rolling review is akedile if the applicant provides and FDA
approves a schedule for the submission of the r@ntainformation and the applicant pays applicalder fees. However, FDA's time period
goal for reviewing an application does not begitiluhe last section of the NDA is submitted. Adalitally, the fast track designation may be
withdrawn by FDA if FDA believes that the desigoatis no longer supported by data emerging in linécal trial process.

Priority Review

Under FDA policies, a drug candidate igiéle for priority review, or review within six-mains from filing for a New Molecular Entity
(NME) or six months from submission for a non-NMEi& drug candidate provides a significant improgehtompared to marketed drugs in
the treatment, diagnosis or prevention of a diseadast track designated drug candidate wouldradly meet FDA's criteria for priority
review. The FDA makes its determination of priodtystandard review during the 60-day filing perater an initial NDA submission.

Accelerated Approval

Under FDA's accelerated approval regulati&ibA may approve a drug for a serious or life#tening illness that provides meaningful
therapeutic benefit to patients over existing treatts based upon a surrogate endpoint that isrellsolikely to predict clinical benefit. In
clinical trials, a surrogate endpoint is a measmnof laboratory or clinical signs of a diseaseandition that substitutes for a direct
measurement of how a patient feels, functionsupriges. Surrogate endpoints can often be measuoed easily or more rapidly than clinical
endpoints. A drug candidate approved on this basiabject to rigorous post-marketing complian@gireements, including the completion of
Phase 4 or post-approval clinical trials to conftima effect on the clinical endpoint. Failure taxdact required post-approval studies, or
confirm a clinical benefit during post-marketingdies, will allow FDA to withdraw the drug from timearket on an expedited basis. All
promotional materials for drug candidates appravweder accelerated regulations are subject to peigew by FDA.
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Section 505(b)(2) New Drug Applications

Most drug products obtain FDA marketing rappl pursuant to an NDA or an ANDA. A third altative is a special type of NDA,
commonly referred to as a Section 505(b)(2) NDAichtenables the applicant to rely, in part, onghtety and efficacy data of an existing
product, or published literature, in support ofafgplication.

505(b)(2) NDAs often provide an alternasthpto FDA approval for new or improved formulatoor new uses of previously approved
products. Section 505(b)(2) permits the submissican NDA where at least some of the informatioruiesd for approval comes from studies
not conducted by or for the applicant and for whiod applicant has not obtained a right of refeeefitie applicant may rely upon certain
preclinical or clinical studies conducted for apagved product. The FDA may also require compattgserform additional studies or
measurements to support the change from the appprreeluct. The FDA may then approve the new prodactidate for all or some of the
label indications for which the referenced prochas been approved, as well as for any new inditadaught by the Section 505(b)(2)
applicant.

To the extent that the Section 505(b)(Pliapnt is relying on studies conducted for anadyeapproved product, the applicant is requirec
to certify to the FDA concerning any patents listeidthe approved product in the Orange Book tostirme extent that an ANDA applicant
would. Thus approval of a 505(b)(2) NDA can belsthuntil all the listed patents claiming the refeced product have expired, until any non-
patent exclusivity, such as exclusivity for obtamiapproval of a new chemical entity, listed in @mnge Book for the referenced product has
expired, and, in the case of a Paragraph 4 cattiific and subsequent patent infringement suit| thriearlier of 30 months, settlement of the
lawsuit or a decision in the infringement case thdavorable to the Section 505(b)(2) applicant.

Anti-Kickback, False Claims Laws & The Prescriptidbrug Marketing Act

In addition to FDA restrictions on marketiaf pharmaceutical products, several other typasate and federal laws have been applied tc
restrict certain marketing practices in the phamugical industry in recent years. These laws ineladti-kickback statutes and false claims
statutes. The federal healthcare program anti-kicklstatute prohibits, among other things, knowiragid willfully offering, paying, soliciting
or receiving remuneration to induce or in returngarchasing, leasing, ordering or arranging ferplarchase, lease or order of any healthcare
item or service reimbursable under Medicare, Mddioa other federally financed healthcare prograniiss statute has been interpreted to
apply to arrangements between pharmaceutical metouéss on the one hand and prescribers, purchasdrrmulary managers on the other.
Violations of the anti-kickback statute are puntdeaby imprisonment, criminal fines, civil monetgrgnalties and exclusion from participation
in federal healthcare programs. Although theresamember of statutory exemptions and regulatorg bafbors protecting certain common
activities from prosecution or other regulatory ctéoms, the exemptions and safe harbors are dranowly, and practices that involve
remuneration intended to induce prescribing, pusehar recommendations may be subject to scrdtthgy do not qualify for an exemption
or safe harbor.

Federal false claims laws prohibit any parBom knowingly presenting, or causing to be presd, a false claim for payment to the
federal government, or knowingly making, or caudimpe made, a false statement to have a falsa gaid. Recently, several pharmaceutical
and other healthcare companies have been prosamuded these laws for allegedly inflating drug pacthey report to pricing services, which
in turn were used by the government to set MediaatkMedicaid reimbursement rates, and for allggpdividing free product to customers
with the expectation that the customers wouldfbileral programs for the product. In addition, @iermarketing practices, including off-label
promotion, may also violate false claims laws. Tiegority of states also have
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statutes or regulations similar to the federal-&ittkback law and false claims laws, which applytémns and services reimbursed under
Medicaid and other state programs, or, in seveatds, apply regardless of the payor.

Physician Drug Samples

As part of the sales and marketing progaisarmaceutical companies frequently provide sasngl@pproved drugs to physicians. The
Prescription Drug Marketing Act (the PDMA) impogesjuirements and limitations upon the provisionliefg samples to physicians, as wel
prohibits states from licensing distributors of gmeéption drugs unless the state licensing prograets certain federal guidelines that include
minimum standards for storage, handling and rekegping. In addition, the PDMA sets forth civil aciiiminal penalties for violations.

Regulation Outside the U.S.

In addition to regulations in the U.S., wil be subject to a variety of regulations in atlgrisdictions governing clinical studies and
commercial sales and distribution of our produktsst countries outside the U.S. require that clihtdal applications be submitted to and
approved by the local regulatory authority for ealihical study. In addition, whether or not we abtFDA approval for a product, we must
obtain approval of a product by the comparable letgry authorities of countries outside the U.Sobewe can commence clinical studies or
marketing of the product in those countries. Thgragal process varies from country to country, #edtime may be longer or shorter than
required for FDA approval.

To obtain regulatory approval of a drug @nHU regulatory systems, we may submit marketirthaizations either under a centralizec
decentralized procedure. The centralized procedhizh is compulsory for medicines produced byaiarbiotechnological processes and
optional for those which are highly innovative, yirtes for the grant of a single marketing authdrarathat is valid for all EU member states.
The decentralized procedure provides for approyalr® or more other, or concerned, member statea asessment of an application
performed by one member state, known as the refensrember state. Under this procedure, an applétdrhits an application, or dossier, i
related materials including a draft summary of piciccharacteristics, and draft labeling and packegfet, to the reference member state and
concerned member states. The reference membepstgi@res a draft assessment and drafts of thedelsaterials within 120 days after
receipt of a valid application. Within 90 days eteiving the reference member state's assessnpemt,reach concerned member state must
decide whether to approve the assessment reporetaidd materials. If a member state cannot agptioe assessment report and related
materials on the grounds of potential serioustasthe public health, the disputed points may evalhyt be referred to the European
Commission, whose decision is binding on all mensbates.

We have obtained an orphan medicinal prodesignation in the EU from the EEA for migalast&l for the treatment of Fabry disease
and for afegostat tartrate for the treatment ofdhau disease. We anticipate filing for orphan miedicproduct designation from the EMA for
AT2220 for the treatment of Pompe disease. The Kjvihts orphan drug designation to promote the deweént of products that may offer
therapeutic benefits for life-threatening or choatly debilitating conditions affecting not morethfive in 10,000 people in the EU. In
addition, orphan drug designation can be grantdteitdrug is intended for a life threatening, saslg debilitating or serious and chronic
condition in the EU and that without incentivessiunlikely that sales of the drug in the EU wobklsufficient to justify developing the drug.
Orphan drug designation is only available if thisrao other satisfactory method approved in theoEtiagnosing, preventing or treating the
condition, or if such a method exists, the propasgthan drug will be of significant benefit to patts.
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Orphan drug designation provides opporiemitor fee reductions for protocol assistanceauwkss to the centralized regulatory
procedures before and during the first year aftereting approval, which reductions are not limitedhe first year after marketing approval
for small and medium enterprises. In addition, fraduct which has an orphan drug designation sulestly receives EMA marketing
approval for the indication for which it has suasignation, the product is entitled to orphan d¥agusivity, which means the EMA may not
approve any other application to market the samg tbr the same indication for a period of ten gedhe exclusivity period may be reduced
to six years if the designation criteria are naglenmet, including where it is shown that the prids sufficiently profitable not to justify
maintenance of market exclusivity. Competitors megeive marketing approval of different drugs aldgics for the indications for which the
orphan product has exclusivity. In order to dorsmyever, they must demonstrate that the new dru@®lmgics provide a significant benefit
over the existing orphan product. This demonstnatibsignificant benefit may be done at the timéndfal approval or in post-approval
studies, depending on the type of marketing authtian granted.

Pharmaceutical Pricing and Reimbursement

In the U.S. and markets in other countisedgs of any products for which we receive regujahpproval for commercial sale will depend
in part on the availability of reimbursement frohirdl party payors. Third party payors include goweent health administrative authorities,
managed care providers, private health insurers#ret organizations. These third party payorsramesasingly challenging the price and
examining the cost-effectiveness of medical proslacid services. In addition, significant uncertaetists as to the reimbursement status of
newly approved healthcare product candidates. Wermead to conduct expensive pharmacoeconomic studigrder to demonstrate the cost-
effectiveness of our products. Our product canéslatay not be considered cost-effective. Adeqimate party reimbursement may not be
available to enable us to maintain price levelfigeht to realize an appropriate return on ourestment in product development.

In 2003, the U.S. government enacted latitsi providing a partial prescription drug benédit Medicare recipients that began in 2006.
Government payment for some of the costs of pnesen drugs may increase demand for any productwffiicch we receive marketing
approval. However, to obtain payments under thigjiam, we would be required to sell products to et recipients through managed care
organizations and other health care delivery systeperating pursuant to this legislation. Thesawimations would negotiate prices for our
products, which are likely to be lower than we ntigtherwise obtain. Federal, state and local gawemts in the U.S. continue to consider
legislation to limit the growth of healthcare costeluding the cost of prescription drugs. Futlegislation could limit payments for
pharmaceuticals such as the drug candidates thatewgeveloping.

The marketability of any products for whielk receive regulatory approval for commercial sadgy suffer if the government and third
party payors fail to provide adequate coverageraimbursement. In addition, an increasing empl@sisianaged care in the U.S. has
increased and will continue to increase the pressarpharmaceutical pricing.

Employees

As of December 31, 2012, we had 112 tinlle employees, 81 of whom were primarily engagedsearch and development activities
31 of whom provide administrative services. A t@BBO employees have an M.D. or Ph.D. degree. NMéoeir employees are represented
labor union. We have not experienced any work sigpp and consider our employee relations to be.good
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Our Corporate Information

We were incorporated under the laws ofStege of Delaware on February 4, 2002. Our prin@gacutive offices are located at 1 Cedar
Brook Drive, Cranbury, NJ 08512 and our telephomelper is (609) 662-2000. Our website addressag,.amicusrx.comWe make available
free of charge on our website our annual, quartanly current reports, including amendments to sepbrts, as soon as reasonably practicabl
after we electronically file such material with,farnish such material to, the U.S. Securities BRchange Commission.

Information relating to corporate goverraat Amicus Therapeutics, including our Code ofiBess Conduct for Employees, Executive
Officers and Directors, Corporate Governance Guids| and information concerning our senior managgrteam, Board of Directors,
including Board Committees and Committee chartemd, transactions in our securities by directorsex@tutive officers, is available on our
website atvww.amicusrx.comnder the "Investors -€orporate Governance" caption and in print to dogldolder upon request. Any waiv:
or material amendments to the Code will be postechptly on our website.

We have filed applications to register aertrademarks in the U.S. and abroad, includingMiCUS THERAPEUTICS® and design and
AMICUS THERAPETUICS®. Fabrazyme®, Cerezyme®, Myoa@, Lumizyme®, Replagal® , VPRIV® and Zavesca® e property of
their respective owners.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The occurrence of any of the following risks cdudaim our business, financial condition, result®pérations and/or growth prospects.
In that case, the trading price of our common stoalkld decline, and you may lose all or part of yimvestment. You should understand thi
is not possible to predict or identify all suchkss Consequently, you should not consider theviiitig to be a complete discussion of all
potential risks or uncertaintie:

Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Need foAdditional Capital

We have incurred significant operating losses sirmdr inception. We currently do not, and since irgt@n never have had, any
products available for commercial sale. We expextrtcur operating losses for the foreseeable futumed may never achieve or
maintain profitability.

Since inception, we have incurred signiftcaperating losses. Our cumulative net loss attaible to common stockholders since inceptio
was $339.1 million and we had an accumulated deffc$318.9 million as of December 31, 2012. Teedate have financed our operations
primarily through private placements of our redeblma@onvertible preferred stock, proceeds fromioitial public offering, the March 2010
registered direct offering, the March 2012 stodieiag and from our collaboration agreement withkGhd prior collaboration agreement v
Shire. We have devoted substantially all of ouor$fto research and development, including outlimieal development activities and clinical
trials. We have not completed development of angslrWe expect to continue to incur significant arleasing operating losses for at least
the next several years and we are unable to prigiaxtent of any future losses as we:

. continue our ongoing Phase 3 clinical trials of atégtat HCI for the treatment of Fabry diseaseaifipsrt regulatory approval in
the United States (Study 011) and worldwide (StD@g);

. continue our ongoing Phase 2 clinical trial of niégéat HCI coadministered with ERT for Fabry disease and ousPl2aclinica
trial of AT2220 co-administered with ERT for Ponlisease;
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. continue our preclinical studies on the use of ptaological chaperones co-formulated and co-adteired with ERT for
Fabry, Pompe and other lysosomal storage diseases;

. continue the research and development of additipreaduct candidates;
. seek regulatory approvals for our product caatdigl that successfully complete clinical trials] an
. establish a sales and marketing infrastructu@mmercialize products for which we may obtagutatory approval.

To become and remain profitable, we mustsed in developing and commercializing drugs witimificant market potential. This will
require us to be successful in a range of chaliengctivities, including the discovery of produandidates, successful completion of
preclinical testing and clinical trials of our prext candidates, obtaining regulatory approval iesse product candidates and manufacturing,
marketing and selling those products for which waymbtain regulatory approval. We are only in theipinary stages of these activities. We
may never succeed in these activities and may rgamegrate revenues that are large enough to agbiefieability. Even if we do achieve
profitability, we may not be able to sustain orrgase profitability on a quarterly or annual ba8isr failure to become or remain profitable
could depress the market price of our common shmeckcould impair our ability to raise capital, emgaur business, diversify our product
offerings or continue our operations.

We will need substantial funding and may be unalteraise capital when needed, which would forcetaglelay, reduce or eliminate
our product development programs or commercialipatiefforts.

We expect to continue to incur substaméabarch and development expenses in connectibrowitongoing activities, particularly as we
continue our Phase 3 development of migalastat A@ther, subject to obtaining regulatory appraxfany of our product candidates
including migalastat HCI, we expect to incur signaht commercialization expenses for product satesmarketing, securing commercial
quantities of product from our manufacturers aratlpct distribution. While research and developnmuests associated with our migalastat |
program will be shared with GSK so long as ouratmdiration continues, we remain responsible foc@sts related to our other programs.

Should GSK terminate our collaboration agnent, we would likely need to seek additional fagdn order to complete any clinical trials
related to migalastat HCI, seek regulatory app®wéimigalastat HCI, and launch the product cartdidatside of the United States and
continue our other clinical and preclinical progsear@apital may not be available when needed onsténat are acceptable to us, or at all,
especially in light of the current challenging egoric environment. If adequate funds are not avilébus on a timely basis, we may be
required to reduce or eliminate research developmpr@grams or commercial efforts.

Our future capital requirements will dep@mdmany factors, including:

. the progress and results of our clinical trialsnadalastat HCI;
. the continuation of our collaboration agreemeitlh GSK and GSK's achievement of milestone paym#rreunder;
. the scope, progress, results and costs of prealidevelopment, laboratory testing and clintcials for our other product

candidates including those testing the use of pheomgical chaperones co-formulated and co-adnairégtwith ERT and for
the treatment of diseases of neurodegeneration;

. the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory revidwur product candidates;

. the number and development requirements of otleetuymt candidates that we pursue;

27-




Table of Contents

. the costs of commercialization activities, inclugliproduct marketing, sales and distribution;
. the emergence of competing technologies and otharae market developments;
. the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting pasmplications and maintaining, enforcing and ddfieg intellectual property

related claims;
. the extent to which we acquire or invest in hasses, products or technologies; and

. our ability to establish additional collaboratoand obtain milestone, royalty or other paymé&ots any such collaborators.
Any capital that we obtain may not be on terms feafole to us or our stockholders or may require usrelinquish valuable rights.

Until such time, if ever, as we generatedpict revenue to finance our operations, we exXjpefthance our cash needs through public or
private equity offerings and debt financings, cogbe collaboration and licensing arrangements aantg from patient advocacy groups,
foundations and government agencies. If we aretabigise capital by issuing equity securities, stockholders will experience dilution. In
addition, stockholders may experience dilutiorhd holders of the warrants issued in connectioh waitr March 2010 offering continue to
exercise their warrants. Debt financing, if avdiglmay involve agreements that include covenamiisihg or restricting our ability to take
specific actions, such as incurring additional detaking capital expenditures or declaring divideadd may include rights that are senior to
the holders of our common stock. Each of our curi@an and security agreements with Silicon Vaank includes a covenant whereby we
must maintain a minimum amount of liquidity measuag¢ the end of each month where unrestricted casih, equivalents and marketable
securities is greater than $20 million plus outdtag debt due to Silicon Valley Bank. Any debt fiméng or additional equity that we raise n
contain terms, such as liquidation and other pegfegs, which are not favorable to us or our stolcldre. If we raise capital through additional
collaboration and licensing arrangements with tpiadties, it may be necessary to relinquish vakiaights to our technologies, future revenue
streams, research programs or product candidatesgoant licenses on terms that may not be faver@bus or our stockholders.

We may acquire other assets or businesses, or fooffaborations or make investments in other compasior technologies, that
could harm our operating results, dilute our stoc&lders' ownership, increase our debt or cause usntcur significant expense.

As part of our business strategy, we magyoelacquisitions of assets or businesses, oegttadlliances and collaborations, to expand ou
existing technologies and operations. We may ratifly or complete these transactions in a timefnner, on a cost-effective basis, or at all,
and we may not realize the anticipated benefi@ngfsuch transaction, any of which could have @rdental effect on our financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows. We have pemence with acquiring other companies and lim@ggerience with forming collaboratiol
We may not be able to find suitable acquisitiondidates, and if we make any acquisitions, we mayeable to integrate these acquisitions
successfully into our existing business and we meyr additional debt or assume unknown or contindebilities in connection therewith.
Integration of an acquired company or assets msya@ikrupt ongoing operations, require the hirihgduitional personnel and the
implementation of additional internal systems anfdaistructure, especially the acquisition of contrarassets, and require management
resources that would otherwise focus on developimgexisting business. We may not be able to fiuithble collaboration partners or identify
other investment opportunities, and we may expeddosses related to any such investments.

To finance any acquisitions or collabonmasiowe may choose to issue debt or shares of mumom stock as consideration. Any such
issuance of shares would dilute the ownership of ou
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stockholders. If the price of our common stoclois br volatile, we may not be able to acquire otimsets or companies or fund a transaction
using our stock as consideration. Alternativelynay be necessary for us to raise additional fdodacquisitions through public or private
financings. Additional funds may not be availabteterms that are favorable to us, or at all.

Our short operating history may make it difficulbtevaluate the success of our business to datetarassess our future viability.

We are a development stage company. We @oed operations in February 2002. Our operatmuaate have been limited to organiz
and staffing our company, acquiring and develogingtechnology and undertaking preclinical studied clinical trials of our most advanced
product candidates. We have not yet generated amynercial sales for any of our product candidafés.have not yet demonstrated our ak
to obtain regulatory approvals, manufacture a corniakscale product or arrange for a third partgidoso on our behalf, or conduct sales and
marketing activities necessary for successful pcbdoammercialization. Consequently, any predictiabsut our future success or viability n
not be as accurate as they could be if we hadgelomperating history.

In addition, if we are successful in obaghmarketing approval for any of our lead prodeemididates or if we acquire commercial assets
we will need to transition from a company with aearch focus to a company capable of supportingremncial activities. We may not be
successful in such a transition.

Risks Related to the Development and Commercializatn of Our Product Candidates

We depend heavily on the success of our most adedmroduct candidates. All of our product candidatare still in either

preclinical or clinical development. Clinical tria of our product candidates may not be succesdfule are unable to commercialize
our most advanced product candidates, including alestat HCI, or experience significant delays inidg so, our business will be
materially harmed.

We have invested a significant portion of efforts and financial resources in the developnoé our most advanced product candidates,
including migalastat HCI. Our ability to generateguct revenue, which may never occur, will depkeavily on the successful development
and commercialization of these product candidated,upon the continuation and success of any anlidilons we may enter into, in particular
our collaboration with GSK. The successful commadization of our product candidates will dependsewmeral factors, including the followir

. successful enroliment of patients in our clinicals on a timely basis;

. obtaining supplies of our product candidates arftere required, third party marketed products inclgd&ERTS, for completion
of our clinical trials on a timely basis;

. successful completion of preclinical studies arical trials;
. obtaining regulatory agreement in the strucaure design of our clinical programs;
. obtaining marketing approvals from the Unitedt&$ Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and simikgulatory authorities

outside the U.S;

. establishing commercial-scale manufacturing arrareges with third party manufacturers whose manufawg facilities are
operated in compliance with current good manufaatupractice (cGMP) regulations;

. launching commercial sales of the product, whetih@me or in collaboration with others;
. acceptance of the product by patients, the medaraimunity and third party payors;
. competition from other companies and their theisipie
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. successful protection of our intellectual propeityts from competing products in the U.S. and abr@and

. a continued acceptable safety and efficacy profileur product candidates following approval.

If the market opportunities for our product candides are smaller than we believe they are, then mewenues may be adversely
affected and our business may suffer.

Each of the diseases that our most advamaetlict candidates are being developed to addrease. Our projections of both the number
of people who have these diseases, as well asitisetsof people with these diseases who have tleafia to benefit from treatment with our
product candidates, are based on estimates.

Currently, most reported estimates of ttevalence of these diseases are based on studiegbifsubsets of the population of specific
geographic areas, which are then extrapolatedtiimae the prevalence of the diseases in the bromoidd population. In addition, as new
studies are performed the estimated prevalendeesttdiseases may change. In fact, as a resulinagf secent studies, we believe that
previously reported studies do not accurately agtfar the prevalence of Fabry disease and thaptealence of Fabry disease could be n
times higher than previously reported. There candassurance that the prevalence of Fabry disgd@empe disease in the study populati
particularly in these newer studies, accuratelieot$ the prevalence of these diseases in the éreeaatld population.

We estimate the number of potential pasiémthe broader world population who have thoseaies and may respond to treatment with
our product candidates by further extrapolatinineaties of the prevalence of specific types of gematitations giving rise to these diseases.
For example, we base our estimate of the percewifagabry patients who may respond to treatmertt miigalastat HCI on the frequency of
missense and other similar mutations that causey/hdease reported in the Human Gene Mutationtiza® As a result of recent studies that
estimate that the prevalence of Fabry disease dmutdany times higher than previously reportedbeleeve that the number of patients
diagnosed with Fabry disease will increase andnasé that the number of Fabry patients who mayfitdn@m the use of migalastat HCl is
significantly higher than some previously reporéstimates of Fabry disease generally. If our esémaf the prevalence of Fabry disease or c
the number of patients who may benefit from treatihwédth our product candidates prove to be incdrrige market opportunities for our
product candidates may be smaller than we beltese ére, our prospects for generating revenue raadbersely affected and our business
may suffer.

Initial results from a clinical trial do not ensurdhat the trial will be successful and success @rlg stage clinical trials does not
ensure success in later-stage clinical trials.

We will only obtain regulatory approvaldommercialize a product candidate if we can demnatesto the satisfaction of the FDA or the
applicable non-U.S. regulatory authority, in wedlsigned and conducted clinical trials, that thelpod candidate is safe and effective and
otherwise meets the appropriate standards regfareapproval for a particular indication. Clinidaials are lengthy, complex and extremely
expensive processes with uncertain results. Araitdi one or more of our clinical trials may ocatilany stage of testing.

Success in preclinical testing and eaiilyical trials does not ensure that later clinicalls will be successful, and initial results fram
clinical trial do not necessarily predict final uéis. We cannot be assured that these trials Withately be successful. In addition, patients ma
not be compliant with their dosing regimen or tpabtocols or they may withdraw from the study g ime for any reason.

In addition, while the clinical trials ofiodrug candidates are designed based on the laleaitslevant information, in view of the
uncertainties inherent in drug development, sutticell trials may
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not be designed with focus on indications, patmayulations, dosing regimens, safety or efficaawpeeters or other variables that will prov
the necessary safety or efficacy data to suppgttla¢ory approval to commercialize the resultinggd. In addition, individual patient
responses to the dose administered of a drug mayirva manner that is difficult to predict. Alghe methods we select to assess particular
safety or efficacy parameters may not yield siasiprecision in estimating our drug candidatéfgats on study participants. Even if we
believe the data collected from clinical trialsonfr drug candidates are promising, these data malyensufficient to support approval by the
FDA or foreign regulatory authorities. Preclinieald clinical data can be interpreted in differeays: Accordingly, the FDA or foreign
regulatory authorities could interpret these datdifferent ways from us or our partners, whichldalelay, limit or prevent regulatory
approval. For example, in December 2012, we anrexhitap-line six-month (Stage 1) results from Stadg. While we believe these data are
encouraging, the results did not achieve statissigaificance (p=0.3) according to the pre-specifprimary endpoint analysis. Although the
FDA has indicated that it will consider the 12-nfoefficacy and safety data from Study 011 to suppqmotential U.S. conditional approval of
migalastat HCl monotherapy, there can be no assertmat such data will support such approval arttia FDA will interpret these data in the
same way that we may, which could delay, limit mv@nt regulatory approval.

Even if our early stage clinical trials areccessful, we will need to conduct additionatickl trials with larger numbers of patients
receiving the drug for longer periods for all of quoduct candidates before we are able to seetoapis to market and sell these product
candidates from the FDA and regulatory authoritiesside the U.S. In addition, each of our prodactdidates is based on our pharmacologic:
chaperone technology. To date, we are not awataltiygproduct based on chaperone technology hasdmmoved by the FDA. As a result,
while we have reached agreement with the FDA tlstreogate primary endpoint may be evaluated inRtase 3 study for migalastat HCI, we
cannot be sure what endpoints the FDA will requsg¢o measure in later-stage clinical trials of otlner product candidates. If the FDA
requires different endpoints than the endpointaatecipate using or a different analysis of thosdpmints, it may be more difficult for us to
obtain, or we may be delayed in obtaining, FDA appt of our product candidates. If we are not sssfté in commercializing any of our lead
product candidates, or are significantly delayedamg so, our business will be materially harmed.

We have limited experience in conducting and managithe preclinical development activities and cliai trials necessary to obtain
regulatory approvals, including approval by the FDA

We have limited experience in conductind aranaging the preclinical development activitied alinical trials necessary to obtain
regulatory approvals, including approval by the F¥e have not obtained regulatory approval nor cencralized any of our product
candidates. Although we announced top-line six-mn@tage 1 results for our Phase 3 study of migal&it! (Study 011) in December 2012,
the results did not achieve statistical signifimaccording to the primary endpoint analysis, archeve not yet completed a Phase 3 clinical
trial for any of our product candidates. Our lirditexperience might prevent us from successfullygiésg or implementing a clinical trial. We
have limited experience in conducting and manatfiegapplication process necessary to obtain regylapprovals and we might not be able
to demonstrate that our product candidates meetghepriate standards for regulatory approvakdfare not successful in conducting and
managing our preclinical development activitieglarical trials or obtaining regulatory approvalg might not be able to commercialize our
lead product candidates, or might be significadtayed in doing so, which will materially harm doursiness.

This difference did not achieve statist&ighificance (p=0.3) according to the pre-spedifieimary endpoint analysis.
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We may find it difficult to enroll patients in ouclinical trials.

Each of the diseases that our lead prothuadidates are intended to treat is rare and weoexmly a subset of the patients with these
diseases to be eligible for our clinical trials. Vsiay not be able to initiate or continue clinia#ls for each or all of our product candidates if
we are unable to locate a sufficient number ofileliigpatients to participate in the clinical triaésquired by the FDA or other non-U.S.
regulatory agencies. For example, the entry catfmi our ongoing Phase 3 study in migalastat l€Fabry disease to support approval in the
United States (Study 011) requires that patientstrave a genetic mutation that we believe is nesipe to migalastat HCI, and may not have
received ERT in the past or must have stoppedniexatfor at least six months prior to enrollinghe study. As a result, enrollment of the
study lasted for over two years.

In addition, the requirements of our clalitesting mandate that a patient cannot be indoivenother clinical trial for the same
indication. We are aware that our competitors hangoing clinical trials for products that are cortifpee with our product candidates and
patients who would otherwise be eligible for ouniclal trials may be involved in such testing, reridg them unavailable for testing of our
product candidates. Our inability to enroll a stiffnt number of patients for any of our currenfuture clinical trials would result in significa
delays or may require us to abandon one or manealitrials altogether.

If our preclinical studies do not produce positivesults, if our clinical trials are delayed or ifesious side effects are identified durir
drug development, we may experience delays, inaditonal costs and ultimately be unable to commiatize our product
candidates.

Before obtaining regulatory approval foe gale of our product candidates, we must condticr own expense, extensive preclinical
tests to demonstrate the safety of our productidatek in animals, and clinical trials to demortsttae safety and efficacy of our product
candidates in humans. Preclinical and clinicaingst expensive, difficult to design and implemantl can take many years to complete. A
failure of one or more of our preclinical studigscbnical trials can occur at any stage of testfg may experience numerous unforeseen
events during, or as a result of, preclinical testind the clinical trial process that could delaprevent our ability to obtain regulatory
approval or commercialize our product candidateduding:

. our preclinical tests or clinical trials may gre negative or inconclusive results, and we neayde, or regulators may require
us, to conduct additional preclinical testing aniclal trials or we may abandon projects that weeet to be promising;

. we may decide to amend existing protocols for omgalinical trials;

. regulators or institutional review boards may natharize us to commence a clinical trial or condaictinical trial at a
prospective trial site;

. conditions imposed on us by the FDA or any tb8- regulatory authority regarding the scope @igteof our clinical trials me
require us to resubmit our clinical trial protoctdsinstitutional review boards for re-inspectiamedo changes in the regulatory
environment;

. the number of patients required for our clinicals may be larger than we anticipate or participanay drop out of our clinical
trials at a higher rate than we anticipate;

. our third party contractors or clinical investigatonay fail to comply with regulatory requiremeatdail to meet their
contractual obligations to us in a timely manner;

. we might have to suspend or terminate one oermbour clinical trials if we, the regulators betinstitutional review boards
determine that the participants are being expaseaacceptable health risks;
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. regulators or institutional review boards may regtihat we hold, suspend or terminate clinicalaesefor various reasons,
including noncompliance with regulatory requirensent

. the cost of our clinical trials may be greater thananticipate;

. the supply or quality of our product candidatesther materials necessary to conduct our clitizs, such as existing
treatments like ERT, may be insufficient or inadstguor we may not be able to reach agreementscapible terms with
prospective clinical research organizations; and

. the effects of our product candidates may not belt#sired effects or may include undesirable digéets or the product
candidates may have other unexpected charactsristic

If we are required to conduct additionatichl trials or other testing of our product catettes beyond those that we currently contemg
if we are unable to successfully complete our chhtrials or other testing, if the results of thésals or tests are not positive or are only
modestly positive or if there are safety concewesmay:

. be delayed in obtaining, or may not be able toiobtaarketing approval for one or more of our pradeandidates and milestc
payments from our collaborators;

. obtain approval for indications that are nobesad as intended or entirely different than thasgécations for which we sought
approval; or
. have the product removed from the market aftéaioing marketing approval.

Our product development costs will alsa@ase if we experience delays in testing or appsoViie do not know whether any preclinical
tests or clinical trials will be initiated as plat) will need to be restructured or will be compdebn schedule, if at all. Significant preclinica
clinical trial delays also could shorten the pataatection period during which we may have thdsige right to commercialize our product
candidates. Such delays could allow our competttotging products to market before we do and impar ability to commercialize our
products or product candidates. In addition, GSK gignificant influence on the conduct of our mégaht HCI program, and could compel us
to perform unanticipated clinical trials of migaksHCI or delay the approval process for a var@#tyeasons.

Even if migalastat HCI or any other product canditiathat we develop receives marketing approvalwilecontinue to face extensi
regulatory requirements and the product may stéide future development and regulatory difficulties.

Even if marketing approval is obtainedeguiatory authority may still impose significanstréctions on a product's indications, condition:s
for use, distribution or marketing or impose ongpiaquirements for potentially costly post-marketeillance, post-approval studies or
clinical trials. For example, any labeling ultimigtapproved by the FDA for migalastat HCI, if itapproved for marketing, may include
restrictions on use, such as limitations on how¥disease is defined and diagnosed. In additlen|abeling may include restrictions based
upon evidence of specific genetic mutations or 2pmg found in patients. Migalastat HCI will alsoduehject to ongoing FDA requirements
governing the labeling, packaging, storage, adsiedi distribution, promotion, recordkeeping antimission of safety and other post-market
information, including adverse events, and any gkario the approved product, product labeling, anufacturing process. The FDA has
significant post-market authority, including, fotaenple, the authority to require labeling changesel on new safety information, and to
require post-market studies or clinical trials #@aleiate serious safety risks related to the usedstig. For products approved under the
Accelerated Approval regulations, the FDA has thimarity to require clinical studies to confirm tbknical benefit associated with the
surrogate endpoint. In addition, manufacturersrafgroducts and their facilities are subject to
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continual review and periodic inspections by theARhd other regulatory authorities for complianagthweurrent Good Manufacturing
Practice, or cGMP, and other regulations.

If we, our drug products or the manufactgriacilities for our drug products fail to compijth applicable regulatory requirements, a
regulatory agency may:

. issue warning letters or untitled letters;

. seek an injunction or impose civil or criminal pkigs or monetary fines;

. suspend or withdraw marketing approval;

. suspend any ongoing clinical trials;

. refuse to approve pending applications or supplgs to applications submitted by us;

. suspend or impose restrictions on operatiodyding costly new manufacturing requirements;

. seize or detain products, refuse to permit tiygoirt or export of products or request that wedteta product recall; or
. refuse to allow us to enter into supply contraictsluding government contracts.

The FDA and other regulatory agencies actively erde the laws and regulations prohibiting the promon of off-label uses. If we
are found to have promoted off-label uses, we magdme subject to significant liability.

The FDA and other regulatory agenciestiyriregulate the promotional claims that may be enalout prescription products. In particu
a product may not be promoted for uses that arapmtoved by the FDA or such other regulatory agsnas reflected in the product's
approved labeling. In particular, any labeling aymad by the FDA for migalastat HCI or any of ounext product candidates may include
restrictions on use. The FDA may impose furtheun@mments or restrictions on the distribution oe a§ migalastat HCI or any of our other
product candidates as part of a REMS plan. If veeive marketing approval for migalastat HCI or atlyer product candidates, physicians
nevertheless prescribe such products to theirmtatia a manner that is inconsistent with the apgddabel. If we are found to have promoted
such off-label uses, we may become subject tofgigni liability. The federal government has leviadye civil and criminal fines against
companies for alleged improper promotion and hj@ired several companies from engaging in off-lgiyeimotion. The FDA has also
requested that companies enter into consent dearg@smanent injunctions under which specifiechpstional conduct is changed or curtai

The commercial success of any product candidatest thie may develop, including migalastat HCI, wikplend upon the degree of
market acceptance by physicians, patients, thirdtpaayors and others in the medical community.

Any products that we bring to the marketluding migalastat HCI, may not gain market acaepé by physicians, patients, third party
payors and others in the medical community. If éh@oducts do not achieve an adequate level optacee, we may not generate significant
product revenue and we may not become profitaliie.degree of market acceptance of our product dateti, if approved for commercial
sale, will depend on a number of factors, including

. prevalence and severity of any side effects, ifnlgdny limitations or warnings contained in a prois approved labeling;
. efficacy and potential advantages over alternadte@tments;
. pricing;

-34-




Table of Contents

. relative convenience and ease of administration;

. willingness of the target patient population torigw therapies and of physicians to prescribe thiesapies;
. strength of marketing and distribution support eindng of market introduction of competitive prodsic

. publicity concerning our products or competing prctd and treatments; and

. sufficient third party insurance coverage or reinsement.

Even if a product candidate displays a falite efficacy and safety profile in preclinicaldaclinical trials, market acceptance of the
product will not be known until after it is launaheDur efforts to educate the medical community third party payors on the benefits of our
product candidates may require significant resaiecel may never be successful. Such efforts toateltice marketplace may require more
resources than are required by the conventionhhtdogies marketed by our competitors.

If we are unable to obtain adequate reimbursemertrfi governments or third party payors for any procts that we may develop ol
we are unable to obtain acceptable prices for theseducts, our prospects for generating revenue auhieving profitability will
suffer.

Our prospects for generating revenue ahgwaing profitability will depend heavily upon tlevailability of adequate reimbursement for
the use of our approved product candidates froneigouental and other third party payors, both inUt®. and in other markets.
Reimbursement by a third party payor may depend @poumber of factors, including the third partyqés determination that use of a proc
is:

. a covered benefit under its health plan;
. safe, effective and medically necessary;
. appropriate for the specific patient;

. cost-effective; and

. neither experimental nor investigational.

Obtaining reimbursement approval for a picidrom each government or other third party paga time consuming and costly process
that could require us to provide supporting scfentclinical and cost effectiveness data for tise of our products to each payor. We may not
be able to provide data sufficient to gain accegeanith respect to reimbursement or we might neesbhduct post-marketing studies in order
to demonstrate the cost-effectiveness of any fytmeucts to such payors' satisfaction. Such stuight require us to commit a significant
amount of management time and financial and o#gswurces. Even when a payor determines that a grizdeligible for reimbursement, the
payor may impose coverage limitations that precjagment for some uses that are approved by the &hn-U.S. regulatory authorities. In
addition, there is a risk that full reimbursemertynmot be available for high priced products. Merroeligibility for coverage does not imply
that any product will be reimbursed in all caseataa rate that allows us to make a profit or es@rer our costs. Interim payments for new
products, if applicable, may also not be sufficientover our costs and may not be made permanent.

A primary trend in the U.S. healthcare isitly1 and elsewhere is toward cost containment. e recent changes in the Medicare
program and increasing emphasis on managed camatmue to put pressure on pharmaceutical progiicing. For example, the Medicare
Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization 8ic2003 provides a new Medicare prescription dragefit that
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began in 2006 and mandates other reforms. Whileameot predict the full outcome of the implememtatdf this legislation, it is possible that
the new Medicare prescription drug benefit, whicgh e managed by private health insurers and attenaged care organizations, will result
in additional government reimbursement for presmipdrugs, which may make some prescription dragse affordable but may further
exacerbate industry wide pressure to reduce ppeeridrug prices. If one or more of our produatdidates reaches commercialization, such
changes may have a significant impact on our ghtitset a price we believe is fair for our produahd may affect our ability to generate
revenue and achieve or maintain profitability.

In addition, the Patient Protection andoidfable Care Act of 2010 and the Health Care andc&ibn Reconciliation Act of 2010
(collectively referred to as the "Health Care Refdraw") are designed to overhaul the United Stagsdth care system and regulate many
aspects of health care delivery and financing. Fibalth Care Reform Law is intended to broaden actekealth insurance, primarily through
the imposition of health insurance mandates on eyep$ and individuals and expansion of the Medipaatjram, reduce or constrain the
growth of health care spending, enhance remedmisstgraud and abuse, add new transparency regeims for health care and health
insurance industries, impose new taxes and fediseohealth industry and impose additional healficpoeforms. The Health Care Reform
Law will require the promulgation of substantiafjuéations with significant effects on the healtihecendustry.

A number of provisions contained in the ltte€are Reform Law may affect us and will likehycirease certain of our costs. For example,
the new law revised the definition of "average nfanturer price" for reporting purposes and the wadwf rebated drugs has been expanded
include beneficiaries in Medicaid managed care mimgdions, which could increase the amount of Maididrug rebates to states. Also,
beginning in 2013, drug manufacturers will be reggito report information on payments or transéérgalue to physicians and teaching
hospitals, as well as investment interests helghygicians and their immediate family members dytire preceding calendar year. Under a
final rule issued by the Centers for Medicare & Meg Services (CMS), drug manufacturers must begiollect the required data on
August 1, 2013 and report the data to CMS by M&©Lh2014. Failure to submit required informationymasult in civil monetary penalties.
Additionally, the Health Care Reform Law includeSG@®6 discount on brand name drugs for Medicare [Pgdrticipants in the coverage gap,
or "donut hole." We do not know the full effect thlae Health Care Reform Law will have on our comeiadization efforts if migalastat HCI,
or any other of our drugs, is approved. Although ibo early to determine the effect of the He@ltre Reform Law, the law appears likely to
continue the pressure on pharmaceutical pricirge@ally under the Medicare program, and may aisceiase our regulatory burdens and
operating costs.

Governments outside the U.S. tend to impose spiate controls and reimbursement approval policieghich may adversely affect
our prospects for generating revenue.

In some countries, particularly Europeanddri{EU) countries, the pricing of prescription phaceuticals is subject to governmental
control. In these countries, pricing negotiationtwovernmental authorities can take considertibile (6 to 12 months or longer) after the
receipt of marketing approval for a product. Toadbtreimbursement or pricing approval in some coestwe may be required to conduct a
clinical trial that compares the cost effectivenefssur product candidate to other available thiemgdf reimbursement of our products is
unavailable or limited in scope or amount, or itjprg is set at unsatisfactory levels, our prospéat generating revenue, if any, could be
adversely affected and our business may suffer.
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If we are unable to establish sales and marketirapabilities or enter into agreements with third gas to market and sell our
product candidates, including migalastat HCI, we gnhe unable to generate product revenue.

At present, we have no sales or marketarggnnel. In order to commercialize any of our piddandidates, we must either acquire or
internally develop sales, marketing and distributiapabilities, or enter into collaborations witiripers to perform these services for us. We
may not be able to establish sales and distribygartnerships for other product candidates on dabépoterms or at all, and if we do enter into
a distribution arrangement, our success will beedepnt upon the performance of our partner.

In the event that we attempt to acquirdexrelop our own in-house sales, marketing andibligion capabilities, factors that may inhibit
our efforts to commercialize our products withowategic partners or licensees include:

. our inability to recruit and retain adequate nurshreffective sales and marketing personnel;

. the inability of sales personnel to obtain accesw tsuccessfully market to adequate numbers ofipiays to prescribe our
products;

. the lack of additional products to be marketed biysales personnel, which may put us at a competiisadvantage against

companies with broader product lines;

. unforeseen costs associated with creating oursales and marketing team or with entering inpargnering agreement with an
independent sales and marketing organization; and

. efforts by our competitors to commercialize produattor about the time when our product candidatadd be coming to
market.

We may co-promote our product candidatesainious markets with pharmaceutical and bioteamylcompanies in instances where we
believe that a larger sales and marketing preseilcexpand the market or accelerate penetratibwel do enter into arrangements with third
parties to perform sales and marketing servicespmduct revenues will be lower than if we dirgabld and marketed our products and any
revenues received under such arrangements willndiepe the skills and efforts of others.

We may not be successful in entering ingtrithution arrangements and marketing allianceh ttird parties. Our failure to enter into
these arrangements on favorable terms could delegpmir our ability to commercialize our produetndlidates and could increase our coSts ¢
commercialization. Dependence on distribution agesnents and marketing alliances to commercializgpopduct candidates will subject us
a number of risks, including:

. we may not be able to control the amount and tinofigesources that our distributors may devotééodommercialization of o
product candidates;

. our distributors may experience financial difficed;

. business combinations or significant changes iistiloutor's business strategy may also adverdédgtaa distributor's
willingness or ability to complete its obligationeder any arrangement; and

. these arrangements are often terminated or atldw expire, which could interrupt the marketimgl @ales of a product and
decrease our revenue.

If we are unable to establish adequatessatarketing and distribution capabilities, whetimgiependently or with third parties, we may
be able to generate product revenue and may notimprofitable.
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Product liability lawsuits against us could causs to incur substantial liabilities and to limit comercialization of any products that
we may develop.

We face an inherent risk of product lighixposure related to the testing of our prodacididates in human clinical trials and will face
an even greater risk if we commercially sell angdurcts that are approved for sale. We may be exposgroduct liability claims and product
recalls, including those which may arise from méas malfunction of, or design flaws in, such pra@yuwhether or not such problems directly
relate to the products and services we have prdviflere cannot successfully defend ourselves agaiaims that our product candidates or
products caused injuries, we will incur substariiéddilities. Regardless of merit or eventual oumey liability claims may result in;

. decreased demand for any product candidates ougisd

. damage to our reputation;

. regulatory investigations, prosecutions or enforeenactions that could require costly recalls @adpict modifications;

. withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

. costs to defend the related litigation;

. substantial monetary awards to trial particigant patients, including awards that substantiedigeed our product liability

insurance, which we would then be required to pasnfother sources, if available, and would damageability to obtain
liability insurance at reasonable costs, or atialthe future;

. loss of revenue;
. the diversion of management's attention from margagur business; and
. the inability to commercialize any such productdidates or products.

We have liability insurance policies foralinical trials in the geographies in which we @onducting trials. The amount of insurance
we currently hold may not be adequate to covdiaddllities that we may incur. Insurance coverag@creasingly expensive. We may not be
able to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonsabteand we may not be able to obtain insuraneerage that will be adequate to satisfy
liability that may arise. On occasion, large judgisehave been awarded in class action lawsuitgdb@serugs that had unanticipated side
effects. A successful product liability claim oseries of claims brought against us could causstogk price to fall and, if judgments exceed
our insurance coverage, could decrease our avaitaish and adversely affect our business.

We face substantial competition which may resultathers discovering, developing or commercializipgpducts before or more
successfully than we do.

The development and commercialization a¥ deugs is highly competitive and competition ipegted to increase. We face competition
with respect to our current product candidatesamydproducts we may seek to develop, acquire onuentialize in the future from major
pharmaceutical companies, specialty pharmacewt@apanies and biotechnology companies worldwide eikample, several large
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies cugrendirket and sell products for the treatment ob$gsnal storage diseases, including Fi
disease. These products include sanofi aventisaEgime® and Shire plc's Replagal®. In additionofagventis, Shire and Actelion, Ltd.
market and sell Cerezyme®, VPRIV and Zavesca® a&sely, for the treatment of Gaucher disease,samibfi aventis markets and sells
Myozyme® and Lumizyme® for the treatment of Pomzedse. In addition, ELELYSO® (taliglucerase alapew enzyme replacement
therapy for the treatment of Gaucher
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disease developed by Protalix BioTherapeutics dizél?Inc., was approved by the FDA for Type 1 &zer disease in May. We are also
aware of other enzyme replacement and substratietied therapies in development by third partiesiuding eliglustat tartrate, an oral
treatment developed by sanofi aventis and in PRak®/elopment for the treatment of Gaucher disease.

Potential competitors also include acadenstitutions, government agencies and other pubiit private research organizations that
conduct research, seek patent protection and estatallaborative arrangements for research, deweémt, manufacturing and
commercialization. Our competitors may develop paisl that are more effective, safer, more convemeless costly than any that we are
developing or that would render our product cantgisl@bsolete or noncompetitive. Our competitors aelag obtain FDA or other regulatory
approval for their products more rapidly than weyrobtain approval for ours. We may also face coitipatfrom off-label use of other
approved therapies. There can be no assuranceabaibpments by others will not render our proaactdidates or any acquired products
obsolete or noncompetitive either during the resea@hase or once the products reaches commertiatiza

We believe that many competitors, includiiwgdemic institutions, government agencies, p@uitt private research organizations, large
pharmaceutical companies and smaller more focuseghanies, are attempting to develop therapies fonynof our target indications. Many of
our competitors have significantly greater finahoégsources and expertise in research and develdpmeanufacturing, preclinical testing,
conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatorypapvals, prosecuting intellectual property rightsl anarketing approved products than we do.
Smaller and other early stage companies may atseepo be significant competitors, particularlyahgh collaborative arrangements with le
and established companies. These third parties e@myith us in recruiting and retaining qualifiegdesitific and management personnel,
establishing clinical trial sites and patient régigon for clinical trials, as well as in acquigitechnologies complementary to or necessary for
our programs or advantageous to our business.diti@u, if we obtain regulatory approvals for ouogucts, manufacturing efficiency and
marketing capabilities are likely to be significaompetitive factors. We currently have no comnaneianufacturing capability, sales force or
marketing infrastructure. Further, many of our cetitprs have substantial resources and expertiseriducting collaborative arrangements,
sourcing in-licensing arrangements and acquiring besiness lines or businesses that are greateiotiraown.

Our business activities involve the use of hazardounaterials, which require compliance with envirommtal and occupational safety
laws regulating the use of such materials. If welate these laws, we could be subject to significtmes, liabilities or other adverse
consequences.

Our research and development programsweuble controlled use of hazardous materials, dintpmicrobial agents, corrosive, explosive
and flammable chemicals and other hazardous conaisanraddition to certain biological hazardous waklitimately, the activities of our thi
party product manufacturers when a product canelicsiches commercialization will also require the of hazardous materials. Accordingly,
we are subject to federal, state and local laweguorg the use, handling and disposal of thesemaleAlthough we believe that our safety
procedures for handling and disposing of these maddecomply in all material respects with the starls prescribed by local, state and federa
regulations, we cannot completely eliminate thk osaccidental contamination or injury from thesaterials. In addition, our collaborators
may not comply with these laws. In the event ofacident or failure to comply with environmentakia we could be held liable for damages
that result, and any such liability could exceedamssets and resources or we could be subjechi@iions or stoppages related to our use of
these materials which may lead to an interruptiooun business operations or those of our thirdypeontractors. While we believe that our
existing insurance coverage is generally adequateur normal handling of these hazardous mateiitatsay not be sufficient to cover
pollution conditions or other extraordinary or utieipated
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events. Furthermore, an accident could damagerce fos to shut down our operations. Changes imr@mviental laws may impose costly
compliance requirements on us or otherwise subgtd future liabilities and additional laws refatito the management, handling, generation
manufacture, transportation, storage, use and stidpd materials used in or generated by the matwfa of our products or related to our
clinical trials. In addition, we cannot predict thiect that these potential requirements may lwaves, our suppliers and contractors or our
customers.

Risks Related to Our Dependence on Third Parties

Use of third parties to manufacture our product cditlates may increase the risk that we will not haatdficient quantities of our
product candidates or such quantities at an accdpacost, and clinical development and commerciatian of our product
candidates could be delayed, prevented or impaired.

We do not own or operate manufacturinglitées for clinical or commercial production of oproduct candidates. We lack the resources
and the capabilities to manufacture any of our pevdandidates on a clinical or commercial scale.drently outsource all manufacturing
and packaging of our preclinical and clinical prodeandidates to third parties. The manufactunghairmaceutical products requires signific
expertise and capital investment, including theefigwment of advanced manufacturing techniques amteps controls. Manufacturers of
pharmaceutical products often encounter difficalireproduction, particularly in scaling up initiloduction. These problems include
difficulties with production costs and yields anghtjty control, including stability of the producandidate. The occurrence of any of these
problems could significantly delay our clinicalais or the commercial availability of our products.

We do not currently have any agreements third party manufacturers for the long-term comuia supply of any of our product
candidates. We may be unable to enter into agretsniemcommercial supply with third party manufaes, or may be unable to do so on
acceptable terms. Even if we enter into these aggats, the manufacturers of each product candwidltbe single source suppliers to us for a
significant period of time.

Reliance on third party manufacturers' éntésks, to which we would not be subject if wamafactured product candidates or products
ourselves, including:

. reliance on the third party for regulatory comptiarand quality assurance;
. limitations on supply availability resulting fronapacity and scheduling constraints of the thirdipsyr
. impact on our reputation in the marketplace @nufacturers of our products, once commercialifatifo meet the demands of

our customers;
. the possible breach of the manufacturing agre¢mmethe third party because of factors beyondoomtrol; and

. the possible termination or non-renewal of the egrent by the third party, based on its own busipéssities, at a time that is
costly or inconvenient for us.

The failure of any of our contract manutaiets to maintain high manufacturing standardsdtoesult in injury or death of clinical trial
participants or patients using products. Such ffaitould also result in product liability claimspguct recalls, product seizures or withdrawals
delays or failures in testing or delivery, costwuas or other problems that could seriously haumbusiness or profitability.

Our contract manufacturers are requirealdfoere to FDA regulations setting forth cGMP. Thesgpilations cover all aspects of the
manufacturing, testing, quality control and recaejling relating to our product candidates and aogiyzts that we may commercialize. Our
manufacturers may not be
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able to comply with cGMP regulations or similar ukgory requirements outside the U.S. Our failuréhe failure of our third party
manufacturers, to comply with applicable regulaticould significantly and adversely affect reguiatapproval and supplies of our product
candidates.

Our product candidates and any productsitkanay develop or acquire may compete with ofineduct candidates and products for
access to manufacturing facilities. There are #&dicdhnumber of manufacturers that operate under B@dgulations and that are both capab
manufacturing for us and willing to do so. If thérd parties that we engage to manufacture prodoctsur preclinical tests and clinical trials
should cease to continue to do so for any reaserikely would experience delays in advancing thesés while we identify and qualify
replacement suppliers and we may be unable torol#piacement supplies on terms that are favotahls. Later relocation to another
manufacturer will also require notification, reviamnd other regulatory approvals from the FDA arptegulators and will subject our
production to further cost and instability in theadability of our product candidates. In additigihwe are not able to obtain adequate supplies
of our product candidates or the drug substanaed issmanufacture them, it will be more difficudtr fus to develop our product candidates an
compete effectively.

Our current and anticipated future dependampon others for the manufacture of our prodantiates may adversely affect our future
profit margins and our ability to develop produahdidates and commercialize any products thatmbégjulatory approval on a timely and
competitive basis.

Transitioning our business to focus on the commaeaiization of our products, specifically migalastatCl, may require increased
reliance on third-party relationships to enable thiransition, which may have an adverse effect ar business.

We acquired the US commercial rights td@iinulations of migalastat HCI under the Expan@ailaboration Agreement with GSK
entered into in July 2012. If we were to obtain kesing approval for migalastat HCI from the FDA, w#l need to continue to transition from
a company with a development focus to a compangldemf supporting commercial activities. We may @ successful in such a transition.
We have not yet demonstrated an ability to obtaanketing approval for or commercialize a productdidate. As a result, we may not be as
successful as companies that have previously adstaimarketing approval for drug candidates and carmially launched drugs.

There are risks involved with both estdiitig our own sales and marketing capabilities artdreng into arrangements with third partie
perform these services. For example, recruitingteaiding a sales force is expensive and time amisg and could delay any product launch.
If the commercial launch of a product candidatevibich we recruit a sales force and establish niengeapabilities is delayed or does not
occur for any reason, we would have prematurelynmecessarily incurred these commercialization es@e This may be costly, and our
investment would be lost if we cannot retain orosfion our sales and marketing personnel. Fatbatsmay inhibit our efforts to
commercialize our products include:

. our inability to recruit and retain adequate tens of effective sales and marketing personnel,
. the inability of sales personnel to obtain access tpersuade adequate numbers of physicians sorive any future products;
. the lack of complementary products to be offereddlgs personnel, which may put us at a competiise@dvantage relative to

companies with more extensive product lines; and

. unforeseen costs and expenses associated witingraatindependent sales and marketing organization

If we enter into arrangements with thirdtjges to perform sales, marketing and distribuservices, our product revenues or the
profitability of these product revenues to us détely to be lower
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than if we were to market and sell any products wWeadevelop ourselves. In addition, we may nosiecessful in entering into arrangements
with third parties to sell and market our produetdidates or doing so on terms that are favorablestWe likely will have little control over
such third parties, and any of them may fail toale\the necessary resources and attention torsktharket our products effectively. If we do
not establish sales and marketing capabilitiesessfally, either on our own or in collaborationtwihird parties, we will not be successful in
commercializing our product candidates.

Materials necessary to manufacture our product cadates may not be available on commercially reasbleaterms, or at all, which
may delay the development and commercializatiorof product candidates.

We rely on the manufacturers of our prodizctdidates to purchase from third party supptie@smaterials necessary to produce the
compounds for our preclinical and clinical studiesl will rely on these other manufacturers for caroial distribution if we obtain marketing
approval for any of our product candidates. Supplieay not sell these materials to our manufacsuaethe time we need them or on
commercially reasonable terms and all such pricesasceptible to fluctuations in price and avdlitgtdue to transportation costs, governm
regulations, price controls and changes in econafinitate or other foreseen circumstances. We ddvae¢ any control over the process or
timing of the acquisition of these materials by manufacturers. Moreover, we currently do not hawe agreements for the commercial
production of these materials. If our manufactusgesunable to obtain these materials for our prieell and clinical studies, product testing
and potential regulatory approval of our producididates would be delayed, significantly impaciing ability to develop our product
candidates. If our manufacturers or we are unabfritchase these materials after regulatory apphasabeen obtained for our product
candidates, the commercial launch of our productiiciates would be delayed or there would be a aberin supply, which would materially
affect our ability to generate revenues from tHe s&our product candidates.

We rely on third parties to conduct certain precioal development activities and our clinical triaend those third parties may not
perform satisfactorily, including failing to meetstablished deadlines for the completion of suchisitites and trials.

We do not independently conduct clinicill$ for our product candidates or certain prechhdevelopment activities of our product
candidates, such as long-term safety studies malni We rely on, or work in conjunction with, thiparties, such as contract research
organizations, medical institutions and clinicalestigators, to perform these functions. For exampk rely heavily on a contract research
organization to help us conduct our ongoing PhadaR®al trials in migalastat HCI for the treatntex Fabry disease. Our reliance on these
third parties for preclinical and clinical developnt activities reduces our control over these #ids: We are responsible for ensuring that
of our preclinical development activities and olimical trials is conducted in accordance with #pplicable general investigational plan and
protocols, however, we have no direct control dliese researchers or contractors (except by conteacthey are not our employees.
Moreover, the FDA requires us to comply with staddacommonly referred to as Good Clinical Prastiime conducting, recording and
reporting the results of our preclinical developtretivities and our clinical trials to assure tlata and reported results are credible and
accurate and that the rights, safety and confidktytiof trial participants are protected. Our agice on third parties that we do not control doe:
not relieve us of these responsibilities and reguénts. Furthermore, these third parties may ase helationships with other entities, some o
which may be our competitors. If these third partie not successfully carry out their contractudle$, meet expected deadlines or conduct
our preclinical development activities or our dtiaii trials in accordance with regulatory requiretser our stated protocols, we will not be ¢
to obtain, or may be delayed in obtaining, regulatpprovals for our product candidates and witllm@ able to, or may be delayed in our
efforts to, successfully
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commercialize our product candidates. Moreoveisdhhird parties may be bought by other entitiethey may go out of business, thereby
preventing them from meeting their contractual gdtiions.

We also rely on other third parties to stand distribute drug supplies for our preclind@velopment activities and our clinical trials. Any
performance failure on the part of our existinduiure distributors could delay clinical developrhenregulatory approval of our product
candidates or commercialization of our productedpcing additional losses and depriving us of pidéproduct revenue.

Extensions, delays, suspensions or terioimabf our preclinical development activities o @linical trials as a result of the performance
of our independent clinical investigators and cacttresearch organizations will delay, and makeencostly, regulatory approval for any
product candidates that we may develop. Any chamgecontract research organization during an arggpreclinical development activity or
clinical trial could seriously delay that trial apdtentially compromise the results of the actidtytrial.

We may not be successful in maintaining or estabiigy collaborations, which could adversely affeaiioability to develop and,
particularly in international markets, commerciale products.

For each of our product candidates, wecallaborating with physicians, patient advocacyup® foundations and government agencie
order to assist with the development of our prosiudte plan to pursue similar activities in futuregrams and plan to evaluate the merits of
retaining commercialization rights for ourselvesatering into selective collaboration arrangemaitls leading pharmaceutical or
biotechnology companies, such as our collabordtomigalastat HCIl with GSK for commercializatioighits outside of the United States. We
also may seek to establish collaborations for #hess marketing and distribution of our productsve elect to seek collaborators in the future
but are unable to reach agreements with suitalil@bavators, we may fail to meet our business dhjes for the affected product or program.
We face, and will continue to face, significant quetition in seeking appropriate collaborators. M, collaboration arrangements are
complex and time consuming to negotiate, documedt@mplement. We may not be successful in our &ffaf any, to establish and implement
collaborations or other alternative arrangemerntg fErms of any collaboration or other arrangemgiratswe establish, if any, may not be
favorable to us.

Any collaboration that we enter into may he successful. The success of our collaborati@ngements, if any, will depend heavily on
the efforts and activities of our collaboratordsltikely that any collaborators of ours will hasignificant discretion in determining the efforts
and resources that they will apply to these collations. The risks that we may be subject to irsjibs future collaborations include the
following:

. our collaboration agreements are likely to be ioed terms and subject to termination by our catalbors;

. our collaborators may have the first right to maiimtor defend our intellectual property rights aaithough we would likely
have the right to assume the maintenance and aeéérmaur intellectual property rights if our coltatators do not, our ability to
do so may be compromised by our collaborators'@oatsnissions; and

. our collaborators may utilize our intellectual peoty rights in such a way as to invite litigatidrat could jeopardize or invalidz
our intellectual property rights or expose us tteptial liability.

Collaborations with pharmaceutical comparsird other third parties often are terminatedlowad to expire by the other party. Such
terminations or expirations may adversely affeclinsncially and could harm our business reputatiothe event we elect to pursue
collaborations that ultimately expire or are teratéd.
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Our collaboration with GSK is important to our buséss. If this collaboration is unsuccessful or ifSK terminates this collaboratiol
our business could be adversely affected.

We expect that a substantial amount ofuhding for our operations will come from our cditaation with GSK. We and GSK are jointly
developing migalastat HCl and sharing costs astatiaith the development program in accordance agtteed upon development plans.
Under the plans, we are responsible for 40% ot jda@velopment costs for all formulations of migé@$1Cl. Our business plan and financial
guidance currently include assumptions regarding'&8ost-sharing obligations. However, GSK may elet¢erminate this collaboration at its
discretion. If this collaboration is unsuccesstulif it is terminated in whole or in part, our lisss could be adversely affected. As a result, w
could require additional financing earlier than eugrently expect, or need to take additional stepranage the financial risk associated with
such termination, including actions that may affaat other programs. In addition, while we areaadirating with GSK on the development of
migalastat HCI, GSK has ultimate decision makinthatity with respect to clinical development.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

If we are unable to obtain and maintain protectidor the intellectual property relating to our tectology and products, the value of
our technology and product candidates will be adsely affected.

Our success will depend in large part onatnility to obtain and maintain protection in tHeS. and other countries for the intellectual
property covering or incorporated into our techggland product candidates. The patent situatidgherfield of biotechnology and
pharmaceuticals generally is highly uncertain anlives complex legal, technical, scientific andtfial questions. We may not be able to
obtain additional issued patents relating to oahm®logy or product candidates. Even if issuedgmatissued to us or our licensors may be
challenged, narrowed, invalidated, held to be unreefable or circumvented, which could limit ourlipito stop competitors from marketing
similar products or reduce the term of patent mtade we may have for our product candidates. Charig either patent laws or in
interpretations of patent laws in the U.S. and oteeintries may diminish the value of our inteliedtproperty or narrow the scope of our
patent protection.

The degree of future protection for ourgpietary rights is uncertain, and we cannot enguae

. we or our licensors were the first to make the imims covered by each of our pending patent agiidios;

. we or our licensors were the first to file patepplécations for these inventions;

. others will not independently develop similaratternative technologies or duplicate any of @shnologies;

. any patents issued to us or our licensors willjgle a basis for commercially viable productd] piovide us with any

competitive advantages or will not be challengedHind parties;

. we will develop additional proprietary technologibat are patentable;

. we will file patent applications for new proprigtaechnologies promptly or at all;

. our patents will not expire prior to or shortlye&ftommencing commercialization of a product; or
. the patents of others will not have a negativectfda our ability to do business.

In addition, we cannot be assured thatadrour pending patent applications will result$sued patents. In particular, we have filed patel
applications in the United States, the Europeaar®®ffice and other countries outside the U.St tlhae not been issued as patents. These
pending

-44-




Table of Contents

applications include, among others, some of themiatpplications we license pursuant to a licegseeament with Mount Sinai School of
Medicine of New York University. If patents are nssued in respect of our pending patent applinatizve may not be able to stop competi
from marketing similar products in Europe and ott@untries in which we do not have issued patents.

The patents that we have licensed from3¥tai School of Medicine relating to use of migtda$iCl to treat Fabry disease expire in 201¢
in the U.S. and 2019 in Europe, Japan, and Caffdmaex-U.S. patent applications covering migaladtatto treat Fabry disease have been
sublicensed by us to GSK, which now controls thasecution outside the U.S. of said patent appbaatto the extent they relate to migalastat
HCI. GSK also controls post-grant patent prosecusind enforcement proceedings outside of the WhIg. Batents that we have licensed
claiming afegostat expire between 2015 and 2016erJ.S. and in 2015 in the UK, France, Swedenpfaay, Switzerland and Japan. In the
U.S., we have several issued patents that wenesigtefrom the Mt. Sinai School of Medicine coveraiggostat's methods of use which expire
in 2018. We own a U.S. patent and its corresponfiirgign patents and patent applications coverfegastat tartrate (a specific salt form of
afegostat) and its use to treat Gaucher diseasehwhkpires in 2027. Other than the patents anenpaipplications covering afegostat tartrate
and its use to treat Gaucher disease, we currikatlg no pending or issued patents covering methiodsing afegostat to treat Gaucher diseas
outside of the U.S. other than the pending apptinatcovering the use of afegostat in combinatidth ®RT to treat Gaucher disease. Patents
and patent applications that we own or have licgémskating to the use of AT2220 (duvoglustat HGlpiee in 2018 in the U.S. (not including
the Hatch-Waxman statutory extension, which is dieed above). Further, we currently do not have position of matter protection for
AT2220 (duvoglustat HCI) in the U.S. or either camjtion of matter or method of use protection ale¢sif the U.S. Where we lack patent
protection outside of the U.S., we intend to segdhan medicinal product designation and to relytatutory data exclusivity provisions in
jurisdictions outside the U.S. where such protedtiare available, including Europe. If we are uadblobtain such protection outside the U
our competitors may be free to use and sell afegastd/or AT2220 (duvoglustat HCI) outside of th&Land there will be no liability for
infringement or any other barrier to competitioheTpatent rights that we own or have licensedingldb our product candidates are limited in
ways that may affect our ability to exclude thiates from competing against us if we obtain ratprly approval to market these product
candidates. In particular:

. We do not hold composition of matter patentsecimg migalastat HCl and AT2220 (duvoglustat HCipmposition of matter
patents can provide protection for pharmaceutiocadipcts to the extent that the specifically coveredhpositions are important.
For our product candidates for which we do not femchposition of matter patents, competitors whaibthe requisite
regulatory approval can offer products with the sammposition as our products so long as the catoetio not infringe any
method of use patents that we may hold.

. For some of our product candidates, the principédipt protection that covers or those we expedttowiler, our product
candidate is a method of use patent. This typets#m only protects the product when used or smithfe specified method.
However, this type of patent does not limit a cotitpefrom making and marketing a product thatderitical to our product that
is labeled for an indication that is outside of fla@ented method, or for which there is a substhnte in commerce outside the
patented method.

Moreover, physicians may prescribe sucbrapetitive identical product for indications othiban the one for which the product has been
approved, or off-label indications, that are coddng the applicable patents. Although such off-ladsescriptions may infringe or induce
infringement of method of use patents, the praés@mmon and such infringement is difficult t@pent or prosecute.

Our patents also may not afford us probactigainst competitors with similar technology. &ese patent applications in the U.S. and
many other jurisdictions are typically not publidhentil 18 months
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after filing, or in some cases not at all, and hisegpublications of discoveries in the scientifieraiture often lag behind the actual discoveries
neither we nor our licensors can be certain thabmtbey were the first to make the inventionsrokad in our or their issued patents or pending
patent applications, or that we or they were trat fo file for protection of the inventions settfoin these patent applications. If a third party
has also filed a U.S. patent application coveringpyoduct candidates or a similar invention, weyihave to participate in an adversarial
proceeding, known as an interference, declarethdytS. Patent and Trademark Office to determirityr of invention in the U.S. The costs
of these proceedings could be substantial andpivssible that our efforts could be unsuccessésijliting in a loss of our U.S. patent position.

If we fail to comply with our obligations in our itellectual property licenses with third parties, weuld lose license rights that are
important to our business.

We are a party to a number of license agess including agreements with the Mount Sinaidetf Medicine of New York University,
the University of Maryland, Baltimore County andwaNordisk A/S, pursuant to which we license keglilectual property relating to our le
product candidates. We expect to enter into additiicenses in the future. Under our existingniees, we have the right to enforce the
licensed patent rights. Our existing licenses inepasd we expect that future licenses will impesgious diligence, milestone payment,
royalty, insurance and other obligations on usvdffail to comply with these obligations, the lisen may have the right to terminate the
license, in which event we might not be able toketany product that is covered by the licensedngat

If we are unable to protect the confidentiality olur proprietary information and knowhow, the value of our technology and produ
could be adversely affected.

We seek to protect our know-how and comfideg information, in part, by confidentiality agmments with our employees, corporate
partners, outside scientific collaborators, spoadaesearchers, consultants and other advisoral8géave confidentiality and invention or
patent assignment agreements with our employeeswanebnsultants. If our employees or consultargath these agreements, we may not
have adequate remedies for any of these breachaddltion, our trade secrets may otherwise bedarow/n to or be independently developed
by others. Enforcing a claim that a party illegallytained and is using our trade secrets is diffiexpensive and time consuming, and the
outcome is unpredictable. In addition, courts aléthe U.S. may be less willing to protect tradeets. Costly and time consuming litigation
could be necessary to seek to enforce and detethergcope of our proprietary rights, and failrebtain or maintain trade secret protection
could adversely affect our competitive businesstipos

If we infringe or are alleged to infringe the int&dctual property rights of third parties, it will dversely affect our business.

Our research, development and commerctalizactivities, as well as any product candidatesroducts resulting from these activities,
may infringe or be accused of infringing one or enciaims of an issued patent or may fall within shepe of one or more claims in a publis
patent application that may subsequently issua@mdhich we do not hold a license or other rightsird parties may own or control these
patents or patent applications in the U.S. andabrdhese third parties could bring claims agaisghat would cause us to incur substantial
expenses and, if successful against us, could emugepay substantial damages. Further, if a patéingement suit were brought against us,
we or they could be forced to stop or delay redeatevelopment, manufacturing or sales of the prbduproduct candidate that is the subject
of the suit.

No assurance can be given that patent®texist, have not been filed, or could not bedfite issued, which contain claims covering our
product candidates, technology or methods. Becaiude
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number of patents issued and patent applicatibed ifa our field, we believe there is a risk tHatd parties may allege they have patent rights
encompassing our product candidates, technologyetinods.

We are aware, for example, of U.S. pateartd,corresponding international counterparts, aWnethird parties that contain claims relatec
to treating protein misfolding. If any of these gmats were to be asserted against us, while we toetieve that our product candidates would
be found to infringe any valid claim of such pageihere is no assurance that a court would firmbinfavor or that, if we choose or are
required to seek a license with respect to suotnpstsuchicense would be available to us on acceptabledennat all. If we were to challen
the validity of any issued U.S. patent in court,wauld need to overcome a presumption of validigt attaches to every patent. This burden i
high and would require us to present clear and ioecimg evidence as to the invalidity of the pateotaims. There is no assurance that a court
would find in our favor on infringement or validity

In order to avoid or settle potential claimith respect to any of the patent rights desdrédd@ove or any other patent rights of third payties
we may choose or be required to seek a license drtinrd party and be required to pay license asyalties or both. These licenses may na
be available on acceptable terms, or at all. Ef/er@ior our collaborators were able to obtain arge, the rights may be nonexclusive, which
could result in our competitors gaining accesitodame intellectual property. Ultimately, we coddprevented from commercializing a
product, or be forced to cease some aspect ofuginéss operations, if, as a result of actual attened patent infringement claims, we are
unable to enter into licenses on acceptable teFhis.could harm our business significantly.

Others may sue us for infringing their patar other intellectual property rights or filellity, opposition or interference proceedings
against our patents, even if such claims are withwarit, which would similarly harm our businessirfhermore, during the course of litigatic
confidential information may be disclosed in thetrficof documents or testimony in connection withcdigery requests, depositions or trial
testimony. Disclosure of our confidential infornmatiand our involvement in intellectual propertjgition could materially adversely affect «
business.

There has been substantial litigation ahémoproceedings regarding patent and other imcteldée property rights in the pharmaceutical anc
biotechnology industries. In addition to infringembelaims against us, we may become a party ta gent litigation and other proceedings,
including interference proceedings declared byutfe Patent and Trademark Office and oppositiorgedings in the European Patent Office
regarding intellectual property rights with respicour products and technology. Even if we prevh cost to us of any patent litigation or
other proceeding could be substantial.

Some of our competitors may be able toasushe costs of complex patent litigation moreefifvely than we can because they have
substantially greater resources. In addition, armgettainties resulting from any litigation coulgdsificantly limit our ability to continue our
operations. Patent litigation and other proceedimgg also absorb significant management time.

Many of our employees were previously emptbat universities or other biotechnology or phacautical companies, including our
competitors or potential competitors. We try toweshat our employees do not use the proprietdoyration or know-how of others in their
work for us. However, we may be subject to clailveg tve or these employees have inadvertently @raike used or disclosed intellectual
property, trade secrets or other proprietary inftion of any such employee's former employer. hiiigh may be necessary to defend against
these claims and, even if we are successful imdifg ourselves, could result in substantial ctstss or be distracting to our management. If
we fail to defend any such claims, in addition &yipg monetary damages, we may jeopardize valuatdibectual property rights, disclose
confidential information or lose personnel.
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Risks Related to Regulatory Approval of Our ProductCandidates

If we are not able to obtain and maintain requiredgulatory approvals, we will not be able to commiafize our product candidates,
and our ability to generate revenue will be matdhjaimpaired.

Our product candidates, including migaleli@l, and the activities associated with theirelepment and commercialization, including
their testing, manufacture, safety, efficacy, rd&eeping, labeling, storage, approval, advertigmgmotion, sale and distribution, are subject
to comprehensive regulation by the FDA and otheguletory agencies in the U.S. and by comparableaaities in other countries. Failure to
obtain regulatory approval for a product candideiteprevent us from commercializing the produchdalate in the jurisdiction of the
regulatory authority. We have not obtained regujasmproval to market any of our product candid@teany jurisdiction. We have only limit
experience in preparing, submitting and maintainimgapplications necessary to obtain regulatopr@mls and expect to rely on third party
contract research organizations to assist us snpificess. In the case of migalastat HCI, GSKhalle primary responsibility for the
preparation, submission and maintenance of apfitafor approval with regulatory agencies outslteUnited States.

Securing FDA approval requires the subroissif extensive preclinical and clinical data angporting information to the FDA for each
therapeutic indication to establish the productidaie's safety and efficacy. Securing FDA appreist requires the submission of
information about the product manufacturing prodesand inspection of manufacturing facilities thye FDA. Our future products may not be
effective, may be only moderately effective or npagve to have undesirable or unintended side efféaxicities or other characteristics that
may preclude our obtaining regulatory approvalrevpnt or limit commercial use.

Our product candidates may fail to obtaigulatory approval for many reasons, including:

. our failure to demonstrate to the satisfactibthe FDA or comparable regulatory authorities th@roduct candidate is safe and
effective for a particular indication;

. the results of clinical trials may not meet teeel of statistical significance required by tHeA-or comparable regulatory
authorities for approval;

. our inability to demonstrate that a product cangigabenefits outweigh its risks;
. our inability to demonstrate that the product cdatk is at least as effective as existing therapies
. the FDA's or comparable regulatory authoritiesadisement with the manner in which we interpretdiga from preclinical

studies or clinical trials;

. the FDA's or comparable regulatory authoritiesure to approve the manufacturing processedjtgjyaocedures or
manufacturing facilities of third party manufactgavith which we contract for clinical or commeicsapplies; and

. a change in the approval policies or regulationthefFDA or comparable regulatory authorities change in the laws
governing the approval process.

The process of obtaining regulatory appi®isexpensive, often takes many years, if apgrisvabtained at all, and can vary substantially
based upon a variety of factors, including the hymenplexity and novelty of the product candidate®lved. Changes in regulatory approval
policies during the development period, changes ithe enactment of additional statutes or reguiati or changes in regulatory review for
each submitted product application may cause détetyge approval or rejection of an applicationeT¥DA and norild.S. regulatory authoritie
have substantial discretion in the approval proe@ssmay refuse to accept any application or maiddehat our data is insufficient for
approval and require additional preclinical, cladior other studies. In addition, varying

-48-




Table of Contents

interpretations of the data obtained from precthand clinical testing could delay, limit or prewe@egulatory approval of a product candidate.
Any regulatory approval we ultimately obtain maylingited or subject to restrictions or post appia@mmitments that render the approved
product not commercially viable. Any FDA or othegulatory approval of our product candidates, ariitained, may be withdrawn, including
for failure to comply with regulatory requiremeiatsif clinical or manufacturing problems follow tral marketing. Under the terms of our
collaboration with GSK, GSK will have considerabiluence over matters relating to the submissibaroNDA for migalastat HCI in the U.:
and decision-making authority over applicationsdpproval outside the U.S. GSK will also have pryn@sponsibility for interactions with
regulatory agencies outside the U.S.

Our product candidates may cause undesirable siffeats or have other properties that could delaypevent their regulatory
approval or commercialization.

Undesirable side effects caused by ourymbdandidates could interrupt, delay or halt chhirials and could result in the denial of
regulatory approval by the FDA or other regulatanghorities for any or all targeted indicationsg amturn prevent us from commercializing
our product candidates and generating revenuestfiemsale. In addition, if any of our product datates receive marketing approval and we
or others later identify undesirable side effeetssed by the product:

. regulatory authorities may require the additiomedtrictive labeling statements;
. regulatory authorities may withdraw their approofithe product; and
. we may be required to change the way the prodwdnsinistered or conduct additional clinical trials

Any of these events could prevent us fraimieving or maintaining market acceptance of tliecéd product or could substantially
increase the costs and expenses of commercializengroduct candidate, which in turn could delapmvent us from generating significant
revenues from its sale or adversely affect our tagjmn.

We may not be able to obtain orphan drug exclugivibr our product candidates. If our competitors@mble to obtain orphan drug
exclusivity for their products that are the sameudy as our product candidates, we may not be abladawge competing products
approved by the applicable regulatory authority farsignificant period of time.

Regulatory authorities in some jurisdicipmcluding the U.S. and Europe, may designatggifor relatively small patient populations as
orphan drugs. We obtained orphan drug designafionsthe FDA for migalastat HCI for the treatmehfabry disease on February 25, 2004,
for the active ingredient in afegostat tartratetfar treatment of Gaucher disease on January 08, 2@d for AT2220 for the treatment of
Pompe disease on June 18, 2007. We also obtaipadromedicinal product designation in the EU fogatastat HCI on May 22, 2006 and for
afegostat tartrate on October 23, 2007. We antieifiling for orphan drug designation in the EU 8972220 for the treatment of Pompe
disease. Generally, if a product with an orphamydtesignation subsequently receives the first nieadg@pproval for the indication for which
has such designation, the product is entitledgeraod of marketing exclusivity, which precludes #ipplicable regulatory authority from
approving another marketing application for the satrug for that time period. The applicable pei®d years in the U.S. and 10 years in
Europe. For a drug composed of small moleculesi-bw defines "same drug" as a drug that contaiassttime active molecule and is intendec
for the same use. Obtaining orphan drug exclusfeitymigalastat HCI and afegostat tartrate mayniygartant to each of the product candidz
success. Even if we obtain orphan drug exclusfaityour products, we may not be able to maintaifrdr example, if a competitive product
that is the same drug as our product candidateoss to be clinically superior to our product catate, any orphan drug exclusivity we
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have obtained will not block the approval of suomeetitive product and we may effectively lose wiad previously been orphan drug
exclusivity.

Any product for which we obtain marketing approvebuld be subject to restrictions or withdrawal frothe market and we may be
subject to penalties if we fail to comply with relgtory requirements or if we experience unanticiat problems with our products,
when and if any of them are approved.

Any product for which we obtain marketirgpaoval, along with the manufacturing processest ppproval clinical data, labeling,
advertising and promotional activities for suchduret, will be subject to continual requirementsnél review by the FDA and comparable
regulatory authorities. These requirements inclidemissions of safety and other post marketingim&tion and reports, registration
requirements, cGMP requirements relating to qualitytrol, quality assurance and corresponding reaarice of records and documents,
requirements regarding the distribution of sampdgshysicians and recordkeeping. Even if we obtagulatory approval of a product, the
approval may be subject to limitations on the iatc uses for which the product may be marketed thre conditions of approval, or contain
requirements for costly post marketing testing sundeillance to monitor the safety or efficacy lod fproduct. We also may be subject to state
laws and registration requirements covering theitdigion of our products. Later discovery of prawsly unknown problems with our produc
manufacturers or manufacturing processes, or &atlmcomply with regulatory requirements, may resuéctions such as:

. restrictions on such products, manufacturers@nufacturing processes;

. warning letters;

. withdrawal of the products from the market;

. refusal to approve pending applications or seipints to approved applications that we submit;

. voluntary or mandatory recall;

. fines;

. suspension or withdrawal of regulatory approvaleefusal to approve pending applications or supplesto approved

applications that we submit;

. refusal to permit the import or export of our prothy

. product seizure or detentions;

. injunctions or the imposition of civil or crimah penalties; and
. adverse publicity.

If we, or our suppliers, third party comti@rs, clinical investigators or collaborators si@wv to adapt, or are unable to adapt, to changes |
existing regulatory requirements or adoption of megulatory requirements or policies, we or outatmrators may lose marketing approval
for our products when and if any of them are appdpvesulting in decreased revenue from milestqresluct sales or royalties.

Failure to obtain regulatory approval in internatioal jurisdictions would prevent us from marketinguo products abroad.

We intend to have our products marketedidatthe U.S which, for migalastat HCI, will be édny GSK, if ever. In order to market our
products in the EU and many other jurisdictions,mest obtain separate regulatory approvals and lyowith numerous and varying
regulatory requirements. The approval procedureg among countries and can involve additional testind clinical trials. The time required
to obtain approval may differ from that requiredtatain FDA approval. The
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regulatory approval process outside the U.S. malyde all of the risks associated with obtaining®&pproval. In addition, in many countries
outside the U.S., it is required that the produchpproved for reimbursement by government-backadthrcare regulators or insurance
providers before the product can be approved flerieahat country. We may not obtain approvalsrfnegulatory authorities outside the U.S.
on a timely basis, if at all. Approval by the FDAea$ not ensure approval by regulatory authoritiestier countries or jurisdictions, and
approval by one regulatory authority outside th8.Wloes not ensure approval by regulatory autkeriti other countries or jurisdictions or by
the FDA. We may not be able to file for regulatapprovals and may not receive necessary appravalsmmercialize our products in any
market. Under the terms of our collaboration witBkG GSK will have considerable influence and decishaking authority over matters
relating to the submission of applications for apwai of migalastat HCI outside the U.S. GSK wi@have primary responsibility for
interactions with regulatory agencies outside th®.We, therefore, are heavily reliant on GSK Far prosecution of such applications.

Risks Related to Employee Matters

Our future success depends on our ability to retaiar Chief Executive Officer and other key executivand to attract, retain and
motivate qualified personnel.

We are highly dependent on John F. Crowdey,Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, BradleyCampbell, our Chief Business Offic
David J. Lockhart, Ph.D., our Chief Scientific @#r, Pol F. Boudes, M.D., our Chief Medical Offiegrd William D. Baird, Ill, our Chief
Financial Officer. These executives each have sagmt pharmaceutical industry experience. Mr. degwis a commissioned officer in the U
Navy (Reserve), and he may be called to active sletyice at any time. The loss of Mr. Crowley footpacted military duty could material
adversely affect our business. The loss of theicges\of any of these executives might impede tieaement of our research, development
and commercialization objectives and materiallyeadely affect our business. We do not maintain '&sson” insurance on Mr. Crowley or
on any of our other executive officers.

Recruiting and retaining qualified scieiatitlinical and sales and marketing personnel aldb be critical to our success. In addition,
maintaining a qualified finance and legal departhighkey to our ability to meet our regulatory gfaltions as a public company and important
in any potential capital raising activities. Oudurstry has experienced a high rate of turnoveedemt years. We may not be able to attract anc
retain these personnel on acceptable terms giweodmpetition among numerous pharmaceutical artddsiaology companies for similar
personnel, particularly in New Jersey and surroog@direas. Although we believe we offer competitataries and benefits, we may have to
increase spending in order to retain personneglelfail to retain our remaining qualified personaeteplace them when they leave, we may b
unable to continue our development and commereitidiz activities.

In addition, we rely on consultants andisalss, including scientific and clinical advisots,assist us in formulating our research and
development and commercialization strategy. Ousuliants and advisors may be employed by emplatbes than us and may have
commitments under consulting or advisory contradts other entities that may limit their availabjiito us.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Our executive officers, directors and principal stcholders maintain the ability to control all matte submitted to our stockholders
for approval.

Our executive officers, directors and &ffedd stockholders beneficially own shares repitasgapproximately 56% of our common stock
as of December 31, 2012. As a result, if thesekbtaiders were to choose to act together, they wbaldble to control all matters submitted to
our stockholders for approval, as well as our menaant and affairs. For example, these personseyf thoose to act
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together, will control the election of directorsdaapproval of any merger, consolidation, sale béasubstantially all of our assets or other
business combination or reorganization. This cotmaton of voting power could delay or prevent anusition of us on terms that other
stockholders may desire. The interests of this gfustockholders may not always coincide withititerests of other stockholders, and they
may act, whether by meeting or written consentadkholders, in a manner that advances their béstdsts and not necessarily those of othe|
stockholders, including obtaining a premium valoetheir common stock, and might affect the prengimarket price for our common stock.

Provisions in our corporate charter documents andder Delaware law could make an acquisition of wghich may be beneficial to
our stockholders, more difficult and may preventetnpts by our stockholders to replace or remove ourrent management.

Provisions in our corporate charter andlylaws may discourage, delay or prevent a meegeyisition or other change in control of us
that stockholders may consider favorable, includiagsactions in which our stockholders might otlige receive a premium for their shares.
These provisions could also limit the price thakistors might be willing to pay in the future ftnvases of our common stock, thereby
depressing the market price of our common stockdutition, these provisions may frustrate or préagry attempts by our stockholders to
replace or remove our current management by makmgre difficult for stockholders to replace mengef our board of directors. Because
our board of directors is responsible for appomptimfe members of our management team, these pyosisould in turn affect any attempt by
our stockholders to replace current members ohwamagement team. Among others, these provisions:

. establish a classified board of directors, asda result, not all directors are elected at mne;t

. allow the authorized number of our directorbéochanged only by resolution of our board of does

. limit the manner in which stockholders can remadirectors from our board of directors;

. establish advance notice requirements for stolddn proposals that can be acted on at stockholéetings and nominations to

our board of directors;

. require that stockholder actions must be effectedduly called stockholder meeting and prohibitcas by our stockholders by
written consent;

. limit who may call stockholder meetings;

. authorize our board of directors to issue preféstock, without stockholder approval, which ok used to institute a "poison
pill* that would work to dilute the stock ownerstopa potential hostile acquirer, effectively pratiag acquisitions that have r
been approved by our board of directors; and

. require the approval of the holders of at least &f%e outstanding voting stock to amend or repedhin provisions of our
charter or bylaws.

Moreover, because we are incorporated laviere, we are governed by the provisions of Se@is of the Delaware General
Corporation Law, which prohibits a person who ownexcess of 15% of our outstanding voting stockfrmerging or combining with us fol
period of three years after the date of the traimam which the person acquired in excess of H%ur outstanding voting stock, unless the
merger or combination is approved in a prescribadmar.
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An active trading market for our common stock magtrbe sustained.

We completed our initial public offering efjuity securities in June 2007, and prior to safééring, there was no public market for our
common stock. Although we are listed on The NASD&Rbal Market, an active trading market for our coam stock only recently
developed and may not be sustained, especiallndhelarge percentage of our common stock heliddiglers and affiliated stockholders. If
an active market for our common stock is not sastjit may be difficult for our stockholders tdl shares without depressing the market
for our common stock.

If the price of our common stock is volatile, purakers of our common stock could incur substantiasses.

The price of our common stock is volatilbe stock market in general and the market fordsimbology companies in particular have
experienced extreme volatility that has often bemrelated to the operating performance of particttenpanies. The market price for our
common stock may be influenced by many factorduding:

. results of clinical trials of our product candidate those of our competitors;

. our entry into or the loss of a significant colladion;

. regulatory or legal developments in the U.S. aiiotountries, including changes in the health paggnent systems;

. variations in our financial results or those of gamies that are perceived to be similar to us;

. changes in the structure of healthcare paymen¢msyst

. market conditions in the pharmaceutical anddaibhology sectors and issuance of new or changenlites analysts' reports or

recommendations;

. general economic, industry and market conditions

. results of clinical trials conducted by others oags that would compete with our product candidates
. developments or disputes concerning patents or ptioprietary rights;

. public concern over our product candidates or angyicts approved in the future;

. litigation;

. acquisitions of business or assets;

. future sales or anticipated sales of our commockdty us or our stockholders; and

the other factors described in this "Risk Facteetion.

For these reasons and others potentiahpaers of our common stock should consider an imesg in our common stock as risky and
invest only if they can withstand a significantdand wide fluctuations in the marked value ofrtiraiestment.

If securities or industry analysts do not publislesearch or reports or publish unfavorable researabout our business, the price of
our common stock and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stockedes in part on the research and reports thatifeswr industry analysts publish about us o
our business. If securities or industry analystadbinitiate or continue coverage of us, the mgdirice for our common stock would be
negatively affected. In the event we obtain sei@gior industry analyst coverage, if one or morthefanalysts who covers us downgrades oul
common stock, the price of our common stock woilklely decline. If one or more of these analystssesao cover us or fails to publish regulal
reports on us, interest in the

-53-




Table of Contents
purchase of our common stock could decrease, wduahd cause the price of our common stock or tigdmlume to decline.
ltem 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.
None.
ltem 2. PROPERTIES.

We currently lease approximately 73,646asqueet of office and laboratory space in CranpNiw Jersey and 7,700 square feet of o
and laboratory space in San Diego, California undetain lease agreements. The initial term ofGhenbury, New Jersey lease runs to
February 28, 2019 and may be extended by us foatigitional five-year periods. The lease for tha B&go, California location runs until
September 2013 and may be extended by us for tditiauhl five-year periods. We believe that ourrent office and laboratory facilities are
adequate and suitable for our current and antiethaeeds.

ltem 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

We are not currently a party to any matdegal proceedings.
ltem 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.

None.
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PART Il

tem 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATEDSTOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market For Our Common Stock

Our common stock has been traded on theDWE Global Market under the symbol "FOLD" since M2y, 2007. Prior to that time,
there was no public market for our common stocle fidilowing table sets forth the range of high & closing sales prices of our common
stock as quoted on the NASDAQ Global Market forpleeiods indicated.

High Low
2012
First Quartel $ 6.8¢ $ 3.5C
Second Quarte 5.7¢€ 4,34
Third Quartel 6.51 4.7C
Fourth Quarte 6.47  2.52
High Low
2011
First Quartel $ 7.0¢ $ 4.17
Second Quarte 7.94 5.71
Third Quartel 7.71 3.5¢
Fourth Quarte 4.1t 2.1C

The closing price for our common stockegmorted by the NASDAQ Global Market on March 1, 20das $2.69 per share. As of Marcl
2013, there were 26 holders of record of our comstionk.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid any dividesrdour capital stock. We currently intend toireey future earnings to finance our rese:
and development efforts, the further developmemtusfpharmacological chaperone technology andtparesion of our business. We do not
intend to declare or pay cash dividends to ourkstolclers in the foreseeable future.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
None.
Use of Proceeds from the Sale of Registered Secig#
March 2010 Registered Direct Offering

In March 2010, we sold 4,946,524 sharesunfcommon stock and warrants to purchase 1,85484d&s of common stock in a registered
direct offering to a select group of institutiom@estors through a Registration Statement on Fex3(File No. 333-158405) that was declarec
effective by the SEC on May 27, 2009. The shareonfmon stock and warrants were sold in units stingj of one share of common stock
and one warrant to purchase 0.375 shares of comstook at a price of $3.74 per unit. The warranigehaterm of four years and are
exercisable any time on or after the six monthaensiary of the date they were issued, at an exeprise of $4.43 per share. The aggregate
offering proceeds were $18.5 million. Leerink Swai€ served as sole placement agent for the offefiollowing the sale of the common
stock and warrants, the public offering terminated.
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We paid Leerink Swann a placement ageneetpial to 5.7% of the aggregate offering procesgis;oximately $1.05 million. The net
proceeds of the offering were $17.1 million afteddcting the placement agency fee and all othenated offering expenses. No offering
expenses were paid directly or indirectly to anyuwf directors or officers (or their associatespersons owning ten percent or more of any
class of our equity securities or to any othefiatés.

As of December 31, 2012, we have used thegeds of approximately $17.1 million to furtheéwance the development of our lead
product candidate, migalastat HCI, and the congubedif certain activities required for the submissid a license application globally, as well
as for general corporate matters.

March 2012 Stock Offering

In March 2012, the Company sold 11.5 millghares of its common stock at a public offeririggpof $5.70 per share through a
Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 338405) that was declared effective by the SEC on RIBy2009. The aggregate offering
proceeds were $65.6 million. Leerink Swann LLC &uven and Company served as placement agentsfofféring.

We paid Leerink Swann LLC and Cowen and @any an underwriting fee equal to 5.0% of the agate offering proceeds,
approximately $3.3 million. The net proceeds ofdfffering were approximately $62.0 million afterdieting the underwriting fee and all otl
estimated offering expenses. No offering expense waid directly or indirectly to any of our ditecs or officers (or their associates) or
persons owning ten percent or more of any classioéquity securities or to any other affiliates.

As of December 31, 2012, approximately $4#illion in net proceeds from this stock offeriwgre maintained in money market funds
and in investment-grade, interest bearing instrumerending their use. We have used the remaimocgpds from this offering to advance the
clinical and preclinical pharmacological chaperpnegrams and for other general corporate purposes.

The foregoing represents our best estimideir use of proceeds for the period indicated.
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Performance Graph

The following performance graph shows ttaltshareholder return of an investment of $1@ham May 31, 2007, the date our common
stock first started trading on the NASDAQ Globalrkkt, for (i) our common stock, (ii) the NASDAQ Ceuwosite Index (U.S.) and (iii) the
NASDAQ Biotechnology Index as of December 31, 2(H&rsuant to applicable SEC rules, all values ass@investment of the full amou
of all dividends, however no dividends have beerladed on our common stock to date. The stockhalketern shown on the graph below is
not necessarily indicative of future performanael e do not make or endorse any predictions astoe stockholder returns.

$200

$150 //A
s —
= 2100
]

$50 \/__‘\—‘\.

5—“ T T T T T 1
B31/2007 12/31/2007 12/31/2008 12/31/2009 1213172010 12314201 1232012
—4— Amicus Therapeulics, Ing.  —— NASDAQ Composile —k— NASDAQ Biotechnology
* $100 invested on May 31, 2007 in Amicus Therapsutitc. stock or in index-including reinvestmentofidends.
5/31/2007  12/31/2007  12/31/200€ ~ 12/31/200¢  12/31/201C  12/31/2011  12/31/201Z
Amicus
Therapeutics
Inc . 10C 74 55 28 33 24 19
NASDAQ
Composite 10C 10z 61 87 10z 10C 11€
NASDAQ
Biotechnolog) 10C 10C 87 101 11€ 13C 171

The stock price performance included in this gragphot necessarily indicative of future stock priegformance.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
The Company did not purchase any sharés cbmmon stock for the three months ended DeceBhe2012.
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Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.
(in thousands except share and per share data)

Period from
February 4,
2002
Year Ended December 31 (inception) to
December 31,
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2012
Statement of
Operations Data:
Revenue
Research revent $ 12,18¢ $ 17,54 $ — % 14,79 % 1159 $ 57,49
Collaboration and
milestone revenu 2,77¢ 46,81 922 6,64( 6,82( 64,38:
Total revenue 14,96 64,35¢ 922 21,43¢ 18,41: 121,87!
Operating expense
Research and
developmen 37,76¢ 48,08: 39,04: 50,85¢ 50,27: 315,89:
General and
administrative 19,66¢ 19,97¢ 15,66( 19,88( 19,36¢ 132,61:
Restructuring charge — 1,522 — — — 1,522
Impairment of
leasehold
improvement: — — — — — 1,03(
Depreciation and
amortization 1,49 2,13: 2,05¢ 1,58¢ 1,70¢ 11,76¢
In-process research
and developmer — — — — — 41€
Total operating
expense: 58,92: 71,70¢ 56,76( 72,32: 71,34: 463,24«
Loss from
operation: (43,95¢) (7,350) (55,839) (50,88 (52,93)) (341,369
Other income
(expenses)
Interest incomt 4,81¢ 997 15€ 16C 31€ 14,38¢
Interest expens (21¢) (27¢) (260) (14¢) (89) (2,427)
Change in fair value
of warrant liability — — (1,410 2,76¢ 652 1,557
Other income — 64 1,271 70 21 252
Loss before tax
benefit (39,35%) (6,567 (56,07%) (48,047) (52,03() (327,59)
Income tax benef — — 1,13¢ 3,62¢ 3,24t 8,70¢
Net loss (39,35%) (6,567) (54,93¢) (44,417 (48,78%) (318,889
Deemed dividen — — — — — (19,429
Preferred stock
accretion — — — — — (802)
Net loss attributable t
common stockholdel  $ (39,359 $ (6,567 $ (54,930 $ (44,419 $ (48,78%) (339,11)
Net loss attributable t
common stockholder
per common share -
basic and dilute $ 175 $ 0.29) $ (1.9¢) $ (1.2¢) $ (1.07)
Weightec-average
common shares
outstanding — basic
and dilutec 22,493,80 22,624,13 27,734,79 34,569,64 45,565,21
As of December 31
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
Balance Sheet Data
Cash and cash equivalents ai
marketable securitie $ 121,12« $§ 78,22« $ 107,44 $ 55,70 $ 99,12
Working capital 110,20¢ 69,29: 93,45¢ 47,39: 95,37«
Total asset 128,77: 85,37( 112,55: 69,79t 110,08t
Total liabilities 57,73( 13,53] 47,61¢ 40,20: 40,86¢
Deficit accumulated during th
development stac (164,18) (170,75  (225,69) (270,109 (318,889
Total stockholders' equit $ 71,04 $ 71831 $ 64,93« $ 2959 $ 69,22
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ltem 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL GONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.
Overview

Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. (Amicus) is aghiarmaceutical company focused on the discovermeldpment and commercialization of
small molecule drugs known as pharmacological cluages. We are developing pharmacological chaperamegxtgeneration medicines for
range of rare and orphan diseases, with a focumproved therapies for lysosomal storage disord@s.development programs include novel
small molecules as monotherapy treatments andnbowtion with the current standard treatment faloy and other lysosomal storage
diseases, enzyme replacement therapy (ERT). Oyre€tiae-Advanced Replacement Therapy, or CHART,narog include chaperones co-
administered with currently marketed ERTS, as weglproprietary therapeutic enzymes co-formulated wir pharmacological chaperones as
next-generation ERTs. We believe that our pharnuagchl chaperone and CHART platform technologies,azlvanced product pipeline, a
strong balance sheet and our strategic collabaratith GlaxoSmithKline PLC (GSK) uniquely positiais at the forefront of developing
therapies for rare and orphan diseases.

We are developing our lead product candidaigalastat HCI for Fabry disease, in collaboratvith GSK as a monotherapy and in
combination with ERT. Current development withirr &abry program includes two monotherapy PhaseBajregistration studies for
patients with genetic mutations identified as an#o this pharmacological chaperone in a celetdasssay (Study 011 and Study 012), a
recently completed Phase 2 study investigating iasgat HCI| co-administered with currently markeEeRITs (Study 013), and the preclinical
development of migalastat HCI co-formulated witpraprietary investigational ERT.

Program Status
Migalastat HCI for Fabry Disease as a Monotherapytase 3 Global Registration Program

In Study 011, we are comparing migalasiat té placebo to potentially support the submissiba New Drug Application, or NDA, to
the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for keting approval in the United States as well asther regulatory agencies. Study 011
randomized 67 patients (24 males and 43 femalaghdsed with Fabry disease who had genetic musationsidered amenable to chaperone
monotherapy in a cell-based assay. For the 6-mdothble-blind period (Stage 1) patients were raridedchto migalastat HCI 150 mg or
placebo on an every-other-day (QOD) oral dosingdale. During the 6-12 month period of Study 01thg® 2) patients continued treatment
with migalastat HCI or switched from placebo to alastat HCI.

The primary analysis compared the numbeegionders in the migalastat HCI versus placebopyin Stage 1, based on a 50% or gr
reduction in interstitial capillary globotriaosyteenide (GL-3) as measured in kidney biopsies. Ragfisis blinded to biopsy sequence are
using the published, quantitative Barisoni Lipi@llrssion Scoring System with virtual microscopy (BS-VM)2 for the histological evaluation
of interstitial capillary GL-3 in kidney biopsiesoin baseline to month 6 Stage 1 and from basedimeanth 12 Stage 2. Secondary endpoints
for Study 011 include safety and tolerability, @i@L-3 and kidney function.

In December 2012, Amicus and GSK announapdine six-month Stage 1 results from Study Od/hile encouraging, these results did
not achieve statistical significance (p=0.3) acoaydo the pre-specified primary endpoint analyBiata from Stage 2 are anticipated in the
third quarter of 2013. A meeting with the FDA idiaipated in mid-2013 to discuss a U.S. conditicaggbroval pathway for migalastat HCI
under subpart H.

Study 012 is a randomized, open-label 18tmstudy investigating the safety and efficacynijalastat HCI (150 mg, every-other-day) to
current standard of care ERTs (Fabrazyme® and

-50-




Table of Contents

Replagal®) to support global registration. In Debem2012, this study achieved full enroliment ofp@ients, who were randomized 1.5:1 to
switch from ERT to migalastat HCI or remain on ERhe study recruited males and females with Fals®wade and genetic mutations shown
to be amenable to migalastat HCI monotherapy iellabased assay. All subjects had been receiving BRisions for a minimum of

12 months (at least 3 months at the labeled dBsg is anticipated in the second half of 2014hengrimary outcome measure, which is rena
function assessed by iohexol Glomerular FiltrafRate (GFR) at 18 months.

Migalastat HC| Combination Programs for Fabry Disea

Study 013 is an open-label Phase 2 drug-thtgraction study that evaluated the effects sihgle oral dose of migalastat HCI (150 mg or
450 mg) co-administered prior to the currently nedekl ERTs for Fabry disease (Fabrazyme® or Ref@agalmales with Fabry disease.
Results from this study presented in February 2EBonstrated an increasedinGAL A enzyme levels, the enzyme deficient in Fabry
patients, in plasma and in tissue following co-austration of migalastat HCI with ERT versus ER®rad. In addition to investigating
migalastat HCI co-administered with ERT, we araently conducting preclinical formulation and INDabling studies of intravenous
treatment of migalastat HCI co-formulated with JEPoprietary investigational recombinant huniatGAL A enzyme (JR-051). We believe
this chaperone-ERT co-formulated product has thential to enter the clinic in late 2013 or ear12.

AT2220 CHART Programs for Pompe Disease

We also continue to advance our pharmadtdbghaperone AT2220 (duvoglustat HCI) co-admenistl with the only approved ERTs
(Myozyme®/Lumizyme®) for Pompe disease. We receatijnpleted a Phase 2 safety and PK study (StudytBadinvestigated single
ascending oral doses of AT2220 (50 mg, 100 mg,r@§Pand 600 mg) co-administered with Myozyme® omiizyme® in patients with
Pompe disease. Each patient received one infu§iBR® alone, and then a single dose of AT2220puistr to the next ERT infusion. Results
from this study showed an increase in GAA enzyniwiacin plasma and muscle compared to ERT al@ased on these results, we expect tc
initiate a repeat-dose clinical study of a novélamenous formulation of AT2220 (AT2220-1V) co-adrisitered with Myozyme®/Lumizyme®
in the third quarter of 2013.

In addition, working with our contract mdacturer Laureate Pharmaceuticals, we have indida/elopment of a co-formulated product
which combines AT2220 (duvoglustat HCI) with ourroproprietary recombinant human (rh) GAA enzyme agxt-generation ERT for
Pompe disease. We believe this approach has teatj@tto improve the properties of the rhGAA enzyitself while incorporating AT2220 as
a small molecule stabilizer to increase exposudktasue uptake, and reduce immunogenicity relatveurrently marketed ERTS.

CHART Programs in Other LSDs

We also plan to continue our commitmerth®broader application of the CHART technologygmtential next-generation treatment
approach for other lysosomal storage diseaseslif.Z0ur preclinical studies include the pharmacial@igchaperones AT3375 and afegostat
tartrate (AT2101) co-administered with ERT for Gaeicdisease, and new undisclosed pharmacologieplecbnes in combination with other
ERTSs. In addition, we continue our preclinical waookinvestigate AT3375, which targets the glucobessidase (GCase) enzyme in the brain,
as a potential treatment for Parkinson's disease.

We have generated significant losses te datl expect to continue to generate losses asntimge the clinical and preclinical
development of our drug candidates. These activitie budgeted to expand over time and will reduitther resources if we are to be
successful. From our inception in

-60-




Table of Contents

February 2002 through December 31, 2012, we hawenaglated a deficit of $318.9 million. As we haw get generated commercial sales
revenue from any of our product candidates, owdswill continue and are likely to be substantidhe near term.

Collaboration with GSK

On July 17, 2012, the Company enteredtimoExpanded Collaboration Agreement with an afiliof GlaxoSmithKline PLC (GSK)
pursuant to which the Company and GSK will contitmdevelop and commercialize migalastat HCI, auttyein Phase 3 development for the
treatment of Fabry disease. The Expanded Collaboraigreement amends and replaces in its entihetyt icense and Collaboration
Agreement entered into between the Company and @SBctober 28, 2010 (the "Original Collaborationrdgment”) for the development ¢
commercialization of migalastat HCI. Under the terof the Expanded Collaboration Agreement, the Gomand GSK will co-develop all
formulations of migalastat HCI for Fabry disease]uding the development of migalastat HCI co-folaed with an investigational enzyme
replacement therapy (ERT) for Fabry disease (thefd@mulated Product") in collaboration with anatli&SK collaborator JCR
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. The Company will commeizéaall migalastat HCI products for Fabry diseasthe United States while GSK will
commercialize all such products in the rest ofitioeld.

GSK is eligible to receive U.S. regulatapproval milestones totaling $20 million for migsti HCI monotherapy and migalastat HCI for
co-administration with ERT, and additional reguigitapproval and product launch milestone paymerigding up to $35 million within seven
years following the launch of the -formulated Product. The Company will also be resilale for certain pass-through milestone payments
and single-digit royalties on the net U.S. salethefCo-formulated Product that GSK must pay toir tparty. In addition, the Company is no
longer eligible to receive any milestones or ragalit would have been eligible to receive under@hriginal Collaboration Agreement other
than a $3.5 million clinical development milest@ehieved in the second quarter of 2012 and pai@®K to Amicus in the third quarter of
2012.

The Company and GSK will continue to jojrfiind development costs for all formulations ofjalastat HCI in accordance with agreed
upon development plans pursuant to which the Cosnpad GSK will fund 25% and 75% of such costs, eetipely, for the monotherapy and
co-administration development of migalastat HCltfe remainder of 2012 and will fund 40% and 608spectively, thereafter. Effective upon
entry into the Expanded Collaboration Agreemensicfor the development of the Co-formulated Prodoe also split 40% and 60% between
Amicus and GSK, respectively.

Additionally, simultaneous with entry inttee Expanded Collaboration Agreement, the Compandy@&SK entered into a Stock Purchase
Agreement pursuant to which GSK purchased appraei;a.9 million shares of Amicus common stock aftige of $6.30 per share. The total
value of this equity investment to the Companypigraximately $18.6 million and changes GSK's owhigrposition in the Company to 19.€
GSK previously purchased approximately 6.9 millgtrares of our common stock at a price of $4.5&pare for a total equity investment of
approximately $31 million in connection with entngo the Original Collaboration Agreement.

Other Potential Alliances and Collaborations

We continually evaluate other potentialaobrations and business development opporturfiegswvould bolster our ability to develop
therapies for rare and orphan diseases includieging agreements and acquisitions of businesskeassets. We believe such opportunities
may be important to the advancement of our cuperduct candidate pipeline, the expansion of theeli@ment of our current technology,
gaining access to new technologies and in our foamgtion from a development stage company to ancerial biotechnology company.
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Financial Operations Overview
Revenue

Under the Original License and Collabonatfggreement, GSK paid us an initial, non-refunddigiense fee of $30 million and a premium
of $3.2 million related to GSK's purchase of aniggmvestment in Amicus which was being recogniasdCollaboration and Milestone
Revenue on a straight-line basis over the developperiod. In addition, in June 2012, we recogniaekB.5 million payment for a clinical
development milestone as Collaboration and Milest@evenue. For the years ended December 31, 2@12041, we recognized $6.8 million
and $6.6 million, respectively, as Collaboration &filestone Revenue.

The reimbursements for research and dexedop costs under the Original License and CollaimraAgreement that met the criteria for
revenue recognition were recognized as ResearcariRev For the years ended December 31, 2012 ard @@lrecognized $11.6 million and
$14.8 million, respectively, as Research Revenue.

On July 17, 2012, we entered into the ExdeanCollaboration Agreement with GSK. Due to a gjgaim the accounting for revenue
recognition for the Expanded Collaboration Agreemalhrevenue recognition will be suspended uhgl total arrangement consideration
becomes fixed and determinable. Starting on Ju)2QT2, any payments received from GSK are recoagdetkferred reimbursements on the
balance sheet. In addition, future milestone paymer may pay GSK will be applied against the badaof this deferred reimbursements
account. Revenue recognition would resume oncéothkarrangement consideration becomes fixed aberishinable which would occur when
the balance of the deferred reimbursements acésusutficient to cover all the remaining contingemtestone payments due to GSK. As a
result, we no longer recognize any revenue refmd&tbllaboration and Milestone Revenue or ReseBmfenue as of the date of the Expande
Collaboration Agreement. There is no cash effethisfchange in accounting, and there is no scemdrere Amicus would have to refund any
of the upfront payment, milestone payments, orardereimbursement payments.

Research and Development Expenses

We expect to continue to incur substaméabarch and development expenses as we continle®etop our product candidates and
explore new uses for our pharmacological chapetectenology. However, we will share future reseamctl development costs related to
migalastat HCI with GSK in accordance with the Exgbed Collaboration Agreement. Research and developexpense consists of:

. internal costs associated with our research anitalidevelopment activities;

. payments we make to third party contract researghrozations, contract manufacturers, investigadites, and consultants;

. technology license costs;

. manufacturing development costs;

. personnel related expenses, including salaresefits, travel, and related costs for the persbimwolved in drug discovery and

development;

. activities relating to regulatory filings and thdvancement of our product candidates through prieeli studies and clinical
trials; and
. facilities and other allocated expenses, whichuideldirect and allocated expenses for rent, facilidintenance, as well as

laboratory and other supplies.
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We have multiple research and developmmjegts ongoing at any one time. We utilize oueinal resources, employees and
infrastructure across multiple projects. We recamd maintain information regarding external, oupotket research and development
expenses on a project specific basis.

We expense research and development costswrred, including payments made to date undelicense agreements. We believe that
significant investment in product development toenpetitive necessity and plan to continue thegestments in order to realize the potential
of our product candidates. From our inception ibrdary 2002 through December 31, 2012, we haveriaeduesearch and development
expense in the aggregate of $315.9 million.

The following table summarizes our printipaduct development projects through DecembeR812, including the related stages of
development for each project, and the out-of-pqakétd party expenses incurred with respect tdgaoject (in thousands):

Period from
February 4, 2002
(Inception) to

Years Ended December 31 December 31,

2010 2011 2012 2012
Projects
Third party direct project expens
Monc-therapy Studie
Migalastat HCI (Fabry Disease —
Phase 3 11,95¢ $ 19,30 $ 14,71¢ $ 80,05:
Afegostat tartrate (Gaucher Disease —
Phase 2* 362 (112 18€ 26,30:
AT2220 (Pompe Disea— Phase 2 23€ 10¢ 9 13,25
Combination Studie
Migalastat HCI Co-Administration (Fabi
Disease— Phase 2 11z 1,08: 2,23t 3,43(
Migalastat HCI Co-Formulation (Fabry
Disease— Preclinical) — — 454 454
Afegostat tartrate Co-Administration
(Gaucher Diseas— Preclinical) 27 7 — 34
AT2220 Co-Administration (Pompe
Disease— Phase 2 73 1,647 2,361 4,12¢
Neurodegenerative Diseases (Preclini 784 2,21( 417 9,02¢
Total third party direct project expens 13,55( 24,24¢ 20,38t 136,67¢
Other project costé)
Personnel cos! 16,67: 18,81 21,08¢ 114,33
Other cost$?) 8,821 7,79: 8,801 64,87¢
Total other project cos 25,49: 26,60 29,88 179,21!
Total research and development c $ 39,04 $ 50,85¢ $ 50,27: $ 315,89:

(1)  Other project costs are leveraged across multigegts.
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(2 Other costs include facility, supply, overhead, &oehsing costs that support multiple projects.

* We do not plan to advance our afegostat tartrateoth@rapy program into Phase 3 development atithes

The successful development of our prodant@ates is highly uncertain. At this time, wermatreasonably estimate or know the nature,
timing and costs of the efforts that will be nee@ggdo complete the remainder of the developmewuofproduct candidates. As a result, we ar
not able to reasonably estimate the period, if anwhich material net cash inflows may commenoanfiour product candidates, including
migalastat HCI or any of our other preclinical puoticandidates. This uncertainty is due to the mooserisks and uncertainties associated wit
the conduct, duration and cost of clinical triajch vary significantly over the life of a projeas$ a result of evolving events during clinical
development, including:

. the number of clinical sites included in thalsi

. the length of time required to enroll suitab&tients;

. the number of patients that ultimately participatéhe trials;

. the results of our clinical trials; and

. any mandate by the FDA or other regulatory authddtconduct clinical trials beyond those curremthticipated.

Our expenditures are subject to additiamalertainties, including the terms and timing @fulatory approvals, and the expense of filing,
prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patemnslar other intellectual property rights. We mdain unexpected results from our clinical
trials. We may elect to discontinue, delay or mpdifnical trials of some product candidates ord®on others. In addition, GSK has
considerable influence over and decision-makingearity related to our migalastat HCI program. A e in the outcome of any of the
foregoing variables with respect to the developnoéat product candidate could mean a significaage in the costs and timing associated
with the development, regulatory approval and coneciabéization of that product candidate. For examlthe FDA or other regulatory
authorities were to require us to conduct clintdalls beyond those which we currently anticipateif we experience significant delays in
enrollment in any of our clinical trials, we coldé required to expend significant additional finahcesources and time on the completion of
clinical development. Drug development may takeesgiwears and millions of dollars in developmeutts.

General and Administrative Expense

General and administrative expense congistzarily of salaries and other related costsluding stock-based compensation expense, fol
persons serving in our executive, finance, accagntegal, information technology and human resedunctions. Other general and
administrative expense includes facility-relatedtsaot otherwise included in research, and dewsdmp expense, promotional expenses, cost
associated with industry and trade shows, and psafeal fees for legal services, including patefated expense and accounting services.
From our inception in February 2002 through Decen®ie 2012, we spent $132.6 million on general adehinistrative expense.

Interest Income and Interest Expense

Interest income consists of interest eawredur cash and cash equivalents and marketatleises. Interest expense consists of interest
incurred on our capital lease facility and our @guént financing agreements.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgmeats and Estimates

The discussion and analysis of our findrmadition and results of operations are baseduwifinancial statements, which we have
prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accegtedunting principles (U.S. GAAP). The preparatidthese financial statements requires
us to make estimates and assumptions that affecetforted amounts of assets and liabilities aaedlibclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statementswell as the reported revenues and expensigdhe reporting periods. On an ongoing bz
we evaluate our estimates and judgments, incluttioge described in greater detail below. We basestimates on historical experience and
on various other factors that we believe are regslenunder the circumstances, the results of wisich the basis for making judgments about
the carrying value of assets and liabilities ttratrzot readily apparent from other sources. Aatesiliits may differ from these estimates under
different assumptions or conditions. We believe tha following discussion represents our crit@atounting policies.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when amounts arezezhbir realizable and earned. Revenue is consideatidable and earned when the follow
criteria are met: (1) persuasive evidence of aangement exists; (2) delivery has occurred or sesvhave been rendered; (3) the price is fixe
or determinable; and (4) collection of the amouhis are reasonably assured.

In multiple element arrangements, revesualocated to each separate unit of accountingeant deliverable in an arrangement is
evaluated to determine whether it represents sepandts of accounting. A deliverable constituteseparate unit of accounting when it has
standalone value and there is no general righatafm for the delivered elements. In instances wheraforementioned criteria are not met, the
deliverable is combined with the undelivered eletsamd the allocation of the arrangement consieraind revenue recognition is
determined for the combined unit as a single uinétcoounting. Allocation of the consideration igetenined at arrangement inception on the
basis of each unit's relative selling price. Irntamses where there is determined to be a singteofiaccounting, the total consideration is
applied as revenue for the single unit of accognéind is recognized over the period of inceptionugh the date where the last deliverable
within the single unit of accounting is expected&delivered.

Our current revenue recognition policiebjol were applied in fiscal 2010, provide that, wizecollaboration arrangement contains
multiple deliverables, such as license and reseandhdevelopment services, we allocate revenuadi geparate unit of accounting based on
selling price hierarchy. The selling price hierarébr a deliverable is based on: (i) its vendorcifie objective evidence (VSOE) if available,
(i) third party evidence (TPE) if VSOE is not aladile, or (iii) best estimated selling price (BE$R)either VSOE nor TPE is available. We
would establish the VSOE of selling price using phiee charged for a deliverable when sold sepgratbe TPE of selling price would be
established by evaluating largely similar and icth@angeable competitor products or services in siand sales to similarly situated customers
The BESP would be established considering intdawbrs such as an internal pricing analysis onaame approach using a discounted cash
flow model.

We also consider the impact of potentitiifes payments we make in our role as a vendor t@astomers and evaluate if these potential
future payments could be a reduction of revenus fiteat customer. If the potential future paymeatthe customer are:

. a payment for an identifiable benefit, and
. the identifiable benefit is separable from the exgsrelationship between us and our customer, and
. the identifiable benefit can be obtained from aypather than the customer, and
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. the fair value of the identifiable benefit can basonably estimated,

then the payments are accounted for separatelytliemevenue received from that customer. If, haweall these criteria are not satisfied, 1
the payments are treated as a reduction of revieomethat customer.

If we determine that any potential futussyments to our customers are to be consideredextuation of revenue, we must evaluate if the
total amount of revenue to be received under trengement is fixed and determinable. If the tomabdant of revenue is not fixed and
determinable due to the uncertain nature of thergitl future payments to the customer, then asyotner payments cannot be recognized as
revenue until the total arrangement considerateEgomes fixed and determinable.

The reimbursements for research and dexedop costs under collaboration agreements that theetiteria for revenue recognition are
included in Research Revenue and the costs asseiéth these reimbursable amounts are includedsearch and development expenses.

In order to determine the revenue recogmifor contingent milestones, we evaluate the ogetit milestones using the criteria as prov
by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FA§&@yance on the milestone method of revenue retiograt the inception of a
collaboration agreement. The criteria requires: tfijptve determine if the milestone is commensuvaita either our performance to achieve the
milestone or the enhancement of value resultingp foorr activities to achieve the milestone, (ii) thiestone be related to past performance,
and (iii) the milestone be reasonable relativelltdeliverable and payment terms of the collabaratrrangement. If these criteria are met thel
the contingent milestones can be considered asasulve milestones and will be recognized as regeénuhe period that the milestone is
achieved.

Accrued Expenses

When we are required to estimate accrupemrses because we have not yet been invoiced emasie notified of actual cost, we identify
services that have been performed on our behaltatichate the level of service performed and tisecated cost incurred. The majority of
service providers invoice us monthly in arrearssienvices performed. We make estimates of our adoeMpenses as of each balance shee
in our financial statements based on facts andicistances known to us. Examples of estimated ad@xggenses include:

. fees owed to contract research organizations in@ection with preclinical and toxicology studies attidical trials;
. fees owed to investigative sites in connection withical trials;

. fees owed to contract manufacturers in conneatiith the production of clinical trial materials;

. fees owed for professional services, and

. unpaid salaries, wages and benefits.

Stock-Based Compensation

In accordance with the applicable guidamemeasure stock-based compensation at a faie vathich is determined by measuring the
cost of employee services received in exchangarf@award of equity instruments based upon the giaetfair value of the award. We chose
the "straight-line" attribution method for alloaagi compensation costs and recognized the fair \vafleach stock option on a straight-line basi
over the vesting period of the related awards.
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The following table summarizes the stockipensation expense recognized in the income statginamillions):

Years Ended December 31

2010 2011 2012

Stock compensation expense recognize:
Research and development expe $ 26 $2¢ $ 3¢
General and administrative expel 3.6 5.€ 2.€
Total stock compensation expetr $62 $87 $ 6.2

We use the Black-Scholes option pricing elaghen estimating the value for stock-based awasde of a valuation model requires
management to make certain assumptions with retpseiected model inputs. Expected volatility wakulated based on a blended weighte
average of historical information of our stock dhe weighted average of historical information iafiar public entities for which historical
information was available. We will continue to wsblended weighted average approach using our éstorical volatility and other similar
public entity volatility information until our histical volatility is relevant to measure expectedhuility for future option grants. The average
expected life was determined using a "simplifiedthod of estimating the expected exercise termwisithe mid-point between the vesting
date and the end of the contractual term. As aakgprice volatility has been over 75% and we hexgerienced significant business
transactions (Shire and GSK collaborations), weebelthat we do not have sufficient reliable exegaata in order to justify a change from the
use of the "simplified" method of estimating thepegted exercise term of employee stock option grdrite risk-free interest rate is based on
U.S. Treasury, zero-coupon issues with a remaiténg equal to the expected life assumed at theadaeant. Forfeitures are estimated based
on expected turnover as well as a historical amabfsactual option forfeitures. The weighted agerassumptions used in the Black-Scholes
option pricing model are as follows:

Years Ended December 31

2010 2011 2012
Expected stock price volatilit 80.5% 78.6% 77.2%
Risk free interest raf 2.4% 2.C% 0.8%
Expected life of options (year 6.2% 6.2F 6.2t
Expected annual dividend per sh $ 0.0 $ 0.0C $ 0.0C

The weighted-average grant-date fair valereshare of options granted during 2010, 2011281@ were $2.09, $4.11 and $3.31,
respectively.

Warrants

The warrants issued in connection withMarch 2010 registered direct offering are clasdifis a liability. The fair value of the warrant
liability is evaluated at each balance sheet dsiteguthe Black-Scholes valuation model. This magbels inputs such as the underlying price of
the shares issued when the warrant is exerciséatjlitg, risk free interest rate and expected bfethe instrument. Any changes in the fair vi
of the warrants liability is recognized in the colidated statement of
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operations. The weighted average assumptions nsbé Black-Scholes valuation model for the wasdat December 31, 2011 and 2012 are
as follows:

December 31 December 31

2011 2012
Expected stock price volatilit 67.2% 93.2%
Risk free interest rai 0.28% 0.17%
Expected life of warrants (yeai 2.17 1.17
Expected annual dividend per sh $ 0.0C $ 0.0c

During 2012 there were approximately 0.8iomn warrants exercised and for the year endedebdaer 31, 2012, we recorded a gain of
$0.7 million due to the change in the fair valueha warrant liability. The resulting fair value thie warrant liability at December 31, 2012 was
$0.9 million.

Basic and Diluted Net Loss Attributable to Common $ckholders per Common Share

We calculated net loss per share as a mexasat of our performance while giving effect tbdalutive potential common shares that were
outstanding during the reporting period. We ha@tlass for all periods presented; accordingly,itittusion of common stock options and
warrants would be anti-dilutive. Therefore, the giged average shares used to calculate both basidilated earnings per share are the same

The following table provides a reconciliatiof the numerator and denominator used in comguttasic and diluted net loss attributable to
common stockholders per common share (in thousaxcpt share amounts):

Years Ended December 31
2010 2011 2012

Historical
Numerator:
Net loss attributable to commc
stockholders $ (54,936 $ (44,417 $ (48,78%)

Denominator
Weighted average common
shares outstanding — basic
and dilutec 27,734,79 34,569,64 45,565,21

Dilutive common stock equivalents wouldluue the dilutive effect of common stock optionsl avarrants for common stock equivalents.
Potentially dilutive common stock equivalents tethhpproximately 7.0 million, 8.5 million and 9.4llian for the years ended December 31,
2010, 2011 and 2012, respectively. Potentiallytdifucommon stock equivalents were excluded froendituted earnings per share
denominator for all periods because of their aittitide effect.

Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2012 Compared to Year Efdlecember 31, 2011

Revenue. For the years ended December 31, 2012 and ¥ fecognized $6.8 million and $6.6 million, respeely, as Collaboration
and Milestone Revenue which includes a $3.5 milpagment for a clinical development milestone i120The reimbursements for research
and development costs under the Original LicenskeGoilaboration Agreement that met the criteriarfarenue recognition were recognized as
Research Revenue. For the years ended Decemb2dB3 and 2011, we recognized $11.6 million and &dillion, respectively, as Research
Revenue.
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Under the Original License and Collabonatfggreement, GSK paid us an initial, non-refunddigiense fee of $30 million and a premium
of $3.2 million related to GSK's purchase of aniggmvestment in Amicus which was being recogniasdCollaboration and Milestone
Revenue on a straight-line basis over the developperiod until entry into the Expanded CollabaratAgreement. Due to a change in the
accounting for revenue recognition for the Expan@etlaboration Agreement, all revenue recognitielated to the collaboration will be
suspended until the total arrangement consideragoomes fixed and determinable. Any paymentsveddrom GSK will be recorded as
deferred reimbursements on the balance sheetditiaad future milestone payments we may pay GSKheé applied against the balance of
this deferred reimbursements account. Revenue ng@mgwould resume once the total arrangementidenation becomes fixed and
determinable which would occur when the balanchefdeferred reimbursements account is sufficizebier all the remaining contingent
milestone payments. As a result, we no longer neizegany revenue related to Collaboration and Nbles Revenue or Research Revenue
the date of the Expanded Collaboration Agreememerd is no cash effect of this change in accounting there is no scenario where Amicus
would have to refund any of the upfront paymentesione payments, or research reimbursement pagm#iethave not generated any
commercial sales revenue since our inception.

Research and Development ExpensBesearch and development expense was $50i8miill2012 representing a decrease of
$0.6 million or 1.2% from $50.9 million in 2011. &lvariance was primarily attributable to a $2.9iorl decrease in contract manufacturing
and a $1.5 million decrease in contract researstscpartially offset by increases in personneto83$2.3 million, license fees of $0.5 million
and $0.7 million in consulting fees.

General and Administrative ExpenseGeneral and administrative expense was $19libmin 2012, a decrease of $0.5 million or 2.5%
from $19.9 million in 2011. The variance was priityadue to a decrease in personnel cost of $1.8amilvhich was related to two events in
2011: (1) additional stock option compensation esgerecognized as a result of the change in thestef the Chief Executive Officer's stock
options resulting from his resignation and subsatjteappointment to the Chief Executive Officeripor; and (2) a severance related
compensation charge of $0.6 million related tordsgnation of the former President and the vegiinys restricted stock award. In addition,
there were decreases in accounting services andgtreent fees for $0.4 million. These decreaseswpartially offset by increases of
$0.8 million in legal fees, $0.2 million in faciittosts and $0.2 million in consulting fees.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization expense was filllibn in 2012, an increase of $0.1 million or %6
from $1.6 million in 2011. The increase in depréoi@was due to assets purchased in 2012 in coonegtth the new office and laboratory
space in Cranbury, New Jersey.

Interest Income and Interest Expensénterest income was $0.3 million in 2012, acr@ase of $0.1 million or50% from $0.2 million in
2011. The increase in interest income was dueg@Werall higher average cash and investment badadcie to cash raised in our March 2012
stock the public offering. Interest expense wa4 $illion for both 2012 and 2011.

Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liability. In connection with the sale of our common stacll warrants from the registered direct
offering in March 2010, we recorded the warranta &ability at their fair value using a Black-Sdéé® model and remeasure the fair value at
each reporting date until the warrants are exedasexpired. Changes in the fair value of the aairfiability are reported in the statements of
operations as non-operating income or expensenB@012, there were approximately 0.5 million watsaexercised. For the year ended
December 31, 2012, we reported a gain of $0.7 aniltelated to the decrease in fair value of theavadiability from the year ended
December 31, 2011. The market price for our comstook has been and may continue to be volatile.
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Consequently, future fluctuations in the price of common stock may cause significant increasekeoreases in the fair value of the warrants
liability.

Other Income/Expense.Other income for the year ended December 312 2¢as $21 thousand and represents cash receoredte
sale of property, plant and equipment. Other incéon¢he year ended December 31, 2011 was $70 dimolusnder the Qualified Therapeutic
Discovery Projects tax credit and grant program.

Tax Benefit. During 2011 and 2012, we sold a portion of Mew Jersey state net operating loss carry forwandisresearch and
development credits, which resulted in the recagmibf $3.6 million and $3.2 million in income téenefits for the years ended December 31
2011 and 2012, respectively. Should the State of Bersey continue to fund this program, which isastain, the future amount of net
operating loss and research and development a@audit forwards which we may sell will depend upba &llocation among qualifying
companies of an annual pool established by the $tatlew Jersey.

Net Operating Loss Carry forwards.As of December 31, 2012, we had federal arte si@t operating loss carry forwards, or NOLS, of
approximately $154 million and $162 million, respreely. The federal carry forward will expire in 28 through 2032. Most of the state carry
forwards generated prior to 2009 began to expi20it? and will continue to expire through 2015. Témaining state carry forwards includ
those generated from 2009 through 2012 will exjpir2028 through 2032 due to a change in the Negeyestate law regarding the net
operating loss carry forward period. Section 38thefinternal Revenue Code of 1986, as amendethiogrprovisions which limit the amount
of NOLs that companies may utilize in any one yiadhe event of cumulative changes in ownership evhree-year period in excess of 50%.
During 2012, there was no ownership change in exa&50%; therefore there was no write-down toreatizable value of the federal NOLs
subject to the 382 limitations.

Year Ended December 31, 2011 Compared to Year Erdleckmber 31, 2010

Revenue. Total revenue for the year ended December @11 2onsisted of payments received from GSK foreshdevelopment costs
for migalastat HCI (research revenue) and the neized portion of the $33.2 million upfront cash pent received from GSK (collaboration
revenue). For the year ended December 31, 201 tecagnized $6.6 million of the total upfront coreiation as Collaboration Revenue,
compared to $0.9 million in the prior year and 8ldillion of Research Revenue for reimbursed reteand development costs in 2011. We
did not recognize any Research Revenue in 2010Qvarithve not generated any commercial sales rexanoe our inception.

Research and Development ExpensBesearch and development expense was $50i6miill2011 representing an increase of
$11.9 million or 31% from $39.0 million in 2010. &lvariance was primarily attributable to a $7.4lionlincrease in contract research related
to clinical trials, a $4.5 million increase in GSKllaboration fees, and higher personnel cost2df Sillion, partially offset by a $3.0 million
decrease in license fees and $1.4 million decreas@nufacturing costs.

General and Administrative ExpenseGeneral and administrative expense was $19I@min 2011, an increase of $4.2 million or 27%
from $15.7 million in 2010. The variance was priityadue to additional stock option compensationenge recognized of $2.7 million as a
result of the change in the terms of the Chief Etge Officer's stock options resulting from hisignation and subsequent reappointment to
the Chief Executive Officer position as well assaerance related compensation charge of $0.6 militated to the resignation of our former
President and the vesting of his restricted stogkrd. In addition, there were increases in recreiitriees, professional fees, and consulting
fees of $1.0 million.
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Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization expense was illldn in 2011, a decrease of $0.5 million or 24%m
$2.1 million in 2010. The decrease in depreciatias due to a smaller depreciable asset base atribec1, 2011.

Interest Income and Interest Expensénterest income was $0.2 million in both 201#1 2010. Interest expense was $0.1 million in
2011, a decrease of $0.2 million from $0.3 millior2010.

Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liability. In connection with the sale of our common stacll warrants from the registered direct
offering in March 2010, we recorded the warranta &ability at their fair value using a Black-Sdé® model and remeasure the fair value at
each reporting date until exercised or expired.ngha in the fair value of the warrant liability asported in the statements of operations as
non-operating income or expense. For the year ebéedmber 31, 2011, we reported a gain of $2.8anillelated to the decrease in fair value
of the warrant liability from the year ended DecemB1, 2010. The market price for our common stwak been and may continue to be
volatile. Consequently, future fluctuations in firéce of our common stock may cause significantaases or decreases in the fair value of the
warrant liability.

Other Income/Expense.Other income decreased due to funds receiwed fne U.S. Treasury Department in 2010 of $1.4ionil
compared to $0.1 million in 2011 for the Qualifi€derapeutic Discovery Projects tax credit and gpragram.

Tax Benefit. During 2010 and 2011, we sold a portion of New Jersey state net operating loss carry forwandsresearch and
development credits, which resulted in the recagmiof $1.1 million and $3.6 million in income t&enefits for the years ended December 31
2010 and 2011, respectively. Should the State @f Bersey continue to fund this program, which isartain, the future amount of net
operating loss and research and development a@audit forwards which we may sell will depend upba &llocation among qualifying
companies of an annual pool established by the $fdllew Jersey.

Net Operating Loss Carry forwards.As of December 31, 2011, we had federal arne si@t operating loss carry forwards, or NOLs, of
approximately $110 million and $179 million, respreely. The federal carry forward will begin to esgin 2026 and will end in 2031. The
state carry forwards acquired prior to 2009 willjipeto expire in 2013 and will end in 2017. Sectg8? of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986
as amended, contains provisions which limit the amhof NOLs that companies may utilize in any oearyin the event of cumulative changes
in ownership over a three-year period in exce€s086. During 2011, there was no ownership changxaess of 50%; therefore there was no
write-down to net realizable value of the feder@lll¢ subject to the 382 limitations.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Source of Liquidity

As a result of our significant research dadelopment expenditures and the lack of any aorproducts to generate product sales
revenue, we have not been profitable and have g&tkoperating losses since we were incorporat@@i2. We have funded our operations
principally with $148.7 million of proceeds fromdeemable convertible preferred stock offerings, @ maillion of gross proceeds from our |
in June 2007, $18.5 million of gross proceeds foamRegistered Direct Offering in March 2010, $6million of gross proceeds from our
stock offering in March 2012, $49.9 million from &S investments in the Company in October 2010Juig 2012, and $80.0 million from
non-refundable license fees from collaborationgh&nfuture, we expect to fund our
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operations, in part, through the receipt of costrsly and milestone payments from GSK. The follgptiable summarizes our significant
funding sources as of December 31, 2012:

Approximate
Amount 1)

Funding ® Year No. Shares (in thousands)
Series A Redeemable Convertible

Preferred Stoc 2002 444 44, $ 2,50(
Series B Redeemable Convertible

Preferred Stoc 2004, 2005, 2006, 20 4,917,85: 31,18¢
Series C Redeemable Convertible

Preferred Stoc 2005, 200 5,820,02! 54,99¢
Series D Redeemable Convertible

Preferred Stoc 2006, 200 4,930,40! 60,00(
Common Stocl 2007 5,000,001 75,00(
Upfront License Fee from Shi 2007 — 50,00(
Registered Direct Offerin 201c¢ 4,946,52. 18,50(
Upfront License Fee from GS 201 — 30,00(
Common Stocl— GSK 201( 6,866,24! 31,28¢
Common Stocl 201z 11,500,00 65,55(
Common Stocl— GSK 2012 2,949,58. 18,58:

47,375,07 $ 437,60!

Q) Represents gross proceeds

(2) The Series A, B, C and D Redeemable ConvertibleeRezl Stock was converted to common stock upomrfteetivenes
of our IPO

In addition, in conjunction with the GSKlledboration agreement, we received reimbursemergsdarch and development expenditures
from the date of the agreement (October 28, 2i@ugh December 31, 2012 of $23.9 million. We atsteived $31.1 million in
reimbursement of research and development expeasdiftom the Shire collaboration from the datehef agreement (November 7, 2007)
through year end 2009.

As of December 31, 2012, we had cash asld equivalents and marketable securities of $98libm We invest cash in excess of our
immediate requirements with regard to liquidity aagbital preservation in a variety of interest-figinstruments, including obligations of
U.S. government agencies and money market accahtsrever possible, we seek to minimize the paéeffects of concentration and
degrees of risk. Although we maintain cash balamg#sfinancial institutions in excess of insur@uaiits, we do not anticipate any losses with
respect to such cash balances.

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

Net cash used in operations for the yede@becember 31, 2012 was $33.7 million due prisnégithe net loss for the year ended
December 31, 2012 of $48.8 million and the changeperating assets and liabilities of $7.8 millidhe change in operating assets and
liabilities consisted of an decrease in receivalil@s GSK related to the collaboration agreemer#lo8 million; a decrease of $3.6 million in
prepaid assets primarily related to a receivaldmfthe 2011 sale of state net operating loss d¢arwards, or NOLS; an increase in deferred
reimbursements of $2.9 million due to the defeofall revenue as a result of the Expanded Collatimm Agreement with GSK; and a decre
in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $0i@mmelated to program expenses.

Net cash used in operations for the yede@becember 31, 2011 was $49.4 million due prisnégithe net loss for the year ended
December 31, 2011 of $44.4 million and the changeperating assets and liabilities of $12.5 millidhe change in operating assets and
liabilities consisted of an increase in receivalfitesn GSK related to the collaboration agreemer%0 million; an increase of
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$3.7 million in prepaid assets primarily relatedatceceivable from the sale of state net operatisg carry forwards, or NOLs; a decrease in
deferred revenue of $4.8 million related to theogggtion of the upfront payment from GSK for thdlaboration agreement; and an increase ir
accounts payable and accrued expenses of $1.4mi#lated to program expenses.

Net Cash Used in and Provided by Investing Actizti

Net cash used in investing activities fa year ended December 31, 2012 was $39.4 miNehcash used in investing activities reflects
$118.5 million for the purchase of marketable siiesrand $4.3 million for the acquisition of prafyeand equipment, partially offset by
$83.3 million for the sale and redemption of maakdg securities.

Net cash provided by investing activitiesthe year ended December 31, 2011 was $46.5omilNet cash provided by investing activi
reflects $98.5 million for the sale and redemptidmarketable securities, offset by $50.6 millian the purchase of marketable securities anc
$1.4 million for the acquisition of property anduggment.

Net Cash Provided by and Used in Financing Actiei

Net cash provided by financing activities the year ended December 31, 2012 was $81.5omélnd reflects $80.2 million in proceeds
from the issuance of common stock, $1.6 milliopafceeds from exercise of stock options, $1.0 amlin proceeds from secured loan
arrangement, partially offset by the $1.3 millionpayments of our secured loan agreement.

Net cash used in financing activities fug year ended December 31, 2011 was $0.9 millidrreffects the $1.3 million in payments of
our secured loan agreement and capital lease tibligapartially offset by $0.4 million of proceefilem exercise of stock options.

Funding Requirements

We expect to incur losses from operatiamdte foreseeable future primarily due to researahdevelopment expenses, including
expenses related to conducting clinical trials. @twre capital requirements will depend on a nundfdactors, including:

. the progress and results of our clinical trifi®ur drug candidates, including migalastat HCI;
. the continuation of our collaboration with GSKdaGSK's achievement of milestone payments thedernn
. the scope, progress, results and costs of prealidevelopment, laboratory testing and clintcialls for our product candidates

including those testing the use of pharmacologibalperones co-formulated and co-administered Wk Bnd for the treatment
of diseases of neurodegeneration;

. the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory revidwur product candidates;

. the number and development requirements of otheetymt candidates that we pursue;

. the costs of commercialization activities, inclugliproduct marketing, sales and distribution;

. the emergence of competing technologies and aiiverse market developments;

. the costs of preparing, filing and prosecutiagept applications and maintaining, enforcing aeféding intellectual property

related claims;

. the extent to which we acquire or invest in bussessproducts or technologies; and
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. our ability to establish collaborations and obtaittestone, royalty or other payments from any stmlaborators.

We do not anticipate that we will genenaeenue from commercial sales of our current progipeline until at least 2014, if at all. In the
absence of additional funding, we expect our caimign operating losses to result in increases incash used in operations over the next
several quarters and years. We believe that ostiegicash and cash equivalents and steont-investments will be sufficient to cover ousla
flow requirements into the second half of 2014.

Financial Uncertainties Related to Potential Futureayments
Milestone Payments

We have acquired rights to develop and cemaialize our product candidates through licensastgd by various parties. While our
license agreements for migalastat HCl and AT2226atacontain milestone payment obligations, twéhelse agreements related to afegostat
tartrate do require us to make such payments téicespecified pre-commercialization events octlgon the satisfaction of certain milestones
and assuming successful development of afegosteitty we may be obligated, under the agreemhbatsate have in place, to make future
milestone payments aggregating up to approxim&el9 million. However, such potential milestone p@pnts are subject to many uncertain
variables that would cause such payments, if anyaty in size.

Under the Expanded Collaboration Agreem@®&K is eligible to receive U.S. regulatory appiawdestones totaling $20 million for
migalastat HCl| monotherapy and migalastat HCI-ER-administration, and additional regulatory appt@rad product launch milestone
payments totaling up to $35 million within severasgefollowing the launch of the Co-formulated PradWe will also be responsible for
certain pass-through milestone payments and sitigieroyalties on the net U.S. sales of the Carfolated Product that GSK must pay to a
third party. In addition, we are no longer eligildereceive any milestones or royalties we wouldehlaeen eligible to receive under the Orig
Collaboration Agreement other than a $3.5 millitinical development milestone achieved in the sdagmarter of 2012 and paid by GSK tc
in the third quarter of 2012.

Royalties

Under our license agreements, if we owelt@s on net sales for one of our products to ntizaie one licensor, then we have the right to
reduce the royalties owed to one licensor for rigslpaid to another. The amount of royalties toffget is generally limited in each license
and can vary under each agreement. For migala§tbahktl AT2220, we will owe royalties only to Mt.rai School of Medicine (MSSM). We
would expect to pay royalties to all three licersswith respect to afegostat tartrate should we rrocv@ to commercialization. To date, we have
not made any royalty payments on sales of our mtsdand believe we are at least a couple years fravayselling any products that would
require us to make any such royalty payments.

In accordance with our license agreemetit MiISSM, in the third quarter of 2012, we paid $tlion of the $3.5 million milestone
payment received from GSK to MSSM. In the fourtlager of 2010, we paid $3 million of the $30 milliapfront payment received from G:
to MSSM. We will also be obligated to pay MSSM riigs on worldwide net sales of migalastat HCI.

Whether we will be obligated to make mitest or royalty payments in the future is subjed¢htsuccess of our product development
efforts and, accordingly, is inherently uncertain.
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Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our sigrafit contractual obligations and commercial committs@t December 31, 2012 and the effect
such obligations are expected to have on our liguahd cash flows in future periods (in thousands)

Less than 1-3 3-5 Over 5

Total 1 Year Years Years Years
Operating lease obligatiol $ 1050 $ 1,74¢ $ 3,17« $ 3,50/ $ 2,07¢
Debt obligation: 697 39¢ 29¢ — —
Total fixed contractual obligation§") $ 11,19¢ $ 2,147 $ 3,47: $ 3,50¢ $ 2,07F

(1)  This table does not include (a) any milestone paytmehich may become payable to third parties ufidense
agreements as the timing and likelihood of suchhgts are not known, (b) any royalty payments it tharties as the
amounts of such payments, timing and/or the likedthof such payments are not known, (¢) amoungyf that may be
committed in the future to construct additionaliliies, and (d) contracts that are entered intthmordinary course of
business which are not material in the aggregaéamynperiod presented abo

We currently lease laboratory and officacgin Cranbury, New Jersey. The initial term &f fdase, which commenced on March 1, 2
runs for seven years and may be extended for twlitiedal five-year periods. We also lease officd saboratory space in San Diego,
California, which will expire by its terms in Sepiber 2013 and may be extended for two additionalyiear periods.

In May 2009, we entered into a loan andisgcagreement with Silicon Valley Bank (SVB) thabvided for up to $4 million of
equipment financing. Borrowings under the loan agrent were collateralized by equipment purchasdi tve proceeds of the loan and
carried interest at a fixed rate of approximateéty. We entered a second loan and security agreemign®&VB in August 2011 ("2011 Loan
Agreement”) in order to finance certain capital@xgitures to be made by us in connection with eaemt move to our new corporate
headquarters. The 2011 Loan Agreement providesgdao $3 million of equipment financing through dary 2014. Borrowings under the
2011 Loan Agreement are collateralized by equipmenthased with the proceeds of the loan and Iéeneist at a variable rate of SVB
prime + 2.5%. The current SVB prime rate is 4.0%thBthe 2009 and 2011 Loan Agreements includedaméial covenant whereby the
Company maintains a minimum amount of liquidity sw&d at the end of each month where unrestri@el, cash equivalents and market
securities are greater than $20 million plus outditag debt due to SVB.

On June 28, 2011, we entered into a new@myent agreement with our chairman and chief etreewfficer, John F. Crowley, that
provides for an annual base salary, a cash bonup @f 60% of base salary, and monthly payment® @pmaximum of $1.8 million for out-of-
pocket medical expenses and the correspondingrtess-gip payments. We entered into the employmestatent upon Mr. Crowley's return
to the chief executive officer position followingoaef term as executive chairman of the CompaagnfApril 2011 through August 2011
during which time he did not serve as chief exaeutifficer. The terms of this current employmenteggnent are substantially similar to
Mr. Crowley's prior employment agreement pursuanttiich he served as chief executive officer. Nptaldr. Crowley's base salary, bonus,
severance and benefits under the current employaggaement are the same as provided under theopeeagreement The agreement will
continue for successive one-year terms until eitfagty provides written notice of termination te thther in accordance with the terms of the
agreement.

We have entered into agreements with @dimesearch organizations and other outside cdotisawho are partially responsible for
conducting and monitoring our clinical trials farradrug candidates
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including migalastat HCI. These contractual obligjad are not reflected in the table above becawsmay terminate them without penalty.

We have no other lines of credit or othemmitted sources of capital. To the extent ourtehpesources are insufficient to meet future
capital requirements, we will need to raise adddiacapital or incur indebtedness to fund our ofp@na. We cannot assure you that additional
debt or equity financing will be available on acidye terms, if at all.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We had no off-balance sheet arrangement$ Becember 31, 2011 and 2012.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2013, the FASB amended its guie to require an entity to present the effecedfain significant reclassifications out of
accumulated other comprehensive income on the cgpdine items in net income. The new accoungnglance does not change the items
that must be reported in other comprehensive inconvéhen an item of other comprehensive income meseclassified to net income. The
guidance is effective prospectively for fiscal yebeginning after December 15, 2012 and we wilidogiired to adopt these new provisions no
later than the quarter beginning January 1, 2053hA guidance requires additional presentatiop, enére will be no impact to our
consolidated results of operations or financialifpms

In June 2011, the FASB amended its guidanche presentation of comprehensive income mnfiial statements to improve the
comparability, consistency and transparency ofrfone reporting and to increase the prominencéenfi$ that are recorded in other
comprehensive income. The new accounting guidagmeines entities to report components of compratiernscome in either: (1) a
continuous statement of comprehensive income dam(@)separate but consecutive statements. Thegioogi of this guidance are effective for
fiscal years, and interim periods within those geleginning after December 15, 2011. Other thelmage in presentation, the implementa
of this accounting pronouncement did not have aratimpact on our financial statements.

In May 2011, the FASB amended the FASB Ating Standards Codification to converge thewalue measurement guidance in
U.S. GAAP and International Financial Reportingrii@rds. Some of the amendments clarify the appicatf existing fair value measuremi
requirements, while other amendments change phatipdnciples in fair value measurement guidameeddition, the amendments require
additional fair value disclosures. The amendmergsé#ective for fiscal year 2012 and should beligggprospectively. The provisions of the
amendments did not have a material impact on ousaa@ated results of operations or financial posit
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ltem 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

Market risk is the risk of change in fa#we of a financial instrument due to changes tierast rates, equity prices, creditworthiness,
financing, exchange rates or other factors. Oun@ry market risk exposure relates to changes @nést rates in our cash, cash equivalents ar
marketable securities. We place our investmenisgh-quality financial instruments, primarily monmarket funds, corporate debt securities,
asset backed securities and U.S. government agexey with maturities of less than one year, wiiehbelieve are subject to limited interest
rate and credit risk. The securities in our invesitrportfolio are not leveraged, are classified\aslable-for-sale and, due to the short-term
nature, are subject to minimal interest rate Ngk. currently do not hedge interest rate exposudecansistent with our investment policy, we
do not use derivative financial instruments in mwestment portfolio. At December 31, 2012, we H&@.1 million in cash, cash equivalents
and available for sale securities and due to thet4brm maturities of our investments, we do neltdve that a 10% change in average interes
rates would have a significant impact on our irgeiecome. As December 31, 2012, our cash, cashalquots and available for sale securities
were all due on demand or within one year. Ourtantling debt has a fixed interest rate and thesefwe have no exposure to interest rate
fluctuations.

We have operated primarily in the U.Shaligh we do conduct some clinical activities wiéimglors outside the U.S. While most expe!
are paid in U.S. dollars, there are minimal paymemade in local foreign currency. If exchange ratedergo a change of 10%, we do not
believe that it would have a material impact on saults of operations or cash flows.
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Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.

Management's Report on Consolidated Financial Stateents and
Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The management of Amicus Therapeutics,Has.prepared, and is responsible for the Compaagsolidated financial statements and
related footnotes. These consolidated financiaéstants have been prepared in conformity with ge®erally accepted accounting principles
(U.S. GAAP).

We are responsible for establishing anchta@ing adequate internal control over finanoggdarting. Internal control over financial
reporting is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(fdmulgated under the Securities Exchange AcB8#las a process designed by, or under
the supervision of the Company's principal exeeusind principal financial officers and effectedtbgy Company's board of directors,
management, and other personnel, to provide rebkoaasurance regarding the reliability of finahoéporting and the preparation of financ
statements for external purposes in accordancelWvih GAAP and includes those policies and proocesithrat:

. pertain to the maintenance of records thataseeable detail accurately and fairly reflect dams$actions and dispositions of the
assets of Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.;

. provide reasonable assurance that transactiengeorded as necessary to permit preparationarfdial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipies; and that receipts and expenditures of Amibhesapeutics, Inc. are
being made only in accordance with authorizatidne@anagement and directors of Amicus therapeutics; and

. provide reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, osa@isposition of the asse
of Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. that could have a mi@teffect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, intdroontrol over financial reporting may not prevendetect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssaubject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

We assessed the effectiveness of our iateomtrol over financial reporting as of DecemBgr 2012. In making this assessment, we use
the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsgpi®rganizations of the Treadway Commission (CO&@ternal Control — Integrated
Framework. Based on our assessment we believeathaf,December 31, 2012, our internal control divemncial reporting is effective based

on those criteria.

The effectiveness of the Company's intecoalrol over the financial reporting as of DecembE, 2012 has been audited by Ernst &
Young LLP, an independent registered public acdagrfirm, as stated in their report. This reporpegrs on page 62.

Dated March 12, 2013

/s/ JOHN F. CROWLEY /s/ WILLIAM D. BAIRD Il

Chairman and Chief Executive Offic Chief Financial Office
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.

We have audited Amicus Therapeutics, Imet&rnal control over financial reporting as ofd@enber 31, 2012, based on criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framewssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Orgaitinatof the Treadway Commission
(the COSO criteria). Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.'siagement is responsible for maintaining effectiterinal control over financial reporting,
and for its assessment of the effectiveness offriate&ontrol over financial reporting included hretaccompanying report on consolidated
financial statements and internal control overfirial reporting. Our responsibility is to expressapinion on the company's internal control
over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance withdtandards of the Public Company Accounting GQgiet8oard (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet dndbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigianternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe®is:. audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness etasting and evaluating the design and operatifegéfeness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsre®& considered necessary in the circumstancefeliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over finangigborting is a process designed to provide reddersssurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting princip
A company's internal control over financial repagtincludes those policies and procedures thatdftpin to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositions of the assdtseocfompany; (2) provide reasonable assuranc
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@anith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureh®ttbmpany are being made only in accordance witibaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabsurance regarding prevention or timely detecfainauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of the company's assets that could havaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, intdroontrol over financial reporting may not preventetect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssaubject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Amicus Therapeutics, In@imained, in all material respects, effective iin& control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2012, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance wighstndards of the Public Company Accounting Ogatd8oard (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Amicus Therapeutics(a development stage company) as of DeceBhe2012 and 2011, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehefs$s, stockholders' (deficiency) equity and dashs for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2012 and the period Felnuary 4, 2002 (inception) to December 31, 2G&Raur reported dated March 12,
2013 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/  Ernst & Young LLF

MetroPark, New Jersey
March 12, 2013
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying conseitialance sheets of Amicus Therapeutics, Inceyaldpment stage company) as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the related cdasetl statements of operations, comprehensivedtmxkholders' (deficiency) equity and
cash flows for each of the three years in the peginded December 31, 2012 and the period from Bepry 2002 (inception) to December 31,
2012. These financial statements are the respditsitfithe Company's management. Our respongjtigito express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance thighstandards of the Public Company Accounting €lgat Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &andbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit also includes assessingdbeunting principles used and significant estismatade by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement pred@riaWe believe that our audits provide a reastmbhsis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statementieneed to above present fairly, in all materialpests, the consolidated financial position of
Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. at December 31, 2012281d, and the consolidated results of its operat#omd its cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2012 anpetied from February 4, 2002 (inception) to Decentiil, 2012, in conformity with U.!
generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance wighstndards of the Public Company Accounting Ogatd8oard (United States), Amicus
Therapeutics, Inc.'s internal control over finahoéporting as of December 31, 2012, based onriaigstablished in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpng Organizations of the Treadway Commissiahaur report dated March 12, 2013
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/  ERNST & YOUNG LLF

MetroPark, New Jersey
March 12, 2013
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 31

2011 2012
Assets:
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 25666 $ 33,97
Investments in marketable securit 30,03¢ 65,15!
Receivable due from GS 5,04: 3,22¢
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 5,90z 2,27(
Total current asse 66,64¢ 104,61°
Property and equipment, less accumulated depregiatid amortizatior
of $9,507 and $8,501 at December 31, 2011 and 28%@ectively 2,43¢ 5,02¢
Other nor-current asset 70¢ 447
Total Assets $ 69,79t $ 110,08t
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expel $ 9,70¢ $ 8,84t
Current portion of deferred reimburseme 8,50¢ —
Current portion of secured loi 1,04¢ 39¢
Total current liabilities 19,25¢ 9,24:
Deferred reimbursements, less current por 18,99¢ 30,41¢
Warrant liability 1,94¢ 90¢
Secured loan, less current port — 29¢
Commitments and contingenci
Stockholders' equity
Common stock, $.01 par value, 125,000,000 shartbordzed,

34,654,206 shares issued and outstanding at Dec&¥hp2011,

49,631,672 shares issued and outstanding at Dec&hp2012 407 55€
Additional paic-in capital 299,28! 387,53¢
Accumulated other comprehensive incc 4 14
Deficit accumulated during the development st (270,109 (318,889

Total stockholders' equi 29,59 69,22(
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity $ 69,79t $ 110,08t

See accompanying notes to consolidated financssients
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Period from
February 4,
2002
Years Ended December 31 (Inception) to
December 31,
2010 2011 2012 2012
Revenue
Research revent $ — 3 14,79 $ 11,59: $ 57,49:
Collaboration and milestone
revenue 922 6,64( 6,82( 64,38:
Total revenue 922 21,43¢ 18,41: 121,87!
Operating Expense
Research and developm 39,04: 50,85¢ 50,27: 315,89:
General and administrati\ 15,66( 19,88( 19,36¢ 132,61:
Restructuring charge — — — 1,522
Impairment of leasehold
improvements — — — 1,03(
Depreciation and amortizatic 2,05¢ 1,58t 1,70t 11,76¢
In-process research and
developmen — — — 41¢
Total operating expens 56,76( 72,321 71,34 463,24«
Loss from operation (55,839 (50,887 (52,93) (341,369
Other income (expense:
Interest incom 15€ 16C 31€ 14,38¢
Interest expens (260) (14¢) (89 (2,427)
Change in fair value of warrant
liability (1,410 2,76¢ 652 1,565
Other income 1,271 70 21 252
Loss before income tax bene (56,07%) (48,04) (52,030 (327,59)
Income tax benefi 1,13¢ 3,62¢ 3,24¢ 8,70¢
Net loss (54,93¢) (44,415 (48,78%) (318,889
Deemed dividen: — — — (19,429
Preferred stock accretic — — — (802)
Net loss attributable to commu
stockholder $ (54,930 $ (44,41) $ (48,787 $ (339,11)

Net loss attributable to commu
stockholders per common share

basic and dilute: $ (1.9¢) $ (1.2 $ (2.0%)
Weighted-average common share:
outstandin¢— basic and dilute 27,734,79 34,569,64 45,565,21
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Period from
February 4,
2002
Years Ended December 31 (inception)
to December 31,
2010 2011 2012 2012
Net loss $ (54,930 $ (44,417 $ (48,78H $ (318,889
Other comprehensive income/(los
Unrealized (loss)/gain on available-femie
securities (72) 32 1C 14
Other comprehensive (loss)/income befor
income taxe: (71) 32 1C 14
Provision for income taxes related to othe
comprehensive (loss)/income iterffd — — — —
Other comprehensive (loss)/incol $ (72) $ 32 % 1C $ 14
Comprehensive los $ (55,007 $ (44,38) $ (48,77H $ (318,87)
(a8 — Taxes have not been accrued on unrealized gaseaurities as the Company is in a loss positiomalfigperiods

presented
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Balance at
February 4, 2002
(inception)
Issuance of

common stock t
a consultan
Stock issued for ir
process researc
and developmel
Deferred
compensatiol
Amortization of
deferred
compensatiol
Issuance of
warrants with
financing
arrangement
Accretion of
redeemable
convertible
preferred stoc!
Net loss

Balance at
December 31, 20(
Stock issued from

exercise of stoc
options
Deferred
compensatiol
Amortization of
deferred
compensatiol
Issuance of stock
warrants with
convertible note
Issuance of stock
options to
consultant:
Accretion of
redeemable
convertible
preferred stocl
Beneficial
conversion
feature related t
bridge financing
Net loss

Balance at
December 31, 20(
Deferred

compensatiol
Amortization of
deferred
compensatiol
Issuance of stock
options to
consultant:
Accretion of
redeemable
convertible
preferred stocl
Interest waived or
converted
convertible note
Beneficial
conversion
feature related t
bridge financinc

Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholder®eficiency)/Equity

Period from February 4, 2002 (inception) to Decembye31, 2002,

and the ten year period ended December 31, 2012

(in thousands, except share amounts)

Deficit
Accumulated Total
Common Stock Other Stockholders'
————————— Additional Comprehensive During the
Paid-In Deferred Development  (Deficiency)
Shares  Amount Capital Gain/ (Loss) Compensatior Stage Equity
= —  $ — % — % — % — 3 =
74,93¢ 6 78 — — — 84
232,26t 17 401 — — — 41¢
— — 20¢ — (209) — —
— — — — 27 — 27
— — 8 — — — 8
— — (12) — — — (12)
_ — — — — 2,779 (1,779
307,20« 23 68t — (182) (2,775 (1,249
33¢ — — — — — —
— — 14 — (14) — —
— — — — 70 — 70
— — 21C — — — 21C
— — 4 — — — 4
— — a7) — — — a7)
— — 41 — — — 41
_ _ — — — (6,76¢) (6,76%)
307,53 23 937 — (126) (8,54%) (7,709
— — 68 — (68) — —
— — — — 60 — 60
— — 16 — — — 16
— — (12¢) — — — (12¢)
— — 19¢ — — — 19¢
— — 95 — — — 95



Comprehensive
Loss:
Unrealized

holding loss

on available-

for-sale

securities
Net loss

Balance at
December 31, 20(
Stock issued from

exercise of stoc
options
Stock issued from
exercise of
warrants
Deferred
compensatiol
Amortization of
deferred
compensatiol
Non-cash charge
for stock options
to consultant:
Accretion of
redeemable
convertible
preferred stocl
Comprehensive
Loss:
Unrealized
holding loss
on available-
for-sale
securities
Net loss

Balance at
December 31, 20(

— — — ©) — — ©)
_ _ _ _ — (8,807) (8,807
307,53 23 1,18: ©) (134 (17,35() (16,287
97,15¢ 7 17 — — = 24
133,33 10 65 — — — 75
_ — 2,77¢ — (2,779 - -
_ _ — — 365 — 36
_ — 112 — — — 112
— — (139 — — — (139
_ — — 7 — — (7
_ _ — — —J (19,97:) (19,979
538,02! 40 4,01 $ (16) $ (2,547 $ (37,32) $ (35,829
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholder@eficiency) Equity
Period from February 4, 2002 (inception) to Decembye31, 2002,
and the ten year period ended December 31, 2012
(in thousands, except share amounts)

Deficit
Accumulated Total
Common Stock Additional Other During the Stockholders'
Paid-In Comprehensive Deferred Development (Deficiency)
Shares Amount Capital Gain/ (Loss) Compensation Stage Equity

Balance at
December 31,
2005 538,02! $ 40 $ 4,01¢ $ (26) $ (2,547 $ (37,32) $ (35,829
Stock issued

from
exercise of
options 265,80: 20 13¢ — — — 15¢
Stock issued
for license
payment 133,33! 10 1,21 — — — 1,22(
Reversal of
deferred
compensatic
upon
adoption of
FAS 123(R) — — (2,547) — 2,547 — —
Stock-based
compensatic 53,33! — 2,81¢ — — — 2,81¢
Issuance of
stock option
to
consultant: — — 47€ — — — 47€
Accretion of
redeemable
convertible
preferred
stock — — (15¢) — — — (159)
Reclassificatio
of warrant
liability
upon
exercise of
Series B
redeemable
convertible
preferred
stock
warrants — — 117 — — — 117
Beneficial
conversion
on issuance
of Series C
redeemable
convertible
preferred
stock — — 19,424 — — — 19,42«
Beneficial
conversion
charge
(deemed
dividend) or
issuance of
Series C
redeemable
convertible
preferred
stock — — (19,429 — — — (19,429
Comprehensiv
(Loss)/
Income:
Unrealized
holding
gain on
available-
for-sale
securities — — — 31 — — 31
Net loss — — — — — (46,34%) (46,345

Balance at
December 31



2006
Stock issued
from initial
public
offering
Stock issued
from
conversion
of preferred
shares
Stock issued
from
exercise of
stock
options, ne
Stock based
compensatic
Issuance of
stock option
to
consultant:
Accretion of
redeemable
convertible
preferred
stock
Charge for
warrant
liability
Comprehensiv
(Loss)/
Income:
Unrealized
holding
gain on
available-
for-sale
securities
Net loss

Balance at
December 31,
2007
Stock issued

from
exercise of
stock
options, ne
Stock based
compensatic
Comprehensiv
(Loss)/
Income:
Unrealized
holding
gain on
available-
for-sale
securities
Net loss

Balance at
December 31,
2008

990,49; 70 6,061 15 (83,66 (77,51
5,000,001 50 68,00 = — 68,148
16,112,72 162 148,42 — — 148,59
305,51t 3 458 = = 45¢
— — 3,82¢ — — 3,82¢

= = 162 = = 162

— — (351) — — (351)

— = 75¢ = — 75¢

— = = 392 — 39z

_ _ _ _ (41,16) (41,167
22,408,73 28t 227,43t 40¢ (124,83) 103,29
225,98 2 52¢ — — 53¢
— = 6,44¢ = — 6,44¢

— = = 128 — 128

— — — — (39,35%) (39,355
22,634,71 287 234.41. $ 533 $  (164,18) $ 71,04
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholder@eficiency) Equity
Period from February 4, 2002 (inception) to Decembe31, 2002,
and the ten year period ended December 31, 2012
(in thousands, except share amounts)

Deficit

Accumulated

Additional Other During the
Common Stack Paid-In Comprehensive Deferred Development Stockholders'
Shares Amount Capital Gain/ (Loss) Compensation Stage (Deficiency) Equity
Balance at December 31, 2C 22,634,71 % 2817 $ 234,41 $ 53: $ — $ (164,18) $ 71,04
Stock issued from exercise of stock options, 37,71¢ — 60 — — — 60
Stock based compensati — — 7,781 — — — 7,781
Comprehensive (Loss)/ Inconr
Unrealized holding loss on availa-for-sale securitie — — — (490) — — (490)
Net loss — — — — — (6,567 (6,567)
Balance at December 31, 2C 22,672,42 % 2817 $ 24225¢ $ 43 3 — $ (170,750 $ 71,83:
Stock issued from secondary offeri 4,946,52! 5C 13,78( — — — 13,83(
Stock issued from collaboration agreem 6,866,24! 6¢ 28,01« — — — 28,08!
Stock issued from exercise of stock options, 23,73t — 9 — — — 9
Stock based compensati — — 6,18¢ — — — 6,18¢
Comprehensive (Loss)/ Incorr
Unrealized holding loss on availa-for-sale securitie — — — (71) — — (71)
Net loss — — — — — (54,93¢) (54,93¢)
Balance at December 31, 2C 34,508,93 $ 40€ $ 290,24t $ (28) $ — (225,69) $ 64,93«
Stock issued from exercise of stock options, 145,27: 1 35¢ — — — 36C
Stock based compensati — — 8,67¢ — — — 8,67¢
Comprehensive (Loss)/ Incon
Unrealized holding gain on availa-for-sale securitie — — — 32 — — 32
Net loss — — — — — (44,417) (44,417)
Balance at December 31, 2C 34,654,20 $ 407 $ 299,28 $ 4 3 — 3 (270,10 $ 29,59
Stock issuer — — — — — — —
Stock issued from exercise of stock options, 436,95! 4 1,62¢ — — — 1,63(
Stock issued from exercise of warra 90,93! 1 38€ — — — 387
Stock issued from collaboration agreem 2,949,58. 2¢ 18,11: — — — 18,14(
Stock issued from public offerir 11,500,00 11t 61,94( — — — 62,05¢
Stocl-based compensatic — — 6,191 — — — 6,191
Unrealized holding gain on availa-for-sale securitie — — — 10 — — 10
Net loss — — — — — (48,78%) (48,78%)
Balance at December 31, 2C 49,631,67 $ 55¢ $ 387,53¢ $ 14 $ — 3 (318,88) $ 69,22(
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(a development stage company)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31

Period from
February 4,
2002
(Inception) to
December 31,

2010 2011 2012 2012
Operating activities
Net loss $ (54,930 $(44,41) $ (48,789 $ (318,889
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash
in operating activities
Non-cash interest expen — — — 52¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 2,05¢ 1,58t 1,70t 11,76¢
Amortization of no-cash compensatic — — — 52z
Stoclk-based compensatic 6,18¢ 8,67¢ 6,191 41,92¢
Non-cash charge for stock based compens:
issued to consultan — — — 853
Change in fair value of warrant liabili 1,41( (2,769 (65%) (1,559
Loss on disposal of ass 121 — 28 38¢
Stocl-based license payme — — — 1,22(
Impairment of leasehold improvemel — — — 1,03(
Non-cash charge for in process research ar
developmen — — — 41¢
Beneficial conversion feature related to brid
financing — — — 13t
Changes in operating assets and liabilii
Receivable due from GS — (5,04%) 1,81¢ (3,225
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 26 (3,667%) 3,63: (2,270)
Other nor-current asset 21¢ (442) 267 (46€)
Account payable and accrued exper (1,34 1,41¢ (862) 8,84¢
Deferred reimbursemen 32,27¢ (4,77¢) 2,91t 30,41¢
Net cash used in operating activit (13,989 (49,42) (33,749 (228,35)
Investing activities
Sale and redemption of marketable secur 94,60: 98,47 83,35: 755,44.
Purchases of marketable securi (113,66() (50,602 (118,459 (820,69
Purchases of property and equipm (389 (1,420 (4,329 (18,219
Net cash (used in)/provided by invest
activities (19,447 46,45 (39,43) (83,46¢)
Financing activities
Proceeds from the issuance of preferred stoc
of issuance cos — — — 143,02.
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, ne
issuance cos! 45,21 — 80,19 193,44:
Proceeds from the issuance of convertible n — — — 5,00(
Payments of capital lease obligatic (313 (40 (5,589
Payments of secured loan agreen (1,252 (1,259 (1,342 (4,056
Proceeds from exercise of stock opti 9 35¢ 1,63( 3,341
Proceeds from exercise of warrants (commor
preferred) — — — 264
Proceeds from capital asset financing
arrangemen — — — 5,611
Proceeds from secured loan agreen — — 99t 4,75:
Net cash provided by/(used in) financi
activities 43,65¢ (939 81,47¢ 345,78¢
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and
equivalents 10,23 (3,909 8,30: 33,97
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of ye
period 19,33¢  29,57: 25,66¢ —




Cash and cash equivalents at end of year/p:

Supplemental disclosures of cash flo
information

Cash paid during the period for inter

Non-cash activities

Conversion of warrants to common st

Conversion of notes payable to Series B
redeemable convertib

Conversion of preferred stock to common st

Accretion of redeemable convertible preferrec
stock

Beneficial conversion feature related to issual
of the additional issuance of Series C
redeemable convertible preferred st

$ 29,57

$ 25,66¢

$ 33,97

33,97

28C

©+ ©“ & © ©“
I
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)

Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Description of Business
Corporate Information, Status of Operations, and Magement Plans

Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. (the Company) imasrporated on February 4, 2002 in Delaware aralhiopharmaceutical company focused
on the discovery, development and commercializadfoorally-administered, small molecule drugs knaagnpharmacological chaperones, a
novel, first-in-class approach to treating a bromtye of diseases including lysosomal storage diiserand diseases of neurodegeneration. TF
Company's activities since inception have consiptattipally of raising capital, establishing fatds, and performing research and
development. Accordingly, the Company is considéoeloe in the development stage.

On July 17, 2012, the Company enteredamtédmended and Restated License and Expanded Gwltadn Agreement (the "Expanded
Collaboration Agreement") with an affiliate of GE&mithKline PLC (GSK) pursuant to which the Compang GSK will continue to develop
and commercialize migalastat HCI, currently in Rhaslevelopment for the treatment of Fabry diseHse.Expanded Collaboration
Agreement amends and replaces in its entirety ibenkse and Collaboration Agreement entered intavdsert the Company and GSK on
October 28, 2010 (the "Original Collaboration Agremt") for the development and commercializatiomafalastat HCI. Under the terms of
the Expanded Collaboration Agreement, the Compandy@&SK will co-develop all formulations of migalastHClI for Fabry disease, including
the development of migalastat HCI co-formulatechveib investigational enzyme replacement therapyl jJE& Fabry disease (the "Co-
formulated Product") in collaboration with anotl@&8K collaborator JCR Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Then@any will commercialize all
migalastat HCI products for Fabry disease in th&ddinStates while GSK will commercialize all sudlogucts in the rest of the world.

GSK is eligible to receive U.S. regulatapproval milestones totaling $20 million for migst HCI monotherapy and migalastat HCI for
co-administration with ERT, and additional regutsitapproval and product launch milestone paymenitdihg up to $35 million within seven
years following the launch of the -formulated Product. The Company will also be resilale for certain pass-through milestone payments
and single-digit royalties on the net U.S. salethefCo-formulated Product that GSK must pay toir tparty. In addition, the Company is no
longer eligible to receive any milestones or ragalit would have been eligible to receive under@riginal Collaboration Agreement other
than a $3.5 million clinical development milestawhieved in the second quarter of 2012 and paid®i{ to Amicus in the third quarter of
2012.

The Company and GSK will continue to joirfiind development costs for all formulations ofjalastat HCI in accordance with agreed
upon development plans pursuant to which the Compad GSK funded 25% and 75% of such costs, reispgtfor the monotherapy and
co-administration programs during 2012 and 40%@&0%, respectively in 2013 and beyond. Effectiverupotry into the Expanded
Collaboration Agreement, costs for the developnoétihe Co-formulated Product are also funded 40%6096 between Amicus and GSK,
respectively. Additionally, simultaneous with entnyo the Expanded Collaboration Agreement, the Gamy and GSK entered into a Stock
Purchase Agreement (the "SPA") pursuant to whick @& chased approximately 2.9 million shares of gusicommon stock at a price of
$6.30 per share. The total value of this equitestment to the Company is approximately $18.6 onillAs of December 31, 2012, GSK's
ownership position in the Company is 19.8%. GSKchased approximately 6.9 million shares for an eggte investment of approximately
$31 million in connection with entry into the Onigil Collaboration Agreement in 2010.

-88-




Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)

Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements — (Comtiied)
For further information, see "— Note 12 .ll@borative Agreements."

The Company had an accumulated deficippfaximately $318.9 million at December 31, 2018 anticipates incurring losses through
the year 2013 and beyond. The Company has noteyetrgted commercial sales revenue and has beetodbiel its operating losses to date
through the sale of its redeemable convertiblegoredl stock, issuance of convertible notes, netqeds from its initial public offering (IPO)
and subsequent stock offerings, payments from @esttiuring the terms of the collaboration agreemand other financing arrangements. In
March 2010, the Company sold 4.95 million shareissafommon stock and warrants to purchase 1.9omiflhares of common stock in a
registered direct offering to a select group ofitnional investors for net proceeds of $17.1 imill In October 2010, the Company sold
6.87 million shares of its common stock as pathefOriginal License and Collaboration Agreemenhv@SK for proceeds of $31 million. In
March 2012, the Company sold 11.5 million shareissacommon stock in a stock offering for net prede of $62.0 million. In July 2012, the
Company sold 2.9 million shares of its common s@aglpart of the Expanded Collaboration Agreemetit BiSK for proceeds of
$18.6 million. The Company believes that its ergttash and cash equivalents and short-term ineessmvill be sufficient to cover its cash
flow requirements for 2013.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financiakstents have been prepared in accordance withGQASP and include all adjustments
necessary for the fair presentation of the Compdinyancial position for the periods presented.

Consolidation

The financial statements include the act®ohAmicus Therapeutics, Inc. and its wholly owrseibsidiary, Amicus Therapeutics UK
Limited. All significant intercompany transactioasd balances are eliminated in consolidation. $hissidiary is not material to the overall
financial statements of the Company.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statementsanformity with U.S. GAAP requires management tkenastimates and assumptions that affec
the reported amounts of assets and liabilitiesdibelosure of contingent assets and liabilitiethatdate of the financial statements, and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses duengplorting periods. Actual results could differrfr those estimates.

Cash, Money Market Funds, and Marketable Securities

The Company considers all highly liquidéstments purchased with a maturity of three mouaithess at the date of acquisition, to be ¢
equivalents.

Marketable securities consist of fixed imminvestments with a maturity of greater thanghmonths and other highly liquid investments
that can be readily purchased or sold using estadli markets. These investments are classifiedagalale-for-sale and are reported at fair
value on the Company's balance sheet. Unrealiziglihlgagains and losses are reported within comprsifte income/(loss) in the statement:
comprehensive loss. Fair value is based on availabirket
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)

Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements — (Comtiied)

information including quoted market prices, brokedealer quotations or other observable inputs."Se Note 3. Cash, Money Market Funds
and Marketable Securities" for a summary of avdéldbr-sale securities as of December 31, 20122ad.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company's financial instruments thateaposed to concentration of credit risk congisharily of cash and cash equivalents and
marketable securities. The Company maintains &b ead cash equivalents in bank accounts, whidhmas, exceed federally insured limits.
The Company invests its marketable securitiesgh-gjuality commercial financial instruments. Then@any has not recognized any losses
from credit risks on such accounts during any effibriods presented. The Company believes it iexymbsed to significant credit risk on cash
and cash equivalents or its marketable securities.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at tEsst,accumulated depreciation and amortizationr&qtion is calculated over the estimated
useful lives of the respective assets, which rdraya three to five years, or the lesser of theteglanitial term of the lease or useful life for
leasehold improvements. Assets under capital legeamortized over the terms of the related leas#teir estimated useful lives, whichever
is shorter.

The initial cost of property and equipmeansists of its purchase price and any directhjbattable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended uBependitures incurred after the fixed assets leesn put into operation, such as repairs ar
maintenance, are charged to income in the peri@hinh the costs are incurred. Major replacememtgrovements and additions are
capitalized in accordance with Company policy.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company performs a review of long-liesgets for impairment when events or changesdaroistances indicate the carrying value
of such assets may not be recoverable. If an itidicaf impairment is present, the Company comp#resestimated undiscounted future cash
flows to be generated by the asset to its carrgimgunt. If the undiscounted future cash flows ass khan the carrying amount of the asset, t
Company records an impairment loss equal to thessxof the asset's carrying amount over its fdirevdl he fair value is determined based or
valuation techniques such as a comparison to &ires of similar assets or using a discounted ffashanalysis. There were no impairment
charges recognized during the years ended Dece®ih@010, 2011 and 2012.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when amewetealized or realizable and earned. Revencenisidered realizable and earned when
the following criteria are met: (1) persuasive evide of an arrangement exists; (2) delivery hasroed or services have been rendered; (3
price is fixed or determinable; and (4) collectafrthe amounts due are reasonably assured.

In multiple element arrangements, revesuslocated to each separate unit of accountingeantl deliverable in an arrangement is
evaluated to determine whether it represents stpandts of accounting. A deliverable constituteseparate unit of accounting when it has
standalone value and there is no general righttofm for the delivered elements. In instances wheraforementioned
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criteria are not met, the deliverable is combinéith the undelivered elements and the allocatiothefarrangement consideration and revenue
recognition is determined for the combined uniaaingle unit of accounting. Allocation of the cigiesation is determined at arrangement
inception on the basis of each unit's relativarsglprice. In instances where there is determindakta single unit of accounting, the total
consideration is applied as revenue for the singleof accounting and is recognized over the gkobinception through the date where the
last deliverable within the single unit of accountis expected to be delivered.

The Company's current revenue recognitaicies, which were applied in fiscal 2010, provitiat, when a collaboration arrangement
contains multiple deliverables, such as licenseraadarch and development services, the Compargatdls revenue to each separate unit of
accounting based on a selling price hierarchy. Seiéing price hierarchy for a deliverable is basedi) its vendor specific objective evidence
(VSOE) if available, (i) third party evidence (TPEVSOE is not available, or (iii) best estimateelling price (BESP) if neither VSOE nor
TPE is available. The Company would establish tB®¥ of selling price using the price charged fdeliverable when sold separately. The
TPE of selling price would be established by eviitigalargely similar and interchangeable competfitiaducts or services in standalone sales
to similarly situated customers. The BESP wouléseblished considering internal factors such d@atamal pricing analysis or an income
approach using a discounted cash flow model.

The Company also considers the impact témi@l future payments it makes in its role agador to its customers and evaluates if these
potential future payments could be a reductiores&nue from that customer. If the potential futpagments to the customer are:

. a payment for an identifiable benefit; and

. the identifiable benefit is separable from the #xgsrelationship between the Company and its enstpand
. the identifiable benefit can be obtained from aypather than the customer; and

. the Company can reasonably estimate the fair \@ltige identifiable benefit

then the payments are accounted for separate fremevenue received from that customer. If, howealéthese criteria are not satisfied, then
the payments are treated as a reduction of revieomethat customer.

If the Company determines that any potéfii@re payments to its customers are to be cemnsitlas a reduction of revenue, it must
evaluate if the total amount of revenue to be rebunder the arrangement is fixed and determin#iilee total amount of revenue is not fi
and determinable due to the uncertain nature opdhential future payments to the customer, thgncalstomer payments cannot be recognize
as revenue until the total arrangement considerdtizomes fixed and determinable.

The reimbursements for research and dewedop costs under collaboration agreements that theefiteria for revenue recognition are
included in Research Revenue and the costs asseiéth these reimbursable amounts are includedsearch and development expenses.

In order to determine the revenue recogmifor contingent milestones, the Company evaluhegontingent milestones using the criteric
as provided by the Financial Accounting StandardarBs (FASB) guidance on the milestone methodwdmee recognition at the inception of
a collaboration agreement. The criteria requires (i) the Company determines if the milestonecsimmensurate
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with either its performance to achieve the milestonthe enhancement of value resulting from thea@any's activities to achieve the
milestone, (ii) the milestone be related to pastgumance, and (iii) the milestone be reasonaliitive to all deliverable and payment terms of
the collaboration arrangement. If these criter@araet then the contingent milestones can be camgldes substantive milestones and will be
recognized as revenue in the period that the roitesis achieved.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company records certain asset anditiabalances under the fair value measurementiefised by the FASB guidance. Current
FASB fair value guidance emphasizes that fair vaduemarket-based measurement, not an entityfapewasurement. Therefore, a fair value
measurement should be determined based on the ptdsasithat market participants would use in pddine asset or liability. As a basis for
considering market participant assumptions infalue measurements, current FASB guidance establisHair value hierarchy that
distinguishes between market participant assumpti@sed on market data obtained from sources indepeof the reporting entity
(observable inputs that are classified within Levielnd 2 of the hierarchy) and the reporting ¥atdwn assumptions that market participants
assumptions would use in pricing assets or liadgdifunobservable inputs classified within Leveif 3he hierarchy).

Level 1 inputs utilize quoted prices (unest¢d) in active markets for identical assetsatilities that the Company has the ability to
access at measurement date. Level 2 inputs aresingher than quoted prices included in Level 1 #na observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly. Level 2 inputs maylude quoted prices for similar assets and litddiin active markets, as well as inputs that ar
observable for the asset or liability (other thaotgd prices), such as interest rates, foreignangh rates, and yield curves that are observabl
at commonly quoted intervals. Level 3 inputs arehservable inputs for the asset or liability, whagk typically based on an entity's own
assumptions, as there is little, if any, relatedkmactivity. In instances where the determinatibthe fair value measurement is based on
inputs from different levels of the fair value taechy, the level in the fair value hierarchy witkwhich the entire fair value measurement fal
based on the lowest level input that is signifidarthe fair value measurement in its entirety. Toenpany's assessment of the significance
particular input to the fair value measurementsrentirety requires judgment, and considers factpecific to the asset or liability.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs are expassadurred. Research and development expensiestsomsmarily of costs related to
personnel, including salaries and other persorglatad expenses, consulting fees and the costitifiess and support services used in drug
development. Assets acquired that are used foarelsand development and have no future alternatieeare expensed as in-process researc
and development.

Interest Income and Interest Expense

Interest income consists of interest eanrethe Company's cash and cash equivalents arléetable securities. Interest expense consist
of interest incurred on capital leases and secdebtl
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Other Income and Expenses

Other income includes funds received fromW.S. Treasury Department in 2010 and 2011 fQhalified Therapeutic Discovery
Projects tax credit and grant program and the gaigale of certain fixed assets in 2012. Other es@g include costs directly attributable to a
planned offering of the Company's securities thattarssubsequently withdrawn during 2006 and theskbss the disposal of certain fixed
assets.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes utigeliability method. Under this method deferreddme tax liabilities and assets are
determined based on the difference between thadiabstatement carrying amounts and tax basisséta and liabilities and for operating
losses and tax credit carry forwards, using endetedates in effect in the years in which theefi#hces are expected to reverse. A valuation
allowance is recorded if it is "more likely thanththat a portion or all of a deferred tax assdt mot be realized.

Other Comprehensive Income/ (Loss)

Components of other comprehensive incoinss) include unrealized gains and losses on dleifar-sale securities and are included in
the statements of comprehensive loss.

Leases

In the ordinary course of business, the @amy enters into lease agreements for office spaeeell as leases for certain property and
equipment. The leases have varying terms and giqrisagand have provisions to extend or renew thsdeagreement, among other terms and
conditions, as negotiated. Once the agreemeneisutad, the lease is assessed to determine whisthielase qualifies as a capital or operating
lease.

When a non-cancelable operating lease diedany fixed escalation clauses and lease inesnfior rent holidays or build-out
contributions, rent expense is recognized on dgsitdine basis over the initial term of the leashe excess between the average rental amou
charged to expense and amounts payable underabe ilerecorded in accrued expenses.

Stock-Based Compensation

At December 31, 2012, the Company had threek-based employee compensation plans, whictiemeribed more fully in "— Note 6.
Stockholders' Equity." The Company applies thealue method of measuring stock-based compensatiunh requires a public entity to
measure the cost of employee services receivexcim@ge for an award of equity instruments basetthegrant-date fair value of the award.

Basic and Diluted Net Loss Attributable to Commotogkholders per Common Share

The Company calculates net loss per stmeeraeasurement of the Company's performance wikileg effect to all dilutive potential
common shares that were outstanding during thetieaggeriod. The Company had a net loss for aflquks presented; accordingly, the
inclusion of common stock options and warrants \wdad anti-dilutive. Therefore, the weighted aversigares used to calculate both basic an
diluted earnings per share are the same.
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The following table provides a reconciliatiof the numerator and denominator used in comguttasic and diluted net loss attributable to
common stockholders per common share (in thousaxwkpt share amounts):

Years Ended December 31
2010 2011 2012

Historical
Numerator:
Net loss attributable to commiu
stockholder: $ (54,93¢) $ (44,419 $ (48,78%)

Denominator
Weighted average common shares
outstandin¢— basic and dilute 27,734,79 34,569,64 45,565,21

Dilutive common stock equivalents wouldlirde the dilutive effect of common stock optionsl avarrants for common stock equivalents.
Potentially dilutive common stock equivalents tethbpproximately 7.0 million, 8.5 million and 9.4llian for the years ended December 31,
2010, 2011 and 2012, respectively. Potentiallytdifucommon stock equivalents were excluded froendituted earnings per share
denominator for all periods because of their aittitide effect.

Dividends

The Company has not paid cash dividend$sarapital stock to date. The Company currentignids to retain its future earnings, if any, tc
fund the development and growth of the businesdaed not foresee payment of a dividend in any g fiscal period.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2013, the Financial AccountBigndards Board (the FASB) amended its guidanoegusire an entity to present the effect of
certain significant reclassifications out of accuaed other comprehensive income on the respelitieétems in net income. The new
accounting guidance does not change the itemsrthsit be reported in other comprehensive incomeharnvan item of other comprehensive
income must be reclassified to net income. Theangd is effective prospectively for fiscal yeargihaing after December 15, 2012 and the
Company will be required to adopt these new prowisino later than the quarter beginning Janua2@13. As the guidance requires additic
presentation only, there will be no impact to trmmpany's consolidated results of operations onfife position.

In June 2011, the FASB amended its guidance presentation of comprehensive income mnfiial statements to improve the
comparability, consistency and transparency ofrfoie reporting and to increase the prominencéenfis that are recorded in other
comprehensive income. The new accounting guidaemeines entities to report components of compreaherscome in either (1) a continuo
statement of comprehensive income or (2) two sépdat consecutive statements. The provisionsisfhidance are effective for fiscal years
and interim periods within those years, beginnifigrddecember 15, 2011. Other than a change ireptagon, the implementation of this
accounting pronouncement did not have a materiphohon the Company's financial statements.

In May 2011, the FASB amended the FASB Artimg Standards Codification to converge thevalue measurement guidance in
U.S. GAAP and International Financial Reportingrigtards.
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Some of the amendments clarify the applicationxidtang fair value measurement requirements, whileer amendments change particular
principles in fair value measurement guidance dditéon, the amendments require additional faiueadisclosures. The amendments are
effective for fiscal year 2012 and should be agppeospectively. The provisions of the amendmeitsidt have a material impact on the
Company's consolidated results of operations @nfiral position.

Segment Information

The Company currently operates in one lassirsegment focusing on the development and coratiation of small molecule, orally
administered therapies to treat a range of humaatgediseases. The Company is not organized bikehand is managed and operated as on
business. A single management team reports tohileé @perating decision maker who comprehensivedpages the entire business. The
Company does not operate any separate lines aidrssor separate business entities with respéstppooducts. Accordingly, the Company
does not accumulate discrete financial informatigth respect to separate service lines and doekaw@ separately reportable segments.

3. Cash, Money Market Funds and Marketable Securiis

As of December 31, 2012, the Company hail®million in cash and cash equivalents and $65liBbn of available-for-sale securities
which are reported at fair value on the Companglarre sheet. Unrealized holding gains and logsaseported within comprehensive income
(loss) in the statements of comprehensive lossdécline in the fair value of a marketable segurélow the Company's cost basis is
determined to be other than temporary, such masletecurity is written down to its estimated faifue as a new cost basis and the amount
the write-down is included in earnings as an impaint charge. To date, only temporary impairmentstdjents have been recorded.

Consistent with the Company's investmetitpothe Company does not use derivative finanicisiruments in its investment portfolio.
The Company regularly invests excess operating icadaposits with major financial institutions, neynmarket funds, notes issued by the |
government, as well as fixed income investmentsldusd bond funds both of which can be readily pasgd and sold using established
markets. The Company believes that the marketarising from its holdings of these financial instrents is mitigated as many of these
securities are either government backed or of thledst credit rating.

-95-




Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)

Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements — (Comtiied)
Cash and available for sale securitiesistats of the following as of December 31, 2011 Bredember 31, 2012 (in thousands):

As of December 31, 201

Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost Gain Loss Value
Cash balance $ 25,66¢ $ — 3 — $ 25,66¢
U.S. government agency securit 2,00( — — 2,00(
Corporate debt securitis 13,94 — (8) 13,93t
Commercial pape 13,737 12 — 13,74¢
Certificate of deposl 35( — — 35C
$ 55,69¢ $ 12 $ (8) $ 55,70:
Included in cash and cash equivale $ 25,66¢ $ — 3 — $ 25,66¢
Included in marketable securiti 30,03( 12 (8 30,03
Total cash and marketable securi $ 55,69¢ $ 12 $ (8) $ 55,70:

As of December 31, 201

Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost Gain Loss Value
Cash balance $ 3397. % — $ — $ 33,97
Corporate debt securitis 42,50: 5 (11) 42,497
Commercial pape 19,72t 19 — 19,74
Certificate of deposi 2,90¢ 1 — 2,91C
$ 99,10¢ $ 25 3 (11) $ 99,12:
Included in cash and cash equivale $ 3397. % — $ — $ 33,97
Included in marketable securiti 65,13’ 25 (1) 65,15:
Total cash and marketable securi $ 99,10¢ $ 25 % (11) $ 99,12:

All of the Company's available for saleestments as of December 31, 2011 and Decembef32,8&e due in one year or less.

Unrealized gains and losses are reportedcasnponent of other comprehensive gain/(lost)eérstatements of comprehensive loss. For
the year ended December 31, 2011 and 2012, ureddiading gains of $32 thousand and $10 thousespkctively, were included in the
statements of comprehensive loss.

For the years ended December 31, 2011 @hd, 2here were no realized gains or losses. Theatsecurities sold is based on the specifi
identification method.

Unrealized loss positions in the availdblesale securities as of December 31, 2011 aneémber 31, 2012 reflect temporary impairm:
that have been in a loss position for less thafvewaonths and as such are recognized in other r@repsive gain/(loss). The fair value of
these available for sale securities in unrealipag positions was $13.2 million and $33.1 millieo& December 31, 2011 and December 31,
2012, respectively.

-96-




Table of Contents

Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)

Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements — (Comtiied)
4. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consist of the foilg (in thousands):

December 31

2011 2012
Property and equipment consist of the followi
Computer equipmer $ 2,55¢ $ 3,39¢
Computer softwar 641 84¢
Research equipme 4,98¢ 5,801
Furniture and fixture 1,04( 1,54¢
Leasehold improvemen 2,722 1,931
11,94t 13,53(
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize (9,507 (8,50

$ 2,43t $ 5,02¢

Depreciation and amortization expense irejab the capital lease obligations was $1.7 onilland $6.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2010 and for the Period February @2 Zidception) to December 31, 2012, respectivEhere were no capital lease obligations
outstanding as of December 31, 2011 and Decembh&03?P.

5. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consist of the followiingtlfousands):

December 31

2011 2012
Accounts payabl $ 2,57¢ $ 2,11¢
Accrued professional fet 21E 40¢
Accrued contract manufacturing & contract reseaasts 3,48¢ 1,74
Accrued compensation and bene 3,16z 4,22¢
Accrued facility cost: 27 167
Accrued othe 201 182
Accrued facilities consolidatio 38 —

$ 9,70¢ $ 8,84f

6. Stockholders' Equity
Common Stock and Warrants

As of December 31, 2012, the Company wé#sagized to issue 125,000,000 shares of commork siigidends on common stock will be
paid when, and if declared by the board of directBiach holder of common stock is entitled to \aitall matters and is entitled to one vote
each share held.

During 2012, there were approximately Oibion warrants exercised in a cashless transaaimhthe resulting fair value of the warrant
liability at December 31, 2012 was $0.9 million.
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In July 2012, Amicus and GSK entered i@ $PA pursuant to which GSK purchased 2.9 millioregistered shares of Amicus commor
stock at a price of $6.30 per share. The totallmse price for these shares was $18.6 million.ddrapany received all proceeds from the sal
of such shares on July 26, 2012. As of Decembe?@12, GSK had a 19.8% ownership position in thm@any.

In March 2012, the Company sold 11.5 millghares of its common stock at a public offeririggoof $5.70 through a Registration
Statement on Form S-3 that was declared effeciivido SEC on May 27, 2009. The aggregate offernoggeds were $65.6 million.

In October 2010, GSK purchased approxirgeged million shares of the Company's common stick4.56 per share, in connection with
the Original Collaboration Agreement. The totalueabf this equity investment was approximately $8Mion.

In March 2010, the Company sold 4.9 millarares of its common stock and warrants to puecha&smillion shares of common stock i
registered direct offering to a selected groumefitutional investors through a Registration Staet on Form S-3 that was declared effective
by the SEC on May 27, 2009. The shares of comnmurk sind warrants were sold in units consistingref share of common stock and one
warrant to purchase 0.375 shares of common stoglpate of $3.74 per unit. The warrants have m tefr four years and are exercisable any
time on or after the six month anniversary of theedhey were issued, at an exercise price of $ded43hare. The aggregate offering proceeds
were $18.5 million. There were approximately 1.4liom warrants outstanding at December 31, 2012.

Stock Option Plans

In April 2002, the Company's Board of Di@s and shareholders approved the Company's 2@@R Sption Plan (the 2002 Plan). In
May 2007, the Company's Board of Directors andediaders approved the Company's 2007 Stock Optarm (fhe 2007 Plan) and 2007
Director Option Plan (the 2007 Director Plan). imd 2010, the Company's Board of Directors andestudders approved amendments to the
2007 Plan and the 2007 Director Plan. Both the Z8@& and 2007 Plan provide for the granting ofrieted stock and options to purchase
common stock in the Company to employees, advesatsconsultants at a price to be determined bZtrapany's board of directors. The
2002 Plan and the 2007 Plan are intended to engewanership of stock by employees and consultz#rttee Company and to provide
additional incentives for them to promote the sasaaf the Company's business. The Options maydeaiive stock options (1ISOs) or non-
statutory stock options (NSOs). Under the provisioheach plan, no option will have a term in excas10 years. The 2007 Director Plan is
intended to promote the recruiting and retentiohighly qualified eligible directors and strengtitbe commonality of interest between
directors and stockholders by encouraging ownemshgommon stock of the Company. The options ginteder the 2007 Director Plan are
NSOs and under the provisions of this plan, noooptill have a term in excess of 10 ye:

The Board of Directors, or its committeer@ésponsible for determining the individuals tagbanted options, the number of options each
individual will receive, the option price per shaa@ad the exercise period of each option. Optioastgd pursuant to both the 2002 Plan anc
2007 Plan generally vest 25% on the first yearamsary date of grant plus an additional 1/48thefoch month thereafter and may be exer:
in whole or in part for 100% of the shares vesteag time after the date of grant. Options under2007 Director Plan may be granted to ne\
directors upon joining the Board and vest in thsananner as options under the 2002 and 2007 Pfaaddition, options are
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automatically granted to all directors at each ahmeeting of stockholders and vest on the dateefinnual meeting of stockholders of the
Company in the year following the year during whilth options were granted.

As of December 31, 2012, there were noeshagserved for issuance under the 2002 Plan. ®hgény has reserved up to 3,277,079
shares for issuance under the 2007 Plan and theRi@éctor Plan.

The Company recognized stock-based comfiensapense of $6.2 million, $8.7 million and $énglion in 2010, 2011 and 2012,
respectively. Additional stock option compensaiopense of $2.7 million was recognized in 2011 tdwee change in the terms of the Chief
Executive Officer's stock options resulting frons hésignation and subsequent reappointment to liief Executive Officer position. The
following table summarizes information related tock compensation expense recognized in the statsméoperations (in millions):

Years Ended December 31

2010 2011 2012
Stock compensation expense recognize:
Research and development expe $ 2€ $ 29 $ 3.€
General and administrative expel 3.€ 5.8 2.€
Total stock compensation exper $ 6.2 $ 87 % 6.2

The Company adopted the fair value metHademasuring stock-based compensation, which regjaiggublic entity to measure the cost of
employee services received in exchange for an aefagduity instruments based upon the grant-déateséue of the award. The Company
chose the "straight-line" attribution method fdpahting compensation costs and recognized theéile of each stock option on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period of the relatsdras.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes optiming model when estimating the fair value forcstdbased awards. Use of a valuation
model requires management to make certain assumsptiith respect to selected model inputs. Expeotdatility was calculated based on a
blended weighted average of historical informatéithe Company's stock and the weighted averagéstdrical information of similar public
entities for which historical information was awdile. The Company will continue to use a blendeijited average approach using its own
historical volatility and other similar public etytivolatility information until the Company's histcal volatility is relevant to measure expected
volatility for future option grants. The averageegted life was determined using the "simplifiedthod of estimating the expected exercise
term which is the mid-point between the vestingedatd the end of the contractual term. As the Caorylpatock price volatility has been over
75% and it has experienced significant businesséaetions (Shire and GSK collaborations), the Commies not have sufficient reliable
exercise data in order to justify a change in the of the "simplified" method of estimating the egfed exercise term of employee stock op
grants. The risk-free interest rate is based on Tr&sury, zero-coupon issues with a remaining tgual to the expected life assumed at the
date of grant. Forfeitures are estimated basedhmtary termination behavior, as well as a his@ranalysis of actual option forfeitures.
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The weighted average assumptions useciBldick-Scholes option pricing model are as follows

Years Ended December 31

2010 2011 2012
Expected stock price volatilil 80.5% 78.€% 77.2%
Risk free interest rat 2.4% 2.C% 0.8%
Expected life of options (year 6.2 6.2 6.25
Expected annual dividend per sh $ 00C $ o00C $ o0.0C

The weighted-average grant-date fair valereshare of options granted during 2010, 2011281@ were $2.09, $4.11 and $3.31,
respectively.

The following table summarizes informatedpout stock options outstanding:

Weighted Weighted
Average Average Aggregate
Number of Exercise Remaining Intrinsic
Shares Price Contractual Life Value
(in thousands) (in thousands)

Options outstanding,

December 31, 20C 4,818.¢ $ 8.01
Grantec 788.7 $ 2.9¢
Exercisec (25.9 $ 0.64
Forfeited 4776 $ 7.9¢
Options outstanding,

December 31, 201 5,104.. $ 7.27
Grantec 2,217.( $ 5.9z
Exercisec (108.5) $ 3.8¢
Forfeited (559.) $ 7.34
Options outstanding,

December 31, 201 6,653.! $ 6.87
Grantec 2,846t $ 5.34
Exercisec (437.00 $ 3.7¢
Forfeited (1,088.9 $ 7.9t
Options outstanding,

December 31, 201 7974 $ 6.3t 7.4years $ 46.C
Vested and unvested expecte

to vest, December 31, 20 7,437.. $ 6.41 7.3years $ 46.C
Exercisable at December 31,

2012 3,955." $ 7.41 6.0 years $ 46.C

The aggregate intrinsic value of optionereised during the years ended December 31, 2@1d, 2nd 2012, was $0.1 million,
$0.3 million and $0.9 million, respectively. AsBécember 31, 2012, the total unrecognized compiensadst related to non-vested stock
options granted was $10.4 million and is expectelet recognized over a weighted average periodoj&ars. Cash proceeds from stock
options exercised during the years ended Decenthe@.0, 2011 and 2012 were $0.02 million, $0.4iomland $1.6 million respectively.

Restricted Stock Awards Restricted stock awards are granted subjectrtaineestrictions, including in some cases sereimaditions
(restricted stock). The gradate fair value of restricted stock awards, whiak heen determined based upon the market vallie @ampany’
shares on the grant date, is expensed over thagestriod.
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The following table summarizes informatmmthe Company's restricted stock:

Restricted Stock

Weighted
Number of Average Grant
Shares Date Fair Value
(in thousands)
Unvested at December 31, 2C — 3 —
Grantec 50.C $ 7.21
Vested (50.0 $ 7.21
Forfeited — 3 —
Unvested at December 31, 2C — 3 —
Grantec — 3 —
Vested — 3 —
Forfeited — 3 —
Unvested at December 31, 2C — 3 —

Upon vesting in 2011, there were 13,225eshaurrendered to fund minimum statutory tax wittlimg requirements. There were no
restricted stock awards in 2012. As of Decembe2B12, there was no unrecognized compensatiorrelased to unvested restricted stock
awards. The total fair value of restricted stoclaeig which vested during 2011 was $0.4 million.

7. Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value

The Company's financial assets and ligdliare measured at fair value and classified withe fair value hierarchy which is defined as
follows:

Level 1— Quoted prices in active markets for identicakés®r liabilities that the Company has the abilitaccess at the
measurement date.

Level 2— Inputs other than quoted prices in active markeds are observable for the asset or liabilitthesi directly or
indirectly.

Level 3— Inputs that are unobservable for the asset bilitia
Cash, Money Market Funds and Marketable Securities

The Company classifies its cash and monanket funds within the fair value hierarchy as Levas these assets are valued using quote
prices in active market for identical assets atntleasurement date. The Company considers its imeass in marketable securities as availabl
for sale and classifies these assets within tevédile hierarchy as Level 2 primarily utilizingoeer quotes in a noaetive market for valuatic
of these securities. No changes in valuation teples or inputs occurred during the year ended DeeeBil, 2012. No transfers of assets
between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value measient hierarchy occurred during the year endecidber 31, 2012.

Secured Debt

As disclosed in Note 13, the Company himaa and security agreement with Silicon Valley Bahhe carrying amount of the Company's
borrowings approximates fair value at December2812. The Company's secured debt is classifiedeasl|2 and the fair value is estimated
using quoted prices for
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similar liabilities in active markets, as well aputs that are observable for the liability (ottiean quoted prices), such as interest rates that al
observable at commonly quoted intervals.

Warrants

The Company allocated $3.3 million of prede from its March 2010 registered direct offeimgvarrants issued in connection with the
offering that was classified as a liability. Thduation of the warrants is determined using thecBi&choles model. This model uses inputs
such as the underlying price of the shares issumshwhe warrant is exercised, volatility, risk fiegerest rate and expected life of the
instrument. The Company has determined that theawliability should be classified within Levelo the fair value hierarchy by evaluating
each input for the Black-Scholes model againsfdirevalue hierarchy criteria and using the lowlesel of input as the basis for the fair value
classification. There are six inputs: closing praéémicus stock on the day of evaluation; the eiser price of the warrants; the remaining t
of the warrants; the volatility of Amicus' stockenthat term; annual rate of dividends; and thidess rate of return. Of those inputs, the
exercise price of the warrants and the remaining &re readily observable in the warrant agreemdtis annual rate of dividends is based or
the Company's historical practice of not grantingdgnds. The closing price of Amicus stock wouddl finder Level 1 of the fair value
hierarchy as it is a quoted price in an active raarkhe riskless rate of return is a Level 2 inmttile the historical volatility is a Level 3 input
in accordance with the fair value accounting gutdarsince the lowest level input is a Level 3,@wenpany determined the warrant liability is
most appropriately classified within Level 3 of tiadr value hierarchy. This liability is subject fair value mark-to-market adjustment each
period. After the exercise of approximately 0.5limil warrants in 2012, the Company recognized ti@nge in the fair value of the warrant
liability as non-operating income of $0.7 millioorfthe year ended December 31, 2012. The resd#ingalue of the warrant liability at
December 31, 2012 was $0.9 million. The weightegtaye assumptions used in the Black-Scholes vaftuaibdel for the warrants are as
follows:

December 31, 201 December 31, 201,

Expected stock price volatilit 67.2% 93.2%
Risk free interest rai 0.28% 0.17%
Expected life of warrants (yeai 2.17 1.17
Expected annual dividend per sh $ 0.0C $ 0.0c

A summary of the fair value of the Comparagsets and liabilities aggregated by the levidarfair value hierarchy within which those
measurements fall as of December 31, 2011 areifideiin the following table (in thousands):

Level 1 Level 2 Total
Assets:
Cash/Money market func $ 25,66¢ $ — $ 25,66¢
U.S. government agency securit — 2,00( 2,00(
Commercial pape — 13,74¢ 13,74¢
Corporate debt securitis — 13,93t 13,93¢
Certificate of deposi — 35C 35C

$ 25,66¢ $ 30,03¢ $ 55,70:
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Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Liabilities:
Secured dek $ — $ 104 % — $ 1,04«
Warrants liability — — 1,94¢ 1,94¢
$ — $ 1,044 $ 1,94 $ 2,99-

A summary of the fair value of the Comparagsets and liabilities aggregated by the levidarfair value hierarchy within which those
measurements fall as of December 31, 2012 areifideiin the following table (in thousands):

Level 1 Level 2 Total
Assets:
Cash/Money market func $ 33,97. $ — $ 33,97
Commercial pape — 19,74« 19,74«
Corporate debt securitis — 42,49° 42,49
Certificate of deposl — 2,91( 2,91(
$ 33,97. $ 65,15. $ 99,12;
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Liabilities:
Secured dek $ — $ 697 $ — $ 697
Warrants liability — — 90¢ 90¢
$ — $ 697 $ 90¢ $ 1,60¢

The change in the fair value of the LevéhBility was an increase of $1.4 million at Dedsen 31, 2010. The change in the fair value of
the Level 3 liability was a decrease of $2.8 millit December 31, 2011. After settlement of $0.aniupon the exercise of approximately
0.5 million warrants in 2012, the remaining chaigthe fair value of the Level 3 liability was aalease of $0.7 million at December 31, 2(

8. 401(k) Plan

The Company has a 401(k) plan (the Plaagidog all eligible employees. During 2007, the Bbaf Directors approved a company
matching program that began on January 1, 2008 n¥atehing program allows for a company match ofaup% of salary and bonus paid
during the year. The match vests in full one ye#lofving each participant's date of hire. The Conystotal contribution to the Plan was
$0.4 million, $0.6 million and $0.7 million for theears ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012 atdsgy.

9. Leases
Operating Leases

In 2011, the Company entered into a legseeament to lease approximately 73,646 squarefdaboratory and office space in Cranbury,
New Jersey. The initial term of the lease, whiclotencec
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on March 1, 2012, is for seven years and may benebetd by the Company for two additional five-yeariqds. In 2008, the Company entered
into a lease agreement for its laboratory and ef§igace in San Diego, CA, which will expire in spber 2013 and may be extended by the
Company for two additional five-year periods. Rerpenses for the Company's facilities are recognizer the term of the lease. The
Company recognizes rent starting when possessitivedécility is taken from the landlord. When ade contains a predetermined fixed
escalation of the minimum rent, the Company recoggithe related rent expense on a straight-linis bas records the difference between the
recognized rental expense and the amounts payatr the lease as deferred rent liability. Teneaséhold improvement allowances are
reflected in accrued expenses on the consolidatkethbe sheets and are amortized as a reductiemt@xpense in the statement of operations
over the term of the lease.

At December 31, 2012, aggregate annuatdutuinimum lease payments under these leases &boags (in thousands):

Operating Lease
Years ending December 2

2013 $ 1,74¢
2014 1,54(
2015 1,63¢
2016 1,73¢
2017 and beyon 3,84¢

$ 10,50:

Rent expense for the years ended Decembe@030, 2011 and 2012 were $2.3 million, $2.3iomlland $2.6 million respectively.
10. Income Taxes

In June 2006, the FASB issued a single mimdeddress accounting for uncertainty in tax fposs. The model clarifies the accounting for
income taxes, by prescribing a minimum recognittmeshold a tax position is required to meet bebmiag recognized in the financial
statements. It also provides guidance on de-retiognimeasurement, and classification of amouri&ding to uncertain tax positions,
accounting for and disclosure of interest and g&slaccounting in interim periods and disclosueggiired. The Company adopted the FASB
requirements as of January 1, 2007 and determiraddttdid not have a material impact on the Comyfsafinancial position and results of
operations. The Company did not recognize intevepenalties related to income tax during the peended December 31, 2012 and did not
accrue for interest or penalties as of DecembeRB12. The Company does not have an accrual fartain tax positions as of December 31,
2012. Tax returns for all years 2006 and thereaiftersubject to future examination by tax authesiti
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net ¢fiécemporary difference between the carrying anmt®wof assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for in¢armpurposes. The significant components of therded tax assets and liabilities are as
follows (in thousands):

For Years Ended
December 31

2011 2012
Current deferred tax ass
Non-cash stock issu $ 6,74t $ 7,10C
Others 662 1,257
7,407 8,357
Non-current deferred tax asst
Amortization/depreciatio 3,791 3,17¢
Research tax crec 4,32 9,07¢
Net operating loss carry forwar 48,93( 62,06(
Deferred revenu 10,98: 12,14¢
Others (23€) 52C
Total deferred tax ass 75,20: 95,33¢
Non-current deferred tax liabilit — —
Total net deferred tax ass 75,20: 95,33¢
Less valuation allowanc (75,207) (95,339
Net deferred tax ass $ — 3 —

The Company records a valuation allowawncedmporary differences for which it is more like¢han not that the Company will not
receive future tax benefits. At December 31, 2@tH 2012, the Company recorded valuation allowaat8g5.2 million and $95.3 million,
respectively, representing an increase in the tialuallowance of $6.7 million in 2011 and an irese of $20.1 million in 2012, due to the
uncertainty regarding the realization of such defiétax assets, to offset the benefits of net ajperéosses generated during those years.

As of December 31, 2012, the Company hddrtd and state net operating loss carry forwadd3L(s) of approximately $154 million and
$162 million, respectively. The federal carry fordiavill expire in 2028 through 2032. Most of thatst carry forwards generated prior to 2009
began to expire in 2012 and will continue to expim@ugh 2015. The remaining state carry forwandtuding those generated in 2009 througt
2012 will expire in 2029 through 2032 due to a gwim the New Jersey state law regarding the neftadipg loss carry forward period.
Utilization of NOLs may be subject to a substargiahual limitation in the event of an ownershiprapathat has occurred previously or could
occur in the future pursuant to Section 382 oflttternal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, aswslhilar state provisions. An ownership
change may limit the amount of NOLs that can bkzetl annually to offset future taxable income #ard and may, in turn, result in the
expiration of a portion of those carry forwardsdyefutilization. In general, an ownership changedefined by Section 382, results from
transactions that increase the ownership of cestaameholders or public groups in the stock ofa@tion by more than 50 percentage points
over a three year period. The Company completegtaildd study of its NOLs and determined that it2ahere was no ownership change in
excess of 50%; therefore there was no write-dowretaealizable value of the federal
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NOLs and research and development credits sulgjehet382 limitations. A tax benefit of $0.2 miti@ssociated with the exercise of st
options will be recorded in additional paid-in dapivhen the associated net operating loss is rézed.

A reconciliation of the statutory tax ratesl the effective tax rates for the years endezkBer 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012 are as follows

Years Ended
December 31,

2010 2011 2012
Statutory rate (39)% (34)% (39)%
State taxes, net of federal ben (8) (13 3
Permanent adjustmer 51 3 —
R&D credit 4) — (8
Other — 2 1
Valuation allowanct @) 34 38
Net (2% (8)% (6)%

The Company recognized a tax benefit of $illion, $3.6 million and $3.2 million in connéah with the sale of net operating losses an
research and development credits in the New Jdnsmsfer Program for the years ended December®N,2011 and 2012, respectively.

11. Licenses

The Company acquired rights to develop @rmmercialize its product candidates through liesrgranted by various parties. The
following summarizes the Company's material rigirtd obligations under those licenses:

Mt. Sinai School of Medicine of New Yorkvdrsity (MSSM) —The Company acquired exclusive worldwide pategtits to develop and
commercialize migalastat HCI, afegostat tartraid Am2220 and other pharmacological chaperonesfptevention or treatment of human
diseases or clinical conditions by increasing ttteviy of wild-type and mutant enzymes pursuanatiicense agreement with MSSM. In
connection with this agreement, the Company is@32266 shares of common stock to MSSM in April20@ 2006, the Company amended
its license agreement with MSSM to expand its esiekiworldwide patent rights to develop and comnatime pharmacological chaperones
connection with the amendment, the Company paid filllion and issued 133,333 shares of its comntockswith an estimated fair value of
$1.2 million to MSSM. In total, the Company recaidi2.2 million of research and development expé@msennection with the amendment in
2006. This agreement expires upon expiration ofakeof the licensed patent rights, which willibe2019, subject to any patent term exten
that may be granted, or 2024 if the Company dewetoproduct for combination therapy (pharmacoldgibaperone plus ERT) and a patent
issues from the pending application covering coratiom therapy, subject to any patent term externdiahmay be granted. Under this
agreement, to date the Company has paid no ugirarnual license fees and has no milestone orefytayments other than royalties on net
sales. In 2008, the Company amended and restatkckibse agreement with MSSM which consolidateyipus amendments into a single
agreement, clarified the portion of royalties anitestone payments the Company received from cotktim agreements that were payable to
MSSM, and provided the Company with the sole rightontrol the prosecution of patent rights desatiin the amended and restated license
agreement. For
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further information see "— Note 12. CollaboratiogrAements.” Under the terms of the amended anateddicense agreement, the Company
agreed to pay $2.6 million to MSSM in connectionhvithe $50 million upfront payment that the Compeaegeived from a collaboration
agreement in November 2007 and an additional $2l®mfor the sole right to and control over thepecution of patent rights. In accordance
with the Company's license agreement with MSSMQGbmpany paid $3 million of the $30 million upfrguayment received from GSK to
MSSM in December 2010 and $0.35 million of the $RiBion milestone payment received from GSK in Aisg2012, pursuant to the Original
Collaboration Agreement. These payments to MSSMlassified as research and development expensies ompany's financial stateme

University of Maryland, Baltimore County Fhe Company acquired exclusive U.S. patent rightlevelop and commercialize afegostat
tartrate for the treatment of Gaucher disease ft@University of Maryland, Baltimore County. Undbis agreement, the Company paid
upfront and annual license fees of $45 thousanéshwluere expensed as research and developmentsxpEme Company is required to make
a milestone payment upon the demonstration of\safed efficacy of afegostat tartrate for the tresmibof Gaucher disease in a Phase 2 study
and another payment upon receiving FDA approvaafegostat tartrate for the treatment of Gauchezatie. Upon satisfaction of both
milestones, the Company could be required to maki® $0.2 million in aggregate payments. The Corgpamlso required to pay royalties on
net sales. This agreement expires upon expirafitimeedast of the licensed patent rights in 2015.

Novo Nordisk A/S —Fhe Company acquired exclusive patent rights telig and commercialize afegostat tartrate fohathan
indications. Under this agreement, to date the Gompaid $0.4 million in license fees which werp@xsed as research and development
expense. The Company is also required to make tmilegpayments based on clinical progress of afagtatrate, with a payment due after
initiation of a Phase 3 clinical trial for afegastartrate for the treatment of Gaucher diseasa agomayment due upon each filing for regulatory
approval of afegostat tartrate for the treatmer@aticher disease in any of the US, Europe or J&paadditional payment is due upon
approval of afegostat tartrate for the treatmerGaticher disease in the U.S. and a payment islaksaipon each approval of afegostat tartrate
for the treatment of Gaucher disease in either paimy Japan. Assuming successful development gbafat tartrate for the treatment of
Gaucher disease in the U.S., Europe and Japahiridéatone payments would be $7.8 million. The @amy is also required to pay royalties
on net sales. This license will terminate in 2016.

Under its license agreements, if the Compames royalties on net sales for one of its preglta more than one of the above licensors,
then it has the right to reduce the royalties oteedne licensor for royalties paid to another. @heount of royalties to be offset is generally
limited in each license and can vary under eacheagent. For migalastat HCl and AT2220, the Compeitiyowe royalties only to MSSM an
will owe no milestone payments. The Company wouldeet to pay royalties to all three licensors wihpect to afegostat tartrate should the
Company advance it to commercialization.

The Company's rights with respect to thegeements to develop and commercialize migalbkEatafegostat tartrate and AT2220 may
terminate, in whole or in part, if the Companydai meet certain development or commercializats@uirements or if the Company does not
meet its obligations to make royalty payments.
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12. Collaborative Agreements
GSK

On October 28, 2010, the Company enterxdtie Original Collaboration Agreement with Gla&ooup Limited, an affiliate of GSK, to
develop and commercialize migalastat HCIl. Undertéhms of the Original Collaboration Agreement, G®gkeived an exclusive worldwide
license to develop, manufacture and commercialigaiastat HCI. In consideration of the license grétme Company received an upfront,
license payment of $30 million from GSK and wagiblie to receive further payments of approxima&ly 3.5 million upon the successful
achievement of development, regulatory and comrakzation milestones, as well as tiered doubletdimyalties on global sales of migalastat
HCI. Potential payments included up to (i) $13.8iom related to the attainment of certain clinic@velopment objectives and the acceptance
of regulatory filings in select worldwide markefi) $80 million related to market approvals forgalastat HCI in selected territories
throughout the world, and (iii) $80 million assdei@d with the achievement of certain sales thresh@$K and the Company were jointly
funding development costs in accordance with apejupon development plan. Additionally, GSK pusgthapproximately 6.9 million sha
of the Company's common stock at $4.56 per sh&8@%apremium on the average price per share aCtmpany's stock over a 60 day period
preceding the closing date of the transaction. tote value of this equity investment to the Compasas approximately $31 million.

On July 17, 2012, the Company enteredtimoExpanded Collaboration Agreement with GSK pamnstio which the Company and GSK
continue to develop and commercialize migalastak, Ei@rently in Phase 3 development for the treatinoé Fabry disease. The Expanded
Collaboration Agreement amends and replaces gnitisety the Original Collaboration Agreement. Untlee terms of the Expanded
Collaboration Agreement, the Company and GSK vatdevelop all formulations of migalastat HCI fordFa disease, including the
development of migalastat HCI co-formulated withimvestigational enzyme replacement therapy (ERTJabry disease (the "Co-formulated
Product”) in collaboration with another GSK colladimr JCR Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. The Companyagithmercialize all migalastat HCI
products for Fabry disease in the United StatetewbSK will commercialize all such products in tiest of the world.

The exclusive license granted to GSK uttlderOriginal Collaboration Agreement to commereialmigalastat HCI worldwide was
replaced under the Expanded Collaboration Agreemarith grants two exclusive licenses: (i) an esila license from GSK to the Company
to commercialize migalastat HCI in the United Statnd (ii) an exclusive license from the CompanG &K to commercialize migalastat HCI
in the rest of world. Amicus and GSK each haveearise to manufacture migalastat HCI for commemaéibhn of monotherapy and chaperone-
ERT co-administration migalastat HCI products wi@i8K maintains an exclusive license to manufacturdh products for development
purposes (subject to limited exceptions) and toufeniure the Co-formulated Product. In the everd ohange of control in the Company
during the term of the Expanded Collaboration Agrert, GSK has the option to purchase an exclugieade to develop, manufacture and
commercialize migalastat HCI in the United States.

GSK is eligible to receive U.S. regulatapproval milestones totaling $20 million for migstiz HCI monotherapy and migalastat HCI-
ERT co-administration, and additional regulatorpmwal and product launch milestone payments twgalip to $35 million within seven years
following the launch of the Co-formulated Produidhe Company will also be responsible for certaissghrough milestone payments and
single-digit royalties on the net U.S. sales of@weformulated Product that GSK must
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pay to a third party. In addition, the Companyaslonger eligible to receive any milestones or ttoga it would have been eligible to receive
under the Original Collaboration Agreement othemtla $3.5 million clinical development mileston&iaged in the second quarter of 2012
paid by GSK to Amicus in the third quarter of 2012.

The Company and GSK will continue to joirfiind development costs for all formulations ofjalastat HCI in accordance with agreed
upon development plans pursuant to which the Compad GSK funded 25% and 75% of such costs, reispgtfor the monotherapy and
co-administration programs during 2012 and 40%&0%, respectively, in 2013 and beyond. Effectiverupntry into the Expanded
Collaboration Agreement, costs for the developnoétihe Co-formulated Product are also funded 40%6096 between Amicus and GSK,
respectively.

Additionally, simultaneous with entry inttee Expanded Collaboration Agreement, Amicus an @ered into an SPA pursuant to
which GSK purchased approximately 2.9 million skasEAmicus common stock at a price of $6.30 parshThe SPA provides GSK with
customary registration rights for the shares pwetlaand includes a six-month lock-up provision. el purchase price was $18.6 million
and the Company received all proceeds from theddalach shares on July 26, 2012. As of Decembg@12, GSK had a 19.8% ownership
position in the Company as a result of the Origaral Expanded Collaboration Agreements.

Under the Original Collaboration Agreemehg upfront license fee, together with the premieaeived on the stock purchase, was being
recognized as Collaboration Revenue over the @iglavelopment period. In addition, the Company reagiving reimbursements of researct
expenditures under the cost sharing arrangemermtwiias being accounted for as research revenuseastdtement of operations. Under the
Expanded Collaboration Agreement, the Companyaaititinue to receive research expense reimburserfarttee development of migalastat
HCI but may be required to pay contingent milestotweGSK in the future related to the US commentggdts to migalastat HCI.

In accordance with the revenue recognigoidance related to multiple-element arrangeméinésCompany identified all of the
deliverables at the inception of the Expanded ®ollation Agreement. The significant deliverablesengetermined to be the rest of world
licensing rights to migalastat HCI, the researalises to continue and complete the developmentigélastat HCI and the delivery of the
Company's common stock. The Company determinedhbatest of world licensing rights and the reskeae&rvices represent one unit of
accounting as none of these deliverables on itsttagnstandalone value separate from the otherCohgany also determined that the deli
of the Company's common stock does have standabdoe separate from the rest of world licensingtsgand the research services. As a
result, the Company's common stock was considesegarate unit of accounting and was accountedsfan issuance of common stock.
However, as the Company's common stock was s@geemium to the market closing price, the premaimount paid over the market closing
price was determined to be additional consideratid to the Company for the collaboration agredraed was included as consideration for
the single unit of accounting (rest of world licemgrights and research services) identified above.

In evaluating the impact of the Expandedlaboration Agreement, the Company applied the aoting guidance regarding the impact of
potential future payments it may make in its radeaavendor (Amicus) to its customer (GSK) and esi@d if these potential future payments
could be a reduction of revenue from GSK. If théeptial future payments to GSK are:

. a payment for an identifiable benefit, and
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. the identifiable benefit is separable from the gxisrelationship between the Company and GSK, and
. the identifiable benefit can be obtained from ayather than GSK, and
. the Company can reasonably estimate the fairevat the identifiable benefit,

then the potential future payments would be treatgmhrately from the collaboration and researcemes. However, if all these criteria are not
satisfied, then the potential future payments @&téd as a reduction of revenue.

Accordingly, the Company does not beliehag tfor accounting purposes, the new US licensgigs to migalastat HCI obtained from
GSK represent a separate, identifiable benefit fileerlicenses in the Original Collaboration Agreem&he contingent amounts payable to
GSK are not sufficiently separable from GSK's avadilicense and the research and development resaiments such that Amicus could not
have entered into a similar exchange transacti¢im ariother party. Additionally, the Company canmasonably estimate the fair value of the
US licensing rights to migalastat HCI.

The Company determined that the potentiaire payments to GSK would be treated as a remtucfirevenue and that the total amount o
revenue to be received under the arrangementlsnger fixed or determinable as the contingent stilee payments are subject to significant
uncertainty.

As a result, the Company no longer recaggiamy of the upfront license fee and premium eretfuity purchase from GSK until such t
as the arrangement consideration becomes fixedterrdinable, because an indeterminable amount ftiayately be payable back to GSK.
These amounts (the balance of the unrecognizednigitense fee and the premium on the equity mseb) are classified as deferred
reimbursements on the balance sheet.

The recognition of Research Revenue is @ifexted by the determination that the overaliltatrangement consideration is no longer
fixed and determinable, despite the fact that ésearch activities will continue and that the reseaxpense reimbursements by GSK to
Amicus will be received as the research activitedated to the reimbursement would have already beepleted. Therefore any research
reimbursements from GSK are recorded as deferistbuesements on the balance sheet and not recagnit# the total arrangement
consideration becomes fixed and determinable.

As a result, all revenue recognition waspsimded until the total arrangement considerattmoimes fixed and determinable. In addition,
future milestone payments made by the Companybsithpplied against the balance of this deferredbaisements account. Revenue
recognition for research expense reimbursemergsrilginal upfront license fee, and the equity prans will resume once the total
arrangement consideration becomes fixed and detabig which will occur when the balance of the defé reimbursements account is
sufficient to cover all the remaining contingentaatone payments.

Under the Original Collaboration Agreemehg Company evaluated the contingent milestondslatermined that they were substantive
milestones and would be recognized as revenueipghod that the milestone is achieved. The Compatermined that the research based
milestones were commensurate with the enhancee wéleach delivered item as a result of the Compapecific performance to achieve the
milestones. The research based milestones woulel fedated to past performances when achieved areln@asonable relative to the other
payment terms within the
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Original Collaboration Agreement. In June 2012, @wmpany achieved a clinical development milestome recognized $3.5 million of
milestone revenue. Under the terms of the Expa@igldboration Agreement, the Company is no longgitled to receive any milestone
payments from GSK.

Shire

In November 2007, the Company enteredantollaboration agreement with Shire. Under theagrent, the Company and Shire were
jointly developing the Company's three lead phaotagical chaperone compounds for lysosomal stodigmrders: migalastat HCI, afegos
tartrate and AT2220. The Company granted Shireitjints to commercialize these products outsiddtl& and retained all rights to its other
programs and to develop and commercialize migal&kTd afegostat tartrate and AT2220 in the U.S.

The Company received an initial, non-refaivlé license fee payment of $50 million from Shi@int development costs toward global
approval of the three compounds were being shad&D5In addition, the Company was eligible to reeenilestone payments if certain
clinical and regulatory and sales-based milestorere met. The Company was also eligible to recedred double-digit royalties on net sales
of the products marketed outside of the U.S.

In October 2009, the Company and Shireeajte mutually terminate the collaboration agreenug@on concluding that it was in their
respective best interests to no longer collabaratthe development of the Company's three leachpdaslogical chaperone compounds for the
treatment of lysosomal storage disorders. As dtrebthis termination, Amicus reacquired all glbl@velopment and commercialization rig
from Shire for these lead programs. Shire paiddbmpany $5.2 million as full and final payment &onounts due to the Company under the
collaboration agreement, and both parties werevedl of all other future obligations there undirarficial or otherwise.

13. Short-Term Borrowings and Long-Term Debt

In May 2009, the Company entered into a laad security agreement with Silicon Valley BaBkB) that provided for up to $4 million
of equipment financing. (the "2009 Loan AgreemerBdrrowings under the agreement were collaterdliaeequipment purchased with the
proceeds of the loan and carried interest at a@figage of approximately 9%. The 2009 Loan Agreencentained customary terms and
conditions, including a financial covenant wherésy Company maintained a minimum amount of ligyiditeasured at the end of each montt
where unrestricted cash, cash equivalents, andatadole securities, was greater than $20 milliors plutstanding debt due to SVB. At
December 31, 2012, there were no amounts outsiguficim the 2009 Loan Agreement.

In addition, the Company committed to aoselcloan and security agreement with SVB in Au@@sit1 (the "2011 Loan Agreement”) in
order to finance certain capital expenditures grdated to be made by the Company in connection igtimove in March 2012 to new office
and laboratory space in Cranbury, New Jersey. Did 2oan Agreement provides for up to $3 millioregliipment financing through January
2014. Borrowings under the 2011 Loan Agreementallateralized by equipment purchased with the @eds of the loan and bear interest
variable rate of SVB prime + 2.5%. The current SMBne rate is 4.0%. In February 2012, the Compasydwed approximately $1.0 million
from the 2011 Loan Agreement which will be repaigiothe following 2.5 years. The 2011 Loan Agreentamtains the same financial
covenant as the 2009 Loan Agreement. The Companwthall times been in compliance with these contnduring the term of both
agreements.
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At December 31, 2012, the total amountuher the 2011 Loan Agreement was $0.7 million. @dmeying amount of the Company's
borrowings approximates fair value at December2812.

The remaining future minimum payments dsi@faDecember 31, 2012 are as follows (in thousands

Years ending December &

2013 $ 39¢
2014 29¢
2015 —

Total principal obligatior 697
Less sho-term portion (399)
Long-term portion $ 29¢

14. Subsequent Events

The Company evaluated events that occlsubdequent to December 31, 2012 and there wereaterial recognized or non-recognized
subsequent events during this period.

15. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited —in thousands except per share data)

Quarters Ended
March 31 June 30 September 3C December 31

2011
Net loss (13,350 (12,64 (9,759 (8,667)
Basic and diluted net loss per common shal

@ (0.39) (0.37) (0.26) (0.25)
2012
Net loss (13,137) (9,349 (16,290 (10,01%
Basic and diluted net loss per common shal

@ (0.35) (0.20) (0.39) (0.20

(1) Per common share amounts for the quarters angidatls have been calculated separately. Accordinglgrterly amoun
do not add to the annual amounts because of diifeszon the weighted-average common shares outggeshating each
period principally due to the effect of the Compasguing shares of its common stock during the.y
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ltem 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.
None.

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation wf principal executive officer and principal finaalcofficer, evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of Decenthe2@®.2. The term "disclosure controls and prooesitias defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, means controls amer grocedures of a company that are designedstoreithat information required to
disclosed by us in the reports that we file or sitlumder the Exchange Act is recorded, processadnsarized and reported within the time
periods specified in the SEC rules and forms. B=ale controls and procedures include, withouttéition, controls and procedures designed
to ensure that information required to be discldsgd company in the reports that it files or susminder the Exchange Act is accumulated
and communicated to the company's managementdinglits principal executive and principal finarlaifficers, as appropriate to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Mpament recognizes that any controls and proceduwanatter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable assuranaehadving their objectives and management necéssaplies its judgment in evaluating the
cost-benefit relationship of possible controls anotcedures. Based on the evaluation of our disptosontrols and procedures as of
December 31, 2011, our principal executive off@ed principal financial officer concluded that,cdsuch date, our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective at the reasonable asstawvel.

There have been no changes in our intewratols over financial reporting during the foudrarter of the year ended December 31, 201
that have materially affected, or are reasonakbjyito materially affect, our internal controlsesfinancial reporting.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Finangal Reporting

The information required by this sectioniethincludes the "Management's Report on Consddi&inancial Statements and Internal
Control over Financial Reporting" and the "Repdrinalependent Registered Public Accounting Firng'iacorporated by reference from
"ltem 8. Financial Statements and SupplementaraDat

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.
None.
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PART IlI

Certain information required by Part Illamitted from this Annual Report on Form 10-K asintend to file our definitive proxy
statement for our 2013 annual meeting of stockhe|grursuant to Regulation 14A of the SecuritiesHaxge Act, not later than 120 days aftel
the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annughp&t on Form 10-K, and certain information to belided in the proxy statement is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT ANDCORPORATE GOVERNANCE.
The information required by this item isdnporated by reference from the Proxy Statemedéuthe caption "Executive Officers."

In 2007, we adopted a Code of BusinesscEtind Conduct for Employees, Executive Officeid Rirectors that applies to our
employees, officers and directors and incorporatdeiines designed to deter wrongdoing and to ptertite honest and ethical conduct and
compliance with applicable laws and regulationsaddition, the code of ethics incorporates our glings pertaining to topics such as conflicts
of interest and workplace behavior. We have positedext of our code on our websitenatw.amicusrx.corin connection with
"Investors/Corporate Governance" materials. Intaigiwe intend to promptly disclose (1) the natof@any amendment to our code of ethics
that applies to our principal executive officeringipal financial officer, principal accounting @fér or controller, or persons performing sim
functions and (2) the nature of any waiver, inahgdan implicit waiver, from provision of our codéathics that is granted to one of these
specified officers, the name of such person whyrasited the waiver and the date the waiver on @losite in the future.

ltem 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

The information required by this item isanporated by reference from the Proxy Statemedéuthe caption "Executive
Compensation — Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS ANDMANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS.

The information required by this item isdnporated by reference from the Proxy Statemedéuthe captions "Security Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Relateckholder Matters™" and "Equity CompensatiomPidormation.”

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS ANDDIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.

The information required by this item isdnporated by reference from the Proxy Statemedéuthe captions "Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions," "Director Independence, Mi@uttee Compensation and Meetings of the Boardigddiors," and "Compensation
Committee Interlock and Insider Participation.”

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.

The information required by this item isdamporated by reference from the Proxy Statemedéuthe caption "Ratification of Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm."
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PART IV
ltem 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE
€) 1. Consolidated Financial Statements
The Consolidated Financial Statementsiteé &s part of this report.
2. Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules are omitted because they are noinegtjor because the required information is inctlisiethe Consolidated Financial Statement:
or notes thereto.

3. Exhibits
Incorporated by Reference to SEC Filing
Exhibit Filed with this
No. Filed Exhibit Description Form Date Exhibit No. Form 10-K
3.1 Restated Certificate of Form 10K  2/28/12 3.1
Incorporation of the Registrant.  Annual
Report
3.2 Restated By-laws of the S-1/A 4/27/07 3.4
Registrant. (333-
141700)
4.1 Specimen Stock Certificate S-1(333-  3/30/07 4.1
evidencing shares of common  141700)
stock
4.2 Third Amended and Restated  S-1(333-  3/30/07 4.2

Investor Rights Agreement, dated141700)
as of September 13, 2006, as

amendec
4.5 Form of Warran Form &K 2/25/10 4.1
10.1 2002 Equity Incentive Plan, as  S-1/A 427107 10.1
amended, and forms of option  (333-
agreements thereunc 141700)
+10.2 Amended and Restated License Form 10K  2/6/09 10.2

Agreement, dated October, 31,
2008, by and between the
Registrant and Mount Sinai
School of Medicine of New York
University

+10.2 License Agreement, dated as of S-1(333-  3/30/07 10.¢
June 26, 2003, by and between 141700)
Registrant and University of
Maryland, Baltimore County, as
amende

+10.2 Exclusive License Agreement, S-1(333-  3/30/07 10.£
dated as of June 8, 2005, by and 141700)
between the Registrant and Novo
Nordisk, A/S
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Exhibit Incorporated by Reference to SEC Filing Filed with this
No. Filed Exhibit Description Form Date Exhibit No. Form 10-K
10.€ Letter Agreement, dated as of  S-1 (333- 3/30/07 10.1¢
December 19, 2005, by and 141700)
between the Registrant and David
Lockhart, Ph.D
10.7 Form of Director and Officer S-1(333- 3/30/07 10.13
Indemnification Agreemer 141700)
10.¢ Restricted Stock Agreement, dz S-1/A 4/27/07 10.2]
as of March 8, 2007, by and (333-
between the Registrant and 141700)
Glenn P. Sblendori
10.€¢ Lease Agreement, dated as of S-1/A 4/27/07 10.2:
July 31, 2006, by and between th€333-
Registrant and Cedar 141700)
Brook Il Corporate Center, L.|
10.1C Amended and Restated 2007  Form 8-K  6/18/10 10.z
Director Option Plan and form of Current
option agreemer Report
10.11 2007 Employee Stock Purchase S-1/A 5/17/07 10.2¢
Plan (333-
141700)
10.1: Lease Agreement dated as of Form 8-K  9/15/08 10.1
September 11, 2008 by and
between the Registrant and A/G
Touchstone, TP, LLC
+10.1¢ First Amendment to lease dated Form 10-K  2/28/12 10.1¢
April 15, 2011 by and between 1
Registrant and AG Touchstone,
TP, LLC
10.1¢ Letter Agreement, dated as of  Form 8-K  12/31/0¢ 10.¢
December 30, 2008, by and
between the Registrant and David
Lockhart, Ph.D
10.1¢ Letter Agreement, dated as of Form 10-K  2/6/09 10.2¢
December 30, 2008, by and
between the Registrant and
Bradley L. Campbel
10.1¢ Letter Agreement, dated as of  Form 10-K  2/6/09 10.2¢
December 30, 2008, by and
between the Registrant and
S. Nicole Schaeffe
10.17 Letter Agreement, dated as of Form 10-K  2/6/09 10.2¢

December 30, 2008, by and
between the Registrant and
John R. Kirk
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Exhibit
No.

Incorporated by Reference to SEC Filing

Filed Exhibit Description Form Date

Exhibit No.

Filed with this
Form 10-K

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.2(

+10.2]

+10.2%

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.25

10.2¢

Letter Agreement, dated Form 10-K 2/6/09
as of December 30, 20(

by and between the

Registrant and Geoffrey

P. Gilmore

Summary Management Form 10-Q 5/8/09
Bonus Progran

First Amendment to Form 10-Q 8/6/09
Lease Agreement dated

June 11, 2009 between

the Registrant and Cedar

Brook 5 Corporate

Center, L.P

License and Form 10-K 3/4/11
Collaboration Agreemeil

dated as of October 28,

2010 by and between the

Registrant and Glaxo

Group Limited

Stock Purchase Form 10-K 3/4/11
Agreement dated as of

October 28, 2010 by and

between the Registrant

and Glaxo Group

Limited

Letter Agreement, dated Form 10-K 3/4/11
as of May 10, 2010 by

and between the

Registrant and Ken

Valenzanc

Letter Agreement, dated Form 10-K 3/4/11
as of January 3, 2011 by

and between the

Registrant and Kenneth

Peist

Letter Agreement, dated Form 10-K 3/4/11
as of January 3, 2011 by

and between the

Registrant and Enrique

Dilone

Letter Agreement dated Form 8-K 4/18/11
April 18, 2011 between

the Registrant. and

Matthew R. Pattersc

Restricted Stock Award Form 8-K 4/18/11
Agreement dated

April 18, 2011 between

the Registrant and

Matthew R. Pattersc

Amicus Form 8-K 5/25/11
Therapeutics, Inc. 2007

Amended and Restated

Equity Incentive Plal

10.31

10.1

10.1

10.3(

10.31

10.3Z

10.3¢

10.3¢

10.1

10.Z

10.1
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Exhibit
No.

Filed Exhibit Description

Incorporated by Reference to SEC Filing

Form

Date

Exhibit No.

Filed with this
Form 10-K

10.2¢

10.3(

10.31

+10.32

+10.3:

23.1

31.1

31.2

32.1

32.2

Employment Agreemen
dated as of June 28,
2011, by and between t
Registrant and John F.
Crowley

Lease Agreement dated
August 16, 2011 betwe:
the Registrant and Cedar
Brook 3 Corporate
Center, L.P

Letter Agreement dated
March 5, 2012 between
the Registrant and
William D. Baird, IlI

Amended and Restated
License and Expanded
Collaboration Agreemei!
dated as of July 17, 2012
by and between the
Registrant and Glaxo
Group Limited

Stock Purchase
Agreement dated as of
July 17, 2012 by and
between the Registrant
and Glaxo Group
Limited

Consent of Independent
Registered Public
Accounting Firm.

Certification of Principal
Executive Officer
Pursuant to Rule 13a-14
(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 193¢

Certification of Principal
Financial Officer
Pursuant to Rule 13a-14
(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 193¢

Certificate of Principal
Executive Officer
pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350 and
Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

Certificate of Principal
Financial Officer
pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350 and
Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

Form 8-K

Form 8-K

Form 8-K

Form 10-Q

Form 10-Q

6/30/11

8/16/11

4/16/12

11/5/12

11/5/12

10.1

10.1

10.1

10.1

10.1



++101.IN¢ XBRL Instance
Document

-118-




Table of Contents
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Exhibit Filed with this
No. Filed Exhibit Description Form Date Exhibit No. Form 10-K
++101.SCt XBRL Schema
Document
++101.CAL XBRL Calculation
Linkbase Documer
++101.DEF XBRL Extension
Definition Linkbase
Document
++101.LAB XBRL Label Linkbase
Document
++101.PRI XBRL Extension
Presentation Linkbase
Document
+ Confidential treated has been granted as to ceptaitions of the document, which portions have baitted and filed

separately with the Securities and Exchange Conioniss

++ The XBRL information is being furnished and nogdlifor purposes of Section 18 of the SecuritieshBrge Act of 193¢
as amended, and is not incorporated by referenoeity registration statement under the Secut@f 1933, as
amended
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of SectioorlB5 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1984, registrant has duly caused this report to b
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatp authorized on March 12, 2013.

AMICUS THERAPEUTICS, INC.
(Registrant

By: /s John F. Crowley

John F. Crowley
Chief Executive Office

Pursuant to the requirements of the Seeariixchange Act of 1934, this Report has beeresi¢pelow by the following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities and ord#tes indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s John F. Crowley Chairman and Chief Executive Officer March 12, 2013

(Principal Executive Officer)
(John F. Crowley

/s/ William D. Baird 1l Chief Financial Officer March 12, 2013
(Principal Financial Officer)

(William D. Baird IlI)

/s Daphne Quimi Corporate Controller March 12, 2013
(Principal Accounting Officer)

(Daphne Quimi’

/s/  Sol J. Barer, Ph.D. Director March 12, 2013

(Sol J. Barer, Ph.D

/s/ James Barrett Director March 12, 2013

(James Barret

/s/ Robert Essner Director March 12, 2013

(Robert Essnel

/s Donald J. Hayden Director March 12, 2013

(Donald J. Hayder
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Signature

/s] Ted W. Love, M.D.

(Ted W. Love, M.D.]

/sl Margaret G. McGlynn, R.F

(Margaret G. McGlynn, R.Ph

/s/ Michael G. Raab

(Michael G. Raab

/s/  Glenn Sblendorio

(Glenn Shlendorio

/sl James N. Topper, M.D.,
Ph.D.

(James N. Topper, M.D., Ph.L

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Title
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Exhibit Filed with this
No. Filed Exhibit Description Form Date Exhibit No. Form 10-K

3.1 Restated Certificate of Form 10-K 2/28/12 3.1
Incorporation of the
Registrant

3.2 Restated By-laws of the S-1/A (333-141700)  4/27/07 3.4
Registrant

4.1 Specimen Stock S-1(333-141700) 3/30/07 41

Certificate evidencing
shares of common sto
4.z Third Amended and S-1(333-141700) 3/30/07 4,
Restated Investor Rights
Agreement, dated as of
September 13, 2006, as

[¢6]

amendec
4.2 Form of Warran Form &K 2/25/10 4.1
10.1 2002 Equity Incentive  S-1/A (333-141700)  4/27/07 10.1

Plan, as amended, and
forms of option
agreements thereunc
+10.2 Amended and Restated Form 10-K 2/6/09 10.2
License Agreement,
dated October, 31, 2008,
by and between the
Registrant and Mount
Sinai School of Medicin
of New York University
+10.2 License Agreement, S-1(333-141700) 3/30/07 10.¢
dated as of June 26,
2003, by and between t
Registrant and Universi
of Maryland, Baltimore
County, as amende
+10.¢ Exclusive License S-1(333-141700) 3/30/07 10.t
Agreement, dated as of
June 8, 2005, by and
between the Registrant
and Novo Nordisk, A/¢
10.E Sublease Agreement,  S-1 (333-141700) 3/30/07 10.€
dated as of May 12,
2005, by and between t
Registrant and Purdue
Pharma, L.P
10.€ Letter Agreement, dated S-1 (333-141700) 3/30/07 10.1¢
as of December 19, 20(
by and between the
Registrant and David
Lockhart, Ph.D
10.7 Form of Director and S-1(333-141700) 3/30/07 10.15
Officer Indemnification
Agreemen
10.¢ Restricted Stock S-1/A (333-141700)  4/27/07 10.21
Agreement, dated as of
March 8, 2007, by and
between the Registrant
and Glenn P. Sblendor
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Form Date

Exhibit No.

Filed with this
Form 10-K

10.€

10.1(

10.11

10.1Z

+10.1:

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.13

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.2(

Lease Agreement, dated
as of July 31, 2006, by
and between the
Registrant and Cedar
Brook Il Corporate
Center, L.P

Amended and Restated
2007 Director Option
Plan and form of option
agreemen

2007 Employee Stock
Purchase Pla

Lease Agreement dated
as of September 11, 20
by and between the
Registrant and A/G
Touchstone, TP, LLC
First Amendment to lea
dated April 15, 2011 by
and between the
Registrant and AG
Touchstone, TP, LLC
Pharmaceuticals
Ireland, Ltd.

Letter Agreement, dated
as of December 30, 20(
by and between the
Registrant and David
Lockhart, Ph.D

Letter Agreement, dated
as of December 30, 20(
by and between the
Registrant and Bradley
L. Campbell

Letter Agreement, dated
as of December 30, 20(
by and between the
Registrant and S. Nicole
Schaeffel

Letter Agreement, dated
as of December 30, 20(
by and between the
Registrant and John R.
Kirk

Letter Agreement, dated
as of December 30, 20(
by and between the
Registrant and Geoffrey
P. Gilmore

Summary Management
Bonus Progran

First Amendment to
Lease Agreement dated
June 11, 2009 between
the Registrant and Cedar
Brook 5 Corporate
Center, L.P

S-1/A (333-141700)

Form 8-K
Current Report

6/8/10
5/17/07
S-1/A (333-141700)

Form 8-K
Current Report

9/15/08

Form 10-K 2/28/12

Form 8-K
Current Report

12/31/0¢

Form 10-K 2/6/09

Form 10-K 2/6/09

Form 10-K 2/6/09

Form 10-K 2/6/09

Form 10-Q 5/8/09

Form 10-Q 8/6/09
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Form 10-K

+10.21

+10.22

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.23

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.3(

10.3(

License and

Form 10-K 3/4/11

10.3(

Collaboration Agreemei!
dated as of October 28,
2010 by and between the
Registrant and Glaxo
Group Limited

Stock Purchase
Agreement dated as of
October 28, 2010 by and
between the Registrant
and Glaxo Group

Limited

Letter Agreement, dated Form 10-K
as of May 10, 2010 by

and between the

Registrant and Ken

Valenzanc

Letter Agreement, dated Form 10-K
as of January 3, 2011 by

and between the

Registrant and Kenneth

Peist

Letter Agreement, dated Form 10-K
as of January 3, 2011 by

and between the

Registrant and Enrique

Dilone

Letter Agreement, dated Form 8-K
as of April 18, 2011,
between the Registrant
and Matthew R.
Pattersor

Restricted Stock Award
Agreement dated as of
April 18, 2011, between
the Registrant and
Matthew R. Pattersc
Amicus

Therapeutics, Inc. 2007
Amended and Restated
Equity Incentive Plai
Employment Agreemen
dated as of June 28,
2011, by and between t
Registrant and John F.
Crowley

Lease Agreement, dated Form 8-K
as of August 16, 2011,

between the Registrant

and Cedar Brook 3

Corporate Center, L.I

Letter Agreement dated Form 8-K
March 5, 2012 between

the Registrant and

William D. Baird, IlI

Form 10-K

Form 8-K

Form 8-K

Form 8-K
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+10.3! Amended and Restated Form 10-Q 11/5/12 10.1

License and Expanded
Collaboration Agreemei
dated as of July 17, 2012
by and between the
Registrant and Glaxo
Group Limited
+10.3: Stock Purchase Form 10-Q 11/5/12 10.2
Agreement dated as of
July 17, 2012 by and
between the Registrant
and Glaxo Group
Limited
23.1 Consent of Independent X
Registered Public
Accounting Firm,
31.1 Certification of Principal X
Executive Officer
Pursuant to Rule 13a-14
(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 193¢
31.Z2 Certification of Principal X
Financial Officer
Pursuant to Rule 13a-14
(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 193¢
32.1 Certificate of Principal X
Executive Officer
pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350 and
Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.
32.2 Certificate of Principal X
Financial Officer
pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350 and
Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.
++101.INS XBRL Instance
Document
++101.SCt XBRL Schema
Document
++101.CAL XBRL Calculation
Linkbase Documer
++101.DEF XBRL Extension
Definition Linkbase
Document
++101.LAB XBRL Label Linkbase
Document
++101.PRI XBRL Extension
Presentation Linkbase
Document

+ Confidential treated has been granted as to ceptaitions of the document, which portions have bamitted and filed
separately with the Securities and Exchange Conioniss

++ The XBRL information is being furnished and noedlifor purposes of Section 18 of the SecuritieshBrge Act of 193¢
as amended, and is not incorporated by referenceity registration statement under the Secut@of 1933, as
amended
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EXHIBIT 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by refeecincthe Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 383305) pertaining to the: 1) Amicus
Therapeutics, Inc. 2002 Equity Incentive Plan, aseAded, 2) Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. 2007 Equitgihtive Plan, 3) Amicus
Therapeutics, Inc. 2007 Director Option Plan, 4)iéus Therapeutics, Inc. 2007 Employee Stock PueRdan, in the Registration Statement
(Form S-8 No. 333-157219) pertaining to the: 1) Amsi Therapeutics, Inc. Amended and Restated 200ifyHqgcentive Plan and 2) Amicus
Therapeutics, Inc. 2007 Director Option Plan, ia Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-1749e@gining to the: 1) Amicus
Therapeutics, Inc. Amended and Restated 2007 Etnggntive Plan and 2) Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.efided and Restated 2007 Director
Option Plan, in the Registration Statement (Forf$s. 333-185307), in the Registration Statemeatr(FS-3 No. 333-184531) and in the
Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-17164&uofreports dated March 12, 2013 with respedh¢ocbnsolidated financial statements of
Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. and the effectivenedatefnal control over financial reporting of Amictliberapeutics, Inc. included in the Annual
Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended Decembe2812.

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLP

MetroPark, New Jersey
March 12, 2013
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
CERTIFICATION BY PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

[, John F. Crowley, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report omi&0-K of Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report dagontain any untrue statement of a materialdacmit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts.under which such statements were made, niatadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financiakesteents, and other financial information includedtiis report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying offigg and | are responsible for establishing anchiaaiing disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls andeglures, or caused such disclosure controls ammégures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhsibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durihg period in which this annual report is being preg;

b. designed such internal control overrfitial reporting, or caused such internal contr@rdinancial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the teaiss disclosure controls and procedures andpted in this report our conclusions at
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such evaluation;
and

d. disclosed in this report any changénaregistrant's internal control over financialogjng that occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofisttal quarter in the case of an annual repod tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reporting;

5. The registrant's other certifying offi® and | have disclosed, based on our most resattiation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thetamnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and matewaaknesses in the design or operation of intesaatrol over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regrg's ability to record, process, summarize apdrt financial information; and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, thablves management or other employees who haignificant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 12, 2013

/s/ JOHN F. CROWLEY

John F. Crowley
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic
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EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
CERTIFICATION BY PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

[, William D. Baird lll, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report omi60-K of Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report dagontain any untrue statement of a materialdacmit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts.under which such statements were made, niatadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financiakesteents, and other financial information includedtiis report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying offig and | are responsible for establishing anchiaaiing disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls andeglures, or caused such disclosure controls ammggures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durihg period in which this annual report is being preg;

b. designed such internal control overrfitial reporting, or caused such internal contr@rdinancial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the teaiss disclosure controls and procedures andpted in this report our conclusions at
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such evaluation;
and

d. disclosed in this report any changénaregistrant's internal control over financialogjng that occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofisttal quarter in the case of an annual repod tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reporting;

5. The registrant's other certifying offi® and | have disclosed, based on our most resattiation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thetamnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and matewaaknesses in the design or operation of intesaatrol over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regrg's ability to record, process, summarize apdrt financial information; and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, thablves management or other employees who haignificant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 12, 2013

/s/ William D. Baird Il

William D. Baird 1l
Chief Financial Office
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EXHIBIT 32.1

Certification by the Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-G§t Act of 2002

Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350,hnJe. Crowley, hereby certify that, to the bestryfknowledge, Amicus Therapeutics Inc., (the
"Company") Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yeaded December 31, 2012 (the "Report"), as filgtl thie Securities and Exchange
Commission on March 12, 2013, fully complies witle requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended, and that the information containeldarReport fairly presents, in all material respétts financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

/sl John F. Crowley

John F. Crowley
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
March 12, 201
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EXHIBIT 32.2

Certification by the Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-G§t Act of 2002

Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, ljigvn D. Baird Ill, hereby certify that, to the bexf my knowledge, the Amicus
Therapeutics Inc. (the "Company") Annual ReporFonm 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012"@sport"), as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 123 2odly complies with the requirements of Secti@(a) or Section 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, atdth information contained in the Report fairtggents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations & ompany.

/sl WILLIAM D. BAIRD llI

William D. Baird Il
Chief Financial Officer
March 12, 201
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